A Functional Study of the Major Histocompatibility Class I Antigen Presentation Pathway in Rainbow Trout

(Oncorhynchus mykiss)

by

Lital Sever

A thesis presented to the University of Waterloo in fulfillment of the thesis requirement for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Biology

Waterloo, Ontario, Canada, 2014

© Lital Sever 2014

I hereby declare that I am the sole author of this thesis. This is a true copy of the thesis, including any required final revisions, as accepted by my examiners.

I understand that my thesis may be made electronically available to the public.

Abstract

Major Histocompatibility Complex (MHC) class I receptors are glycoproteins which play a critical role in anti-viral immunity by displaying foreign peptides to cytotoxic T cell lymphocytes. The loading of high affinity peptides into the MHC class I receptor in mammals is coordinated by a multiple proteins that are collectively referred to as the peptide loading complex (PLC). To date, the composition of the peptide loading complex in fish is unknown and therefore the characterization of the molecules which may exist in this putative complex was pursued.

This thesis includes the cloning and functional characterization of ERp57 and calnexin in rainbow trout which, in mammals, are known to interact with the MHC class I receptor either during its early biogenesis or later in the assembly of the PLC. Trout ERp57 and calnexin cDNA sequences are ubiquitously expressed in trout tissues and both the ERp57 and calnexin genes appear in at least two copies each in the trout genome. Interestingly, despite their high sequence identity with their mammalian homologues, some structural discrepancies were identified. ERp57 does not contain an endoplasmic reticulum (ER) retention signal or a nuclear localization signal, while one of the two isolated cDNA clones for calnexin does not contain an ER (endoplasmic reticulum) retention signal and lacks a conserved C-terminal serine phosphorylation site. These findings suggest that in trout, there may be unique versions of these proteins that have acquired different cellular functions. Through the production of polyclonal antibodies against trout ERp57, the conserved protein induction of ERp57 during ER stress was demonstrated concurrently with calnexin.

In addition, this study shows for the first time that ERp57 can be induced transcriptionally by phytohemagglutinin and synthetic double stranded RNA, which implies its possible regulatory role during viral infection and the activation of the immune response. Furthermore, the functional characterization of the MHC class I specific chaperone tapasin, a key element in the PLC of mammals was pursued. Tissue and cell line distribution revealed that tapasin is expressed in high levels in immune system organs and in the rainbow trout macrophage cell line RTS11, at a relative molecular weight of 48 kDa with an additional 20 kDa band detected by the tapasin antibody. Tapasin protein was significantly up regulated upon exposure to synthetic double stranded RNA and during infection with two fish viruses: chum salmon virus and viral hemorrhagic septicemia virus genotype IVa, whereas the expression of the 20 kDa band was not affected by these stimuli.

This study also examined the regulation of the MH class I heavy chain, $\beta 2$ microglobulin and their associated machinery upon exposure to viral hemorrhagic septicemia virus genotype IVa at permissive and non-permissive temperatures. $\beta 2$ microglobulin secretion into the cell media, a marker of MH class I receptor turnover, was detected in the conditioned media of RTS11 cells under normal conditions and was shown to be significantly enhanced during viral hemorrhagic septicemia virus genotype IVa infection. Furthermore, when RTS11 cells were maintained at cold temperatures, the secretion of $\beta 2$ microglobulin was significantly reduced in both infected and non-infected cultures, while the cellular levels of $\beta 2$ microglobulin remained unchanged. These results suggest that cold temperature can alter the expression of the MH class I molecule on the cell surface and therefore may be contributing to host susceptibility to viral hemorrhagic septicemia virus genotype IVa during the winter.

Lastly, Co-immunoprecipitation demonstrated the interaction of the lectin chaperones: calnexin and calreticulin with the glycosylated MH class I receptor supporting their conserved role during MH class I receptor folding in fish. Concurrently, tapasin's interaction with transporter associated with antigen processing (TAP) and with the glycosylated form of the MH class I was revealed for the first time in fish, which supports their role in antigen presentation as in mammals. This study demonstrated that ERp57 and tapasin form a conserved disulfide linked heterodimer of 110 kDa, however unlike mammals, an additional 75 kDa heterodimer was detected which suggests a possible novel interaction of ERp57 with a 20 kDa tapasin version alternately regulating antigen presentation in fish.

Overall, this study suggest that the interactions involved in antigen presentation in mammals are conserved in fish, however the presence of different protein versions of calnexin, ERp57 and tapasin might dictate a different mode of regulation for MH class I assembly in fish, as opposed to mammals. Elucidating these interactions during various viral infections in fish can help to uncover possible viral strategies to manipulate the host immune response and will provide information needed to assist in designing novel tools to prevent fish viral diseases.

Acknowledgements

I would like to warmly thank my supervisor Dr. Brian Dixon which continuously supported me through the years of my study. You gave me lots of scientific skills and passion for immunology that I will always be grateful for.

I would like to thank Dr. Niels Bols, you were my unofficial co-supervisor, I appreciate all the help and guidance you gave me. Your love for research will always be remembered.

I would like to thank my committee members, Dr. John Heikkila and Dr. Bruce Reed.

Thank you Dr. Stephen Kales for your past work in the lab that made my project possible and thank you Dr. David Williams for your precious "complex" advices.

Thank you, members of the Dixon, Bols and Heikkila labs for your friendship and support.

Thank you Beth Culp for your hard work in the past two summers.

A special thank you goes to the greatest "culturing all" person that I have ever known, Nguyen. I will always be grateful for having the gold opportunity to work with you, you are one of a kind.

I would like to thank my parents who always believed in me and finally I would like to thank Noam, Yotam, Neta and Amit which gave me a sea of love and care throughout my degree.

Dedication

This is dedicated to my parents Hadassa and Refael Barda which I enormously love.

Table of Contents

Li	xiv xiv				
Li	List of Figures xv				
Li	List of Abbreviations xviii				
1	General Introduction				
	1.1	The MHC class I complex	1		
		1.1.1 The MHC proteins	2		
		1.1.2 Antigen processing	3		
		1.1.3 Antigen delivery	4		
	1.2	MHC class I peptide loading complex	5		
		1.2.1 Calnexin and calreticulin	7		
		1.2.2 ERp57	8		
		1.2.3 Tapasin	9		
	1.3	Viruses interference in the PLC	10		
	1.4	MHC in fish	10		
	1.5	Regulation of the MHC during viral infection	11		
	1.6	Goals of this work	12		
2	The	cloning and inducible expression of the rainbow trout ERp57 gene.	14		
	2.1	Introduction	14		

2.2	Materi	al and methods	15			
	2.2.1	Fish	15			
	2.2.2	Cloning of rainbow trout ERp57 cDNA	16			
	2.2.3	Generation of full length cDNA using RACE	16			
	2.2.4	Southern blot analysis	17			
	2.2.5	Phylogenetic tree construction and sequence analysis	18			
	2.2.6	Construction of ERp57 expression vector	19			
	2.2.7	Protein production and purification	19			
	2.2.8	Production of polyclonal antibodies	20			
	2.2.9	Rainbow trout cell lines	20			
	2.2.10	Tissue collection of rainbow trout	20			
	2.2.11	Northern blot analysis	21			
	2.2.12	Western blot analysis	21			
	2.2.13	Induction of ERp57 in rainbow trout in vivo	22			
	2.2.14	Induction of ERp57 in rainbow trout cells <i>in vitro</i>	22			
	2.2.15	Statistical analysis	23			
2.3	Result	Results				
	2.3.1	Trout ERp57 clone isolation and sequencing	24			
	2.3.2	ERp57 gene copy number	28			
	2.3.3	ERp57 transcript expression and protein levels in rainbow tissues and cell lines	29			
	2.3.4	Induction of ERp57 in rainbow trout in vivo	31			
	2.3.5	Induction of ERp57 in rainbow trout RTS11 cells in vitro	31			
2.4	Discus	sion	35			
	2.4.1	Rainbow trout ERp57 gene and protein	35			
	2.4.2	Induction of ERp57 expression in rainbow tissues and RTS11 cell line	36			
2.5	Summ	ary	37			

3	The	clonir	ng and characterization of trout calnexin gene	39
	3.1	Introd	uction \ldots	39
	3.2	Materi	ials and methods	40
		3.2.1	Fish	40
		3.2.2	Rainbow trout cell lines	41
		3.2.3	Cloning of rainbow trout calnexin cDNA	41
		3.2.4	Southern blot analysis	43
		3.2.5	Northern blotting analysis	43
		3.2.6	Phylogenetic tree construction	43
		3.2.7	Sequence analysis	44
		3.2.8	Western blot analysis	44
		3.2.9	Isolation of peripheral blood leukocytes	45
		3.2.10	Immunofluorescence	45
	3.3	Result	S	46
		3.3.1	Sequence analysis	46
		3.3.2	Phylogenetic analysis	49
		3.3.3	Trout calnexin gene copy number	50
		3.3.4	Calnexin tissue expression	51
		3.3.5	Calnexin protein levels under normal and induced ER stress conditions	52
		3.3.6	Calnexin localization in RTS11 cells	53
	3.4	Discu	ssion	55
4	Tap vira	asin p l mimi	rotein distribution in rainbow trout and its regulation during ic and viral infection	5 58
	4.1	Introd	uction	58
	4.2	Materi	ials and methods	59
		4.2.1	Fish	59
		4.2.2	Cell Lines	60

		4.2.3	Production of polyclonal antibodies and affinity purification \ldots	61				
		4.2.4	Deglycosylation	61				
		4.2.5	Western blot	62				
		4.2.6	Reverse transcription and PCR	62				
		4.2.7	Northern blot	63				
		4.2.8	Statistical analysis	63				
	4.3	Result	58	63				
		4.3.1	Tapasin protein levels in cell lines and tissues under normal conditions	63				
		4.3.2	Tapasin transcriptional expression	64				
		4.3.3	N-glycosylation of Tapasin	65				
		4.3.4	Tapsasin protein levels upon immunostimulation and viral infection	66				
	4.4	Discus	ssion	71				
		4.4.1	Tapasin protein levels under naive conditions	71				
		4.4.2	Tapasin transcript distribution in trout	71				
		4.4.3	Tapasin protein expression following dsRNA stimulation and CSVinfection	72				
5	Induction of MH class I and accessory proteins by viral haemorrhagic							
J	sept	ticaem	ia virus	74				
	5.1	Introd	luction	74				
	5.2	Mater	ials and methods	76				
		5.2.1	Fish and VHSV IVb infection trial	76				
		5.2.2	Fish Cell Lines	76				
		5.2.3	Propagation of VHSV	77				
		5.2.4	Infection of RTS11 cells with viruses	77				
		5.2.5	In vitro stimulation with poly I:C	77				
		5.2.6	Western blot	77				
		5.2.7	Reverse transcription and PCR	78				

		5.2.8	Northern blot	78
		5.2.9	Detection of $\beta 2$ microglobulin accumulation in conditioned media $% \beta 2$.	79
		5.2.10	Immunocytochemistry	79
		5.2.11	Statistical analysis	80
	5.3	Result	s	80
		5.3.1	Expression of MH class I and associated chaperones in poly IC stimulated RTS11	80
		5.3.2	Expression of MH class I and associated chaperones in VHSV IVa simulated RTS11 at 14 degrees	81
		5.3.3	MH class I surface expression in VHSV IVa infected RTS11 at 14 degrees	86
		5.3.4	$\beta 2 \mathrm{m}$ secretion into conditioned media of VHSV IVa infected RTS11	87
		5.3.5	MH class I expression in VHSV IVa infected RTS11 at 2 degrees	89
	5.4	Discus	sion	90
		5.4.1	Induction of the MH class I but not ERp57 and calreticulin proteins by poly I:C	90
		5.4.2	Induction of the MH class I during VHSV IVa infection but not ERp57 and calreticulin proteins	91
		5.4.3	Extracellular secretion of $\beta 2m$ during VHSV IVa infection \ldots .	92
		5.4.4	Protein levels of the MH class I and $\beta 2m$ during infection with VHSV IVa at 14 degrees and 2 degrees	93
		5.4.5	Summary	93
6	The	teleos	t peptide loading complex	95
	6.1	Introd	uction	95
	6.2	Materi	ial and methods	96
		6.2.1	Fish Cell Lines	96
		6.2.2	VHSV IVa propagation and Infection of RTS11 cells for immunopre- cipiation	97

		6.2.3	Immunoprecipiation	97
		6.2.4	Western blotting	98
	6.3	Result	S	98
		6.3.1	Tapasin associates with the MH class I under normal and viral in- duced conditions	98
		6.3.2	TAP association with tapasin and MH class I under normal and viral infecting conditions	100
		6.3.3	Calnexin association with the MH class I and ERp57 \ldots	101
		6.3.4	Tapasin association with ERp57	102
		6.3.5	Tapasin protein expression in trout reproductive cell lines	103
	6.4	Discus	ssion	104
		6.4.1	Interaction of tapasin with the MH class I	104
		6.4.2	Tapasin association with TAP	107
		6.4.3	Tapasin association with ERp57	107
		6.4.4	Calnexin and calreticulin association with the MH class I $\hfill \ldots$.	107
		6.4.5	Summary	108
7	Dis	cussion	and future aims	109
	7.1	ERp57	7	109
		7.1.1	Functional charectrization	109
		7.1.2	Possible interaction in the PLC	110
	7.2	Calner	xin	111
		7.2.1	Functional charectrization	111
		7.2.2	Interaction with the MH class I $\ .$	112
	7.3	Tapasi	in	112
		7.3.1	Tapasin inducible expression	112
		7.3.2	Tapasin protein interactions	113
		7.3.3	A possible truncated version of tapasin	114

7.4	7.4 β 2m and MH class I expression during viral infection		115
	7.4.1	β 2m secretion	115
	7.4.2	Expression of the MH class I during dsRNA stimulation \ldots	115
7.4.3 Temperature dependent regulation of MH class I expression durin VHSV infection		116	
	7.4.4	The peptide loading complex	117
7.5	Summ	ary	118
Refere	References 12		

List of Tables

2.1	ERp57 nucleotide sequences obtained from the GeneBank database	18
2.2	Primers sequences for reverse transcription.	23
3.1	Calnexin nucleotide sequences obtained from the Gene Bank database	44
4.1	Primers sequences for reverse transcription	62
4.2	Primers for tapasin cDNA probes	63
5.1	Primers sequences for reverse transcription	78

List of Figures

1.1.1 The MHC class I and class II receptors function is to present antigenic	
peptides to T cell lymphocyte	3
1.2.1 The peptide-loading complex (PLC)	5
1.2.2 The MHC class I assembly in the endoplamic reticulum	6
2.3.1 Sequence alignment of trout ERp57 with known proteins sequences $\ . \ . \ .$	26
2.3.2 ERp57 phylogenetic tree	27
2.3.3 Southern blot of trout ERp57	28
2.3.4 Transcript and protein distribution of ERp57 in trout under normal conditions	30
2.3.5 Transcriptional upregulation of ERp57 by phytohemagglutinin \ldots	31
2.3.6 Upregulation of ERp57 transcript levels in RTS11 cell line following poly I:C treatment	32
2.3.7 ERp57 transcriptional upregulation in RTS11 cell line upon induction with A23187	33
2.3.8 Induction of ERp57 protein levels in RTS11 cell line following treatment with A23187	34
$3.3.1{\rm Sequence}$ alignment of trout calnex in with known nucleotide sequences $~$.	47
$3.3.2{\rm Sequence}$ alignment of trout calnex in with known nucleotide sequences $~$	48
3.3.3 Phylogenetic analysis of known calreticulin nucleotide sequences	49
3.3.4 Southern blot analysis of trout calnexin	50
3.3.5 Calnexin transcripts distribution in trout tissues under non stimulating con- ditions	51

3.3.6 Upregulation of calnexin mRNA in RTS11 cells following treatment with calcium ionophore A23187	5
3.3.7 Calnexin protein distribution in rainbow trout cell lines under non stimu- lating conditions and during <i>in vitro</i> stimulation with A23187	5
3.3.8 Localization of calnexin, ERp57 and calreticulin in RTS11 cells	5
4.3.1 Western blot detection of tapasin protein in rainbow trout cell lines and tissues under non stimulating conditions	6
4.3.2 Northern blot showing the tissue distribution of trout tapasin transcript under naive conditions in rainbow trout	6
4.3.3 Western blot analysis of tapasin protein in RTS11 following de-glycosylation	6
4.3.4 Tapasin transcript and protein levels in RTS11 cell line after <i>in vitro</i> induc- tion with poly I:C	6
4.3.5 MH class I protein levels in RTS11 after 48h of <i>in vitro</i> induction with poly I:C in RTS11 cells	6
4.3.6 Tapasin protein levels and transcript expression in RTS11 infected with chum salmon virus	6
4.3.7 MH class I protein levels in RTS11 infected with chum salmon virus	7
5.3.1 Protein levels of the MH class I machinery after <i>in vitro</i> induction with poly I:C in RTS11 cells	8
5.3.2 Western blot analysis showing protein levels of MH class I, MH class II β and β 2m in RTS11 cells during VHSV IVa infection at 14 degrees	8
5.3.3 Western blot analysis showing protein levels of MH class I heavy chain and $\beta 2m$ in gill tissue upon <i>in vivo</i> infection with VHSV IVb	8
5.3.4 Western blot analysis showing protein levels of ERp57, calreticulin and tapasin in RTS11 during VHSV IVa infection	8
5.3.5 RT PCR analysis of MH class $\beta 2m$, tapasin expression in RTS11 after three days of infection with VHSV IVa	8
5.3.6 Northern blot analysis of tapasin expression upon <i>in vivo</i> infection of rain- bow trout with VHSV IVb	8

5.3.7 Immunofluorescence detection of MH class I heavy chain on the cell surface of RTS11 after seven days of infection with VHSV IVa at 14 degrees	86
5.3.8 Western blot analysis showing protein levels of $\beta 2m$ in conditioned media and in whole cell lysates of control and VHSV IVa infected cells $\ldots \ldots$	88
5.3.9 Western blot analysis showing protein levels in whole cell lysates of MH class I heavy chain, β 2m and tapasin in RTS11 upon infection for 9 days with VHSV IVa at 14 or 2 degrees	89
5.3.10Western blot analysis showing $\beta 2m$ secretion in RTS11 upon infection for 9 days with VHSV IVa at 14°C or 2°C	90
6.3.1 Detection of the interaction between MH class I heavy chain with tapasin by co-immunprecipitation	99
6.3.2 Detection of tapasin and MH class I association in long-term fin leukocyte- like cells	100
6.3.3 Detection of the interaction between tapasin and TAP in RTS11 cells by co-immunoprecipitation	101
6.3.4 Detection of the interaction between the of calnexin and calreticulin with the MH class I heavy chain protein in RTS11 cell line by co-IP	102
6.3.5 Detection of a possible ERp57/tapas in disulfide linked heterodimer $\ .$	103
6.3.6 Tapasin protein distribution in rainbow trout cell lines under non-stimulated conditions	104
6.4.1 A proposed model for the possible role of the 20 kDa protein in the MH class I assembly during viral infections	106
7.4.1 Proposed model for the PLC in fish	118

List of Abbreviations

aa	Amino acids
ABC	ATP binding cassette
APC	Antigen presenting cell
$eta \mathbf{2m}$	$\beta 2$ microglobulin
cDNA	Complementary DNA
\mathbf{CSV}	Chum salmon virus
\mathbf{CTL}	Cytotoxic T lymphocyte
Cys	Cysteine
DIG	Digoxigenin
dNTP	deoxynucleotide triphosphate
dsRNA	Double stranded RNA
DRiP	Defective ribosomal products
EndoH	Endoglycosidase H
EPC	Epithelioma carp papulosum cell line
ER	Endoplamic reticulum
ERAAP	ER aminopeptidases
ERSE	ER response elements
FBS	Fetal bovine serum
GAS	Interferon γ activated sequence
Gls	glucosidase
HC	Heavy chain
HCMV	Human cytomegalovirus
HSV	Herpes simplex virus
IFN	Interferon
Ig	Immunoglobulin
IHNV	infectious hematopoietic virus
IP	immunoprecipitation
IRF	Interferon regulatory factor
ISAV	Infectious salmon anemia virus
ISG	Interferon stimulating gene

JAK	Janus activated kinase
kDa	KiloDalton
L-15	Leibovitzs media
LMP	Low molecular weight polypeptide
MH	Major histocompatibility
MHC	Major histocompatibility complex
MMTS	Methyl methanethiosulfonate
mRNA	Messenger RNA
NBD	Nucleotide binding domain
NLS	Nuclear localization signal
PBL	Peripheral blood leukocytes
PBR	Peptide binding region
P.I.	Post infection
RACE	Rapid Amplification of cDNA Ends
TAP	Transporter associated with antigen processing
TAPBP	Tapasin binding protein
Th	T-helper
TLR	Toll like receptor
TRX	Thioredoxin
TMD	Transmembrane domain
UGT	UDP-glucose transferase
PBL	Peripheral blood leukocytes
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PDI	protein disulphide isomerase
PHA	Phytohaemagglutinin
PLC	Peptide loading complex
Poly IC	Polyinosinic-polycytidylic acid
PRR	Pattern recognition receptor
Rig	Retinoic acid-inducible gene
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
RT–PCR	Reverse transcription-PCR
RTS11	Rainbow trout spleen macrophage-like cell line
RTG-2	Rainbow trout gonadal fibroblast-like cell line
\mathbf{SSC}	Saline sodium citrate

SSH	Suppressive subtractive hybridization
STAT	Single transducer and activator of transcription
$\mathbf{TGF}eta$	Transforming growth factor β
TRX	Thioredoxin
VHSV	Viral hemorrhagic septicemia virus
VSV	Vesicular stomatitis virus

Chapter 1

General Introduction

The overall goal of this thesis is to explore the mechanisms involved in major histocompatibility (MH) class I antigen presentation in fish. This process loads peptides into specialized grooves in the major histocompatibility receptors. Although sequence similarity, tissue distribution and polymorphism suggest that these molecules function similarly to those in mammals, little is known about the functional role of MHC receptors during disease in fish. Elucidating the mechanisms carrying out antigen presentation in fish can help to understand the fish immune system and can be used in aquaculture for vaccine design, selective breeding and disease protection.

1.1 The MHC class I complex

The human major histocompatibility complex (MHC) is a large genetic complex on chromosome 6 which spans over four million base pairs and includes over 220 identified genes [1]. The human MHC genes are clustered in distinct linked regions: class I, class II, and class III. Within the class I region reside the MHC class I genes and additional non-immune related genes, whereas the class II region encodes the MHC class II class II α and β genes along with with numerous genes associated with antigen processing. The class III region consists of genes encoding both non-immune and immune related genes such as complement proteins, inflammatory cytokines and heat shock proteins. Remarkably, the MHC gene cluster has been isolated in all jawed vertebrae including birds, frogs and sharks which appear to be the earliest group of vertebrae to acquire both the both the MHC class I and II genes [2]. The first evidence for the functional role of the MHC came from studies done in the early 1930s by Peter Gorer which linked tumour graft rejection in mice with transplantation antigens which were later referred by George Snell as the histocompatibility (H) genes and were mapped in mice to the region named the H2 locus [3]. The human MHC genes were found a decade later by Jean Dausset and were referred to as human leukocyte antigen (HLA) genes. The "artificial role" of the MHC during transplant rejection led the way for their discovery, however the natural role of the MHC was revealed in the 1970s in studies conducted with inbred mice and guinea pigs which demonstrated that the immune response against foreign antigens is genetically controlled by the MHC genes [4, 5]. After a few decades of intensive research it has now been demonstrated that the MHC class I and class II play an important role during the immune response by presenting foreign peptides to T cells, however the source of the peptides and the intracellular route in which they are acquired is mostly unique to each class of MHC proteins.

1.1.1 The MHC proteins

MHC class I receptors are expressed on the cell surface of all nucleated cells and classically present peptide fragments of intracellular origin (e.g. viral peptides) to cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTL) which are also referred as CD8+ cells [6]. In contrast to the wide distribution of MHC class I receptors, MHC class II receptors are expressed only on antigen presenting cells (APC) such as B lymphocytes, dendritic cells and macrophages and mainly display peptides derived from extracellular origin (e.g. bacterial peptides) to T helper lymphocytes (Th), also referred as CD4+ cells [7].

Both MHC class I and class II receptors are non-covalent heterodimers: The MHC class I protein is composed of a polymorphic heavy chain (HC) associated with a soluble light chain $\beta 2$ microglobulin ($\beta 2$ m) encoded by a non-MHC linked gene. This association is necessary for the proper folding, delivery and surface stability of the MHC class I molecule with the bound peptide [8]. The MHC class II protein, on the other hand, comprises two chains the α and β both of which are encoded within the MHC class II region [9]. In contrast to $\beta 2$ m, both the MHC class I heavy chain and the MHC class II chains contain a transmembrane domain and a short cytoplasmic tail (Figure 1.1.1). The extracellular region of the heavy chain is folded into three extracellular domains $\alpha 1$, $\alpha 2$ and $\alpha 3$, however, only the $\alpha 1$ and the $\alpha 2$ makes up the the peptide binding region (PBR) located in the distal part of the receptor, which carry the polymorphic signature of the MHC molecule [10]. In contrast, MHC class II chains α and β are each folded into two distinct domains



Figure 1.1.1: The MHC class I and class II receptors function is to present antigenic peptides to T cell lymphocyte.

The $\alpha 1$ and $\alpha 2$ domains of the MHC class I molecule comprise the peptide binding region (PBR) which binds mainly to intracellular peptides and presents them on the cell surface for cytotoxic T cell lymphocytes (CD8+), whereas the $\alpha 1$ and $\beta 1$ domains of the MHC class II molecule comprise the PBR which binds to extracellular peptides which are displayed on the cell surface for binding by helper T cell lymphocytes (CD4+). The PBR region is indicated by a dashed circle.

 $\alpha 1 \ \alpha 2 \ \text{and} \ \beta 1, \ \beta 2 \ \text{respectively} [9].$ Both the $\alpha 2 \ \text{and} \ \beta 2 \ \text{are adjacent to the membrane}, whereas the <math>\alpha 1 \ \text{and} \ \beta 1 \ \text{fold together to form the peptide-binding groove} [3].$

The crystal structure of the MHC proteins revealed three dimensional structure of the peptide binding region composed of two α helical regions forming its sides and eight β sheet strands constituting the platform [11, 12, 13]. The peptides that bind to the MHC class I groove are mostly 8-10 amino acids long and are anchored to the PBR at both C and N termini of the peptide. In contrast, the peptide binding to the MHC class II protein is not as constrained, allowing the binding of longer peptides of 13 to 20 amino acids long that can extend outside the ends of the PBR. Importantly, amino acid substitutions within the peptide binding region of both MHC class I and class II proteins are the main determinants of peptide specificity, allowing MHC alleles to bind a diverse pool of peptides and therefore facilitating better protection against a wide range of pathogens [3].

1.1.2 Antigen processing

The loading of the MHC class I receptor with a peptide takes place in the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) and requires a supply of peptides from the cytosol which need to be deliv-

ered into the lumen of the ER. Peptides are generated in the cytosol by the proteasome, a cylindrical 20S core structure composed of four heptameric rings. The external rings are composed of α subunits (α 1- α 7) and form the entry gates, whereas the inner rings contain the β subunits (β 1- β 7) that comprise the active sites: β 1, β 2 and β 5. In response to induction by interferon, these catalytic subunits can be substituted to form a the immunoproteasome by the proteins LMP2 (low molecular mass polypeptide 2), LMP7 and MECL-1 [14]. The immunoproteasome alters the peptide repertoire by enhancing cleavage after hydrophobic or basic amino acids residues and preventing the cleavage after acidic amino acids. This type of cleavage results in peptides with a carboxy terminus that is more suitable for the delivery to and binding of MHC class I [14].

As opposed to the proteasomal cleavage of proteins, another important and rapid source of peptide supply is from defective ribosomal products (DRiPs) which are proteins derived from defective transcription or translation products that comprise between 30% to 70% of the cellular protein pool. These aberrant protein products are instantly sent for degradation by the proteasome and therefore provide a quick supply of antigenic peptides. The generation of DRiPs can be advantageous during viral infection allowing rapid presentation of foreign peptides to T lymphocytes which can then kill the infected cells shortly after viral proteins are produced in the cytosol [15]. Most of the peptides produced by the proteasome are either too long or too short (3-22 amino acid long) to accommodate the MHC class I binding groove. However, ER aminopeptidases (ERAAP) can further cleave the N terminal end of the peptides, allowing them to fit the peptide binding groove [16].

1.1.3 Antigen delivery

The peptide supply from the cytosol is transported into the lumen of the ER by a special ATP dependent heterodimer named the Transporter Associated with Antigen Processing (TAP) which in mammals is encoded by two genes in the MHC class II region closely linked to LMP2 and LMP7 genes. The TAP is a member of the ATP binding cassette (ABC) family of transporters which contains two N terminal transmembrane domains (TMD) forming the translocation pore and two cytoplasmic nucleotide binding domains (NBD). The peptides that bind TAP can vary in length between 8-40 residues, however peptides of 8-16 amino acids with hydrophobic and basic C terminal residues are preferred both for binding and transport. The delivery of peptides into the ER lumen from the cytosol is executed by cycles of ATP binding and hydrolysis, which is linked to conformational changes in the TMD domains [17]. Evidence for the important role of TAP during antigen

presentation came from studies using TAP deficient mice that displayed poor levels of MHC class I on the cell surface and failed to present endogenous peptides to cytotoxic T cell lymphocytes [18] indicating that peptide binding is a requirement for MHC class I expression on the cell surface.

1.2 MHC class I peptide loading complex

Once the peptides reach the ER they are destined to bind a wide variety of MHC alleles each with a different binding affinity, therefore a specialized pathway has evolved in the ER that ensures the proper folding of the MHC class I receptor with the correct high affinity peptide [19]. In humans, the newly synthesized class I heavy chain associates initially with ER lectin chaperone calnexin that spans the ER membrane. When class I heavy chain assembles with β 2m, calnexin is displaced by its soluble homologue calreticulin which together with additional protein components such as the chaperone tapasin, the protein disulfide isomerase ERp57 and the heterodimer TAP, makes up the PLC which facilitates the optimal folding requirements of the MHC class I molecule and the loading of high affinity peptides. [6, 8] (Figure 1.2.1, Figure 1.2.2).



Figure 1.2.1: The peptide-loading complex (PLC).

In humans, the peptide loading ensures the proper folding of the MHC class I molecule with high affinity peptides before its export to the cell surface. The PLC consists of TAP, the MHC class I heterodimer, calreticulin, tapasin conjugated to ERp57 and the antigenic peptide.



Figure 1.2.2: The MHC class I assembly in the endoplamic reticulum.

During early folding of the MH class I heavy chain, the lectin chaperone calnexin will bind to the glycosylated MHC class I heavy chain. Upon assembly with $\beta 2m$, calnexin will be released and substituted by calreticulin to bind the MHC class I- $\beta 2m$ and to ERp57 conjugated to tapas to form the PLC. The peptides are derived from native protein or from DRiPs which are degraded by the proteasome and translocated into the ER lumen by TAP where they can undergo further trimming by ERAAP. If the cell is presenting endogenous foreign peptide, it will be destroyed by CD8+ cells. Adapted from [20].

1.2.1 Calnexin and calreticulin

Calnexin (IP90/P88) is a 90 kDa ER integral protein which binds to monoglucosylated N-linked glycans. It is an evolutionarily conserved protein that shares functional and structural domains with calreticulin, its soluble homologue [21]. Both calnexin and calreticulin share a conserved region referred as the P domain that contains two proline rich motifs repeated three times each in calreticulin and four times each in calnexin [22, 23]. The N terminal domain of calnexin and calreticulin contains the lectin binding site that mediates binding to a single glucose residue present on N-linked glycan intermediates, generated by the competing enzymatic action of glucosidase I/II (GlsI/GlsII) and UDP-glucose transferase 1 (UGT-1), which trims and restores the glucose respectively until the glycoprotein reaches optimal folding. Calnexin and calreticulin can also bind non-glycosylated proteins and possess polypeptide binding properties which can prevent aggregate formation of both glycosylated and non-glycosylated proteins [24, 25].

Apart from their established role as molecular chaperones, calnexin and calreticulin have also been shown to play a role in cellular calcium homeostasis by binding calcium in the ER [26]. Another interesting role of calreticulin was demonstrated recently which showed that calreticulin encoded by *Trypanosoma carassii* can evade the immune response by bind host complement C1q and inhibits classical complement pathway-mediated lysis [27].

One of the well investigated functions of calnexin, which also contributed to its initial identification, is its association with MHC class I receptor [28, 29]. In mice, calnexin has been shown to bind the heavy chain- β 2m heterodimer in the ER, however in humans this interaction could not be identified and only association with the class I heavy chain has been observed [8, 6]. The functional significance of calnexin's interaction with MHC class I has been controversial. On one hand, it was demonstrated using a *Drosophila melanogaster* cell line that co-expression of calnexin can enhance the folding efficiency of mouse MHC class I heavy chain with β 2m. In addition, by using ER glucosidase inhibitors, which prevent calnexin from interacting with its substrates, MHC class I surface expression was reduced. These finding supported the important functional contribution of calnexin to the biogenesis and surface expression of the MHC class I [23]. However, other experiments using human calnexin deficient cell lines showed that calnexin is not absolutely required for class I folding, peptide loading, export and surface expression which suggested that in human cells additional ER chaperones can replace calnexin when its expression is impaired [30].

1.2.2 ERp57

ERp57 (also known as GRP58, PDIA3, ERp60) is a soluble member of protein disulfide isomerase family which resides mainly in the endoplasmic reticulum [31]. ERp57's function is to assist with protein folding in the ER through the formation, breakage and rearrangement of disulfide bonds. In contrast to other PDI family members, ERp57 assists exclusively with glycosylated protein folding by interacting with calnexin and calreticulin [32, 33, 34]. ERp57 contains four well conserved thioredoxin-like domains named a, b, b' a' with the and a' containing the CXXC catalytic motifs responsible for the protein redox activity. The N-terminal cysteine of the active site forms a covalent mixed disulfide bond with its substrates, whereas the C-terminal cysteine of the active site attacks the disulfide bond, facilitating the escape pathway which releases ERp57 from bonds with its substrates [35].

The function of ERp57 was studied extensively due to its role during the assembly of the class I heavy chain and for its role in the peptide loading complex. In the early biogenesis of the heavy chain, ERp57 is recruited by calnexin to catalyze disulfide bond formation within the heavy chain, whereas during the later stages of MHC class I assembly, ERp57 enters the peptide loading complex where it is exclusively conjugated to another ER chaperone, tapasin. Importantly, unlike other ERp57 substrates, the tapasin-ERp57 interaction is further maintained by non-covalent bonds which supports the heterodimer stability [36, 37]. The ERp57– tapasin covalent interaction is mediated by a disulfide bond that requires the N-terminal Trx domain of ERp57 and is formed by the conserved Cys57 of ERp57 and Cys95 of tapasin [38, 39]. Depending on the cell type, this interaction sequesters 15–80% of the total ERp57 pool and also allows the entry of tapasin to the PLC only when it is conjugated to ERp57 [6]. The important role of ERp57 tapasin conjugate in the peptide loading complex was revealed through mutagenesis studies that showed mutation of cysteine 95 of tapasin not only abolishes the recruitment of ERp57 to the peptide loading complex but also impairs the full oxidation of the class I heavy chain that results in poorly stabilized MHC class I on the cell surface [40]. Further support for the critical role of ERp57 during MHC class I assembly came from studies using a B cell line deficient in ERp57. In these cells, the surface expression of the MHC class I was decreased and the normal turnover of the MHC class I was accelerated [41].

1.2.3 Tapasin

Tapasin is a 48 kDa protein encoded by a gene linked to the MHC class II region. It is a member of the immunoglobulin (Ig) super family that contains an immunoglobulin constant domain, a transmembrane domain and a cytoplasmic domain with ER retrieval sequence [42]. Like other antigen presentation genes such as TAP and the LMPs, tapasin expression is induced by interferons (IFNs) [43]. Importantly, unlike other chaperones that associate with many proteins during their folding in the ER, tapasin is solely dedicated to the MHC class I assembly process [8]. Co-immunoprecipitation studies have demonstrated that tapasin is part of the PLC. Since the independent association of tapasin with the class I and TAP was observed in the absence of TAP and class I respectively, it was suggested that tapasin forms a structural bridge between TAP and the remaining peptide loading components [44]. Mutagenesis studies revealed that there are at least two sites of interaction of tapasin with the class I heavy chain mediated through a primary interaction of the N terminal domain of tapasin with the $\alpha 2$ domain of the class I heavy chain [45, 46] with a secondary interaction between the membrane proximal immunoglobulin domain of tapasin with the $\alpha 3$ domain of the heavy chain [47].

The binding of tapasin to TAP on the other hand involves the interaction between the C-terminal transmembrane domain of tapasin with the N-terminal transmembrane domain of TAP [48]. The essential function of this protein was elucidated using a human B cell line deficient in tapasin and knockout mice which exhibited reduced levels of MHC class I and impaired CTL response. This phenotype could be restored upon transfection of a full length tapasin gene, which demonstrated the direct contribution of tapasin to the knockout phenotype [42]. One of the first proposed functions of tapasin came from its direct binding to TAP which suggested its role in stabilizing TAP, increasing the peptide flow to the ER and in improving the peptide loading by recruiting the MHC class I molecule to TAP. However, these modes of action were brought into question when a soluble version of tapasin that could bind the MHC class I but could not bind TAP successfully rescued antigen presentation in cells lacking tapasin expression [49]. Other studies focused on the role of tapasin in quality control and suggested that tapasin plays a role in retaining unstable MHC class I in the ER [50]. Importantly, perhaps the most fascinating and attractive function of tapasin that has been investigated so far is its role as a peptide editor, responsible for optimizing the selection of peptides over time by displacement of peptides with low binding affinity from the peptide binding groove in favour of high affinity ones [8, 51].

1.3 Viruses interference in the PLC

The important role of the peptide loading complex during viral infection is supported by the presence of immune evasion proteins encoded by viruses which target molecules in the peptide loading complex to escape from the consequences of the immune response. This viral strategy results in decreased cell surface levels of MHC class I carrying viral peptides or reduced flow of peptides into the ER both of which ultimately impair recognition of viral peptides by CD8+ T cell lymphocytes [52]. For example ICP47 encoded by herpes simplex virus type 1 (HSV-1) was shown to prevent peptide transport into the ER by blocking the TAP peptide binding site or by destabilizing TAP [53, 54]. Another viral protein which has been shown to target TAP in a different manner is the US6 transmembrane glycoprotein encoded by the human cytomegalovirus (HCMV). This protein was shown to inhibit ATP binding to TAP preventing the translocation of peptides into the ER [55, 56]. Another molecule in the complex that is targeted by viruses is tapasin. E19 is an adenovirus ER protein which has been shown to abolish the interaction between the MHC and tapasin and therefore impair the entry of the MHC class I into the peptide loading complex [57]. Interestingly, this effect was only observed in MHC class I alleles which were dependent on tapasin binding, as a few other MHC class I alleles could reach the cell surface with no interruption [58]. Another protein which interferes with tapasin function in the complex is US3, an ER glycoprotein encoded by the HCMV, which binds to tapasin and is suggested to interfere with its peptide editing function [59].

1.4 MHC in fish

The first genomic MHC fragments in fish were isolated in carp in 1990 [60] and since then the isolation of both MHC class I and class II sequences in many other jawed fish species including sharks was successfully pursued [61, 62, 63, 64, 65]. In trout and salmon a classical class I heavy chain gene is believed to be encoded by one major polymorphic locus named UBA [66], however other loci have been described [67]. Shortly after the identification of the MHC class I heavy chain, the isolation of β 2m genes was successfully pursued[68, 69]. In rainbow trout, β 2m is encoded by three linked genes of which only two are expressed [70]. Similar to the MHC genes in mammals, fish MHC are polymorphic [71, 72, 73, 74] and expression of these molecules in fish tissues as well as in cell lines mostly follow the same expression profiles [75, 76, 77, 78, 79]. In addition, certain MHC alleles have been correlated with increased disease resistance [80] as has been seen in other vertebrates [81, 82]. Interestingly, genomic linkage studies revealed a surprising organization in which the fish MHC regions I, II and III do not reside on the same chromosome and hence do not from a complex, therefore they are referred to as Major histocampatibility genes (MH) [83, 84]. The proteasomal subunits: LMP2, LMP7, TAP and tapasin (TAPBP.A) were found to be linked to the class Ia locus in contrast to their close linkage to the class II region in mammals [85, 86, 76]. Despite these genomic discrepancies, the fish MHC proteins most likely function in a similar manner to mammalian homologues considering their sequence similarity, expression pattern and polymorphism.

Evidence for the possible function of the MHC emerged from studies using mixed leukocyte reaction and graft rejection in several fish species, which hinted on their possible role in differentiating between self and non-self-antigens [87, 88, 89]. Evidence supporting the notion that antigen processing and trafficking to the cell surface does exist in fish came from a study which showed that membranes from channel catfish APC pulsed with an exogenous antigen, were able to generate proliferation of peripheral blood leukocytes derived from the same fish. These finding also hinted on the possible presentation of the surface antigen by MHC [90]. More direct evidence for the functional similarity between mammalian and fish MHC was obtained as soon as specific antibodies were generated which could demonstrate cell surface association between MHC class I heavy chain with $\beta 2m$ in catfish B cells [91].

1.5 Regulation of the MHC during viral infection

The transcription of the MHC class I and genes associated with antigen presentation is enhanced during viral infection by the action of interferon (IFN), which plays a major role in antiviral immunity. Interferon belongs to a family of cytokines that in mammals is divided into three classes: type I IFNs (IFN α/β), type II IFN (IFN γ and type III IFNs (including IFN $\lambda 1/2/3$). The interferon response is triggered by double stranded RNA (dsRNA) generated by most viruses during their replication cycle which is bound by pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) such as Toll-like receptors (TLRs) and retinoic acid-inducible gene I (RIG-I) like receptors [92].

Binding of the interferons both on non-immune and immune system cells initiates a signalling cascade that involves Jak (Janus activated kinase) and STAT (single transducer and activator of transcription) proteins mediating the transcriptional activation of many interferon stimulated genes (ISG) [93, 94] such as the MHC class I pathway genes.

The isolation of fish interferon genes has been successful in several fish species [95, 96, 97]. Studies in salmonids have shown the induction of the mRNAs of the MHC class I pathway genes, which includes the MH class I HC, $\beta 2m$, TAP, tapasin and the inducible proteasome subunits LMP2 and LMP7 during *in vivo* infection with infectious hematopoietic virus (IHNV) and during *in vitro* infection with infectious salmon anemia virus (ISAV). Promoter analysis of these genes indicated a putative interferon regulatory factor (IRF) binding site and a IFN γ binding site (GAS) supporting their transcriptional activation by the interferon response [98, 99]. In contrast to mammals, fish are poikilothermic that need to adjust constantly to temperature fluctuations in their environment which can alter their physiology as well as their immune response. Importantly, a study using a murine cell line maintained at low temperature $(26^{\circ}C)$ showed that the MHC class I molecules can reach the cell surface, however they lack peptides and therefore fail to elicit cytotoxic T cell responses at this temperature [100]. A subsequent study performed in carp maintained at the low end of their permissive temperature range ($6^{\circ}C$) showed that expression of the MHC class I molecule in peripheral blood leukocytes is completely abrogated at this temperature. However when fish returned to a more moderate temperature of 12° C, normal levels of MHC class I expression on the cell surface returned [187]. Another study examined the effect of cold temperature on the cellular expression of β^2 m in salmonid fish and showed that at 12° C the cellular and cell surface levels of this protein are maintained [101]. However, no studies have been conducted so far in fish to determine the influence of cold temperature on the expression of the MHC class I during viral infection.

1.6 Goals of this work

The overall goal of this work is to better understand the fish immune system by characterizing the mechanisms involved in antigen presentation in fish. The core of this study is to identify the peptide loading complex in fish, using rainbow trout as our model species. Five proteins are investigated in this study: ERp57, tapasin, calnexin, class I heavy chain and $\beta 2m$, which are known to be part of the PLC in mammals.

First, trout ERp57 and calnexin full length sequences are identified and characterized. Then the regulation of tapasin, class I heavy chain and $\beta 2ms$ investigated in RTS11 cells upon exposure to immune stimulation and during *in vitro* infection at cold temperatures with two fish viruses: chum salmon virus (CSV) and viral hemorrhagic septicemia virus (VHSV IVa). Secretion of $\beta 2m$ into the media of cell cultures was used as a proxy for MH class I turnover and the effect of viral infection at various temperatures on this process was investigated. Subsequently, the putative interactions of the characterized proteins with the MH class I heavy chain was studied using *in vitro* infection with VHSV as a stimulus.

Chapter 2

The cloning and inducible expression of the rainbow trout ERp57 gene.

2.1 Introduction

ERp57 (also known as ER-60/GRP58/PDIA3) is a member of a protein disulfide isomerase family [31]. This protein is located mainly in the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) and has an important role in the correct folding of newly synthesized glycoproteins by mediating the formation of disulfide bonds. This role is carried out through a non-covalent interaction of ERp57 with the ER lectin binding chaperones calnexin and calreticulin, which bind to monoglucosylated oligosaccharides as part of the quality control machinery in the endoplasmic reticulum. ERp57 is also called GRP58 (Glucose regulated protein 58) due to its increased expression levels after glucose depletion [31]. ERp57 protein sequences are highly conserved in vertebrates, invertebrates and in plants which suggests conserved and important biological roles for this molecule. ERp57 contains four thioredoxin (TRX) like domains a,b,b' and a' with two redox CXXC motifs, one in each of the a and the a' domains [34].

One characteristic function of ERp57 is in the assembly of the major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I in the ER. Early in the biogenesis of the MHC class I heavy chain, ERp57 associates with calnexin and catalyzes the formation of disulfide bonds in the heavy chain thereby facilitating the interaction of the heavy chain with the soluble $\beta 2$ microglobulin [6, 38, 39]. In addition, ERp57 was found to be a part of the peptide loading complex which is composed of several unique functional proteins such as TAP, tapasin, calreticulin and β^2 microglobulin. The covalent and stable association of ERp57 with tapasin seems to help stabilize the peptide loading complex [36]. ERp57 gene knockouts are embryonic lethal at 13.5 days post coitus in mice. Interestingly, deletion of the ERp57 gene in B cells of mice results in normal B cell development [41]. Nevertheless, ERp57 deficient B cells show reduced expression levels of MHC class I on the cell surface and decreased antigen presentation, indicating that ERp57 contributes both qualitatively and quantitatively to MHC class I antigen presentation *in vivo*. Work with both mammals and fish suggests additional roles for ERp57. Despite its ER retention signal, mammalian ERp57 can be found in many cellular locations such as the cell surface, nucleus and cytosol [102], suggesting additional cellular functions. For example, ERp57 is expressed on the surface of the sperm heads where it appears to assist in sperm-egg fusion [103] and participates in the STAT3 signal transduction pathway in human hepatoma cells [104].

In the case of fish much less is known. However, the ERp57 gene has been cloned from the atlantic salmon liver and been shown to change expression after different stresses, leading to the suggestion that it acts as a key link between oxidative and ER stress pathways [105]. To date no studies on the role of ERp57 in teleost fish have been conducted because, while there are some sequences in databases, the gene has not been studied in any detail. Given its role in antigen presentation, understanding the features and function of ERp57 in teleost fish will be important for understanding how teleost fish carry out that process and will perhaps allow the design of fish specific vaccines that better exploit that process. In order to further characterize the ERp57 gene in teleosts and to begin exploring its roles in the immune system, a full length cDNA clone was isolated from rainbow trout, our model species, and analyzed in terms of its tissue distribution as well as its expression pattern under *in vivo* and *in vitro* immune and ER stress stimulating conditions.

2.2 Material and methods

2.2.1 Fish

Rainbow trout (100–180 g) were obtained from Silver Creek Aquaculture (Erin, ON) and kept in 200 L fresh-water flow-through tanks at the University of Waterloo under 12:12 h light-dark cycle. Water temperature was maintained continuously at 13°C. Fish were fed 5 days/week with commercial dry pellet (5 point floating trout chow from Martin Mills, Elmira, ON). Animals were kept according to the Canadian Council on Animal Care (CCAC) guidelines under the approval of the University of Waterloo Animal Care Committee.

2.2.2 Cloning of rainbow trout ERp57 cDNA

Based on a multiple sequence alignment of $Homo_{-}$ sapiens [NP 005304.3], Mus musculus [NP_ 031978.2], Canis familirais [XP_ 535453.2], Rattus norvegicus [NP_059015.1] and Danio rerio [XP_002665576.1], conserved regions of the ERp57 protein were located and degenerate primers were designed. Total RNA was extracted from 1×10^7 RTS11 cells using Trizol reagent (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) according to manufacturer's instructions. Subsequently, single strand cDNA was generated using a Fermentas RevertAid First Strand cDNA Synthesis Kit (ThermoFisher Scientific, Nepean, ON) using 50 ng of oligo(dt)₁₈ and RevertAid M-MuLV Reverse Transcriptase according to manufacturer's instructions.

The PCR reaction mix (25 μ L) contained 1 μ g of RTS11 cDNA, 1x PCR buffer, 200 μ M dNTP mix, 1 mM MgCl2, 1U of Taq Polymerase (MP Biomedical, Solon, OH) and 600 nM of both sense primer 5' TGGTGYGGNCAYTGYAAR 3' and antisense primer 5' NGCRTCCATYTTNGC 3'. The reaction parameters were 95°C for 5 min and 30 cycles of 95°C 40 sec, 48°C 1 min, 72°C 1 min with a final extension for 15 min in 72°C using a BioRad DNA Engine thermocycler (BioRad, Mississauga Ontario).

The 1000 bp amplicon which was excised, purified and ligated into pGEM-T Easy vector (Promega, Madison, WI) was subsequently transfected into XL1-Blue MRF' *E.coli* competent cells. Plasmids containing the insert were sequenced at the Center of Applied Genomics (Toronto, Ontario).

2.2.3 Generation of full length cDNA using RACE
reaction mixture, which was incubated at 37°C for 20 minutes. The mixture reaction was diluted to 1 mL with Tris–EDTA solution (10 mM Tris-HCl pH [7.5], 1 mM EDTA pH 8.0). The PCR reaction mix was made as previously described using 3 μ L aliquot of the cDNA 3' RACE pool with gene specific sense primer (GSP1) 5' ACTTGACGGCAGCTGAAGCCG 3' and RACE anti sense primer 5' CTTGCTGACGGTGGAAGCCCAGC 3' to a final volume of 25 μ L. PCR parameters for the first cycle were as follows: 5 min at 95°C, 2 min at 54°C and 30 min at 72°C. Next 30 cycles were executed at 94°C for 15 sec, 54°C for 30 sec and 72°C for 4 min. The PCR products were diluted 1:10 and used for subsequent nested PCR with an internal gene specific primer (GSP2) 5' TGCCACAGCCAATGACGTGC 3' and RACE primer 5' GAGGACTCGAGCTCAAGC 3'. Reverse transcription for 5' RACE was performed as previously described using an antisense primer 5' TCCACAGTGTTCGCA-GAGCG 3' specific to ERp57.

2.2.4 Southern blot analysis

Genomic DNA was isolated from rainbow trout peripheral blood leukocytes using a Wizard Genomic DNA purification kit (Promega, Madison, USA). Ten μ g of genomic DNA was digested using *Eco*RV,*Hin*dIII, *Kp*nI and *Pst*I (ThermoFisher Scientific, Nepean, ON). The digests were electrophoresed on a 1% agarose gel and transferred to a positively charged membrane (Roche, Manheim, Germany), followed by UV cross linking for 45 sec. After 4 hr of prehybridization in DIG hybridization granules (Roche, Manheim, Germany), the membrane was hybridized at 42°C for 16 hr with 446 bp DIG labelled cDNA probe. The probe was prepared by using DIG synthesis kit (Roche, Manheim, Germany), ERp57 specific primers 5' TTGACGGCAAGCTGAAGCCG 3' and 5' CTAGTGATTGAAGCTTC- TATAGCTC 3' and the full length rainbow trout ERp57 cDNA plasmid clone as template. The membrane was washed once with 0.5X SSC for 15 min and twice at 65°C for 30 min in 0.1X SSC containing 0.1% SDS. Hybridized DNA fragments were detected as using CDP star and anti-DIG antibody conjugated to alkaline phosphatase according to manufacturer's protocol (Roche, Manheim, Germany).

2.2.5 Phylogenetic tree construction and sequence analysis

Nucleotide sequences were obtained from the GeneBank database and are listed in the table 2.1.

Species	Accession number
H. sapiens	NM_005313.4
P. troglodytes	$XM_{-}001159572.2$
B. taurus	NM_174333.3
C. lupus	$XM_{-}535453.3$
M. musculus	$NM_{-}007952.2$
$R.\ norvegicus$	NM_017319.1
G. gallus	NM_204110.3
S. salar	$BT_044896.1$
S. salar	$NM_{-}007952.2$
O. mykiss	$\mathrm{EZ}_{-}774749$
D. rerio	NM_001199737.1
S. salar	BT046042.1
S. salar	BT058988.1
D.melanogaster	NM_165849.2
$C. \ elegans$	$NM_{-}059594.5$
O. sativa	BT058988.1
S. salar	$NM_{001053654.1}$

Table 2.1: ERp57 nucleotide sequences obtained from the GeneBank database.

The tree was constructed using neighbour joining method with bootstraps values through 1000 replications. Numbers above the line indicate the percent bootstrap confidence values. Signal peptide of trout ERp57 was identified using SignalP 3.0 server. Protein conserved domains were identified using the NCBI conserved domain (CDD) platform.

2.2.6 Construction of ERp57 expression vector

The full coding region of ERp57 was amplified using PCR primers designed to contain both *Bam*HI and *Hin*dIII sites in the sense primer 5' GGATCCATGTTGAAATTGTTTTT 3' and antisense primer 5' GAAGCTTCTATAGCTCAATCTGAATATTCTTCTT 3' respectively using RTS11 cDNA template. The PCR parameters were as follows: 95°C for 5 min, 35 cycles of 94°C for 40 sec, 53°C for 45 sec, 72°C for 1 min and 50 sec and final elongation at 72°C for 10 min. The amplified 1496 bp PCR product was ligated into pGEM T easy (Promega, Madison, USA) and was sequenced at the Center for Applied Genomics (Toronto, Ontario, CA). The insert was excised using *Bam*HI and *Hin*dIII (Fermentas, Burlington, CA) at 37°C for 2 hr and purified using a gel extraction kit (Qiagen, Mississauga, ON). The pRSET A expression vector (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, USA) was digested using the same restriction enzymes and purified as previously described. The purified coding sequence of ERp57 was ligated to pRSET A using T4 ligase (Promega, Madison, USA) overnight at 4°C. The constructs were transformed in BL21 (DE3) PlysS (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, USA) and were sequenced to verify that the inserts were in the correct frame with 6XHIS and Xpress epitope N-terminal tags.

2.2.7 Protein production and purification

A 50 mL of overnight culture grown at 37°C was used to inoculate 500 mL LB broth. The cells were grown until the OD600 reached 0.4-0.6 and then induced with 1 mM of isopropyl-beta–D–thiogalactopyranoside (IPTG). Following induction, the cells were grown for another 5 h. The cells were harvested by centrifugation at 10,000 rpm for 10 min. Protein was purified using Ni-NTA Agarose (Qiagen, Mississauga, ON) according to manufacturer's instruction. Briefly, one mL of Ni-NTA Agarose resin was added to 10 mL of cleared cell lysate and incubated for 1 hr at 4°C. After incubation, the lysate was loaded onto a 25 mL econocolumn (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Mississauga, ON) and washed with binding buffer (100mM NaH2PO4, 10mM Tris, 8M urea) equilibrated to pH 8.0, pH 6.3, and pH 5.9. Finally recombinant ERp57 was eluted at pH 4.5 and was stored at 4°C The elution fractions were separated on a 15% sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS) gel electrophoresis. Following SDS-PAGE, the proteins were transferred onto a nitrocellulose membrane blocked with 5% skim milk in T-TBS buffer (0.14 M NaCl, 2.7 mM KCL, 25mM Tris, 0.5% Tween 20, pH 8) for 1 hr. The membrane was washed with T-TBS for 5 min and probed with 1:2000 mouse anti-express antiserum (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, USA) to identify the specific Xpress

epitope tag on the recombinant protein.

2.2.8 Production of polyclonal antibodies

Two New Zealand white rabbits (Charles River, ON, CA) were injected intramuscularly with an initial dose of 0.5 mg of rERp57 with Freund's complete adjuvant (1:1). A boost using 0.5 mg recombinant ERp57 with Freund's incomplete adjuvant was given every three weeks. Rabbits were exsanguinated after 12 weeks and approximately 50 mL of serum was collected from each rabbit. Ear bleeds were performed every three weeks to verify the antibody titer. The specificity of the antibody was demonstrated in the following way. Extracts from rainbow trout tissues were prepared as described in section 2.3.12, run on SDS PAGE gels and transferred to nitrocellulose membranes for western blot analysis. Nitrocellulose membranes with transferred proteins from various tissue extracts were incubated with or without ERp57 recombinant protein (0.5 mg/mL) added to the polyclonal antiserum. When the recombinant protein was absent, bands around 57 kDa were detected (see results Figure 2.3.4). This is higher than the 53 kDa expected molecular weight based on the amino acid sequence, but normal for ERp57 as its name suggests. No bands were detected when ERp57 recombinant protein was present. Therefore, the antibody was specific for ERp57.

2.2.9 Rainbow trout cell lines

The rainbow trout cell lines were the monocyte/macrophage cell line, RTS11 [107], and the epithelial-like cell lines: RTL-W1 from a normal liver [108] and RTgill-W1 from the gill [109]. All cell lines were grown at 20°C to 22°C in L-15 with 15% of fetal bovine serum (FBS) as described [79].

2.2.10 Tissue collection of rainbow trout

Fish were anesthetized in 1 mL/Liter of 2-phenoxyethanol (Sigma Aldrich St. Louis, MO). Blood was drawn from the caudal vein of rainbow trout using 22G needle using a syringe prefilled with 100 units of heparin (Sigma Aldrich, St. Louis, MO) in 0.85% NaCl solution. Tissue samples were collected from the head kidney, thymus, liver, brain, heart, gill, spleen, muscle, hind gut, ovary and ovulated eggs. Tissues were either resuspended in PBS for western blotting or in RNAlater (2.5 mM Na citrate, 5.3 M $(NH_4)_2SO_4$, 0.01 M EDTA, pH 5.2) for RNA extraction.

2.2.11 Northern blot analysis

RNA was isolated from rainbow trout tissues using Trizol according to manufacturer's protocol (Invitrogen, Calsbad,CA, USA) and treated with DNase I, RNase-Free for the removal of any genomic DNA (Qiagen, Mississauga, ON), according to the manufacturer's instructions. The RNA was dissolved in PCR grade water (Roche, Manheim, Germany) and stored at -80°C until used. Six μ g of total RNA was separated on a 1% agarose-formaldehyde gel and transferred to a positively charged membrane (Roche, Manheim, Germany), followed by a UV crosslinking. The membrane was prehybridized with DIG hybridization granules (Roche, Manheim, Germany) for 4 hr following hybridization at 50°C for 16 hr [110] with the same cDNA probe as previously described in (2.2.4). The bands were detected using alkaline phosphatase conjugated anti-DIG antibody and CDP star (Roche, Manheim, Germany) using BIS 303 PC (Montreal Biotech Inc., Dorval, PQ, Canada).

2.2.12 Western blot analysis

For protein extraction, 80 mg of tissue was added to 300 μ L NP-40 lysis buffer (1% (v/v) NP-40, 150 mM NaCl, 50 mM Tris [pH 8.0]) supplemented with 1X of protease inhibitor cocktail (Roche). Tissue lysates were sonicated on ice in short bursts and crude lysates were cleared by centrifuging at 4°C for 15 min at 13,000 rpm. Supernatants were collected and quantified for protein concentration using bicinchoninic acid (BCA) assay (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Nepean, ON) using manufacturer's protocol. Tissue lysates (50 μ g) were mixed with 5x Laemmli sample buffer and boiled for 10 minutes prior to loading. Samples were separated on a 12% acrylamide gel and transferred to nitrocellulose membranes (Bio-Rad, Mississauga, ON) and subsequently blocked with 5% skim milk in TBS-T (0.14 M NaCl, 2.7 mM KCl, 25 mM Tris, 1% Tween 20; pH 7.5) for 1 hr. Blots were probed with primary antibody for 1 hr using ERp57 antisera diluted 1:1000. The membrane were washed with TBS-T three times 10 min each then the secondary antibody, goat anti Rabbit alkaline phosphatase (Sigma Aldrich St. Louis, MO), was applied in a 1:30000 dilution and probed for 1 hr. Bands were detected using NBT/BCIP (Roche, Manheim, Germany) according to manufacturer's instructions.

2.2.13 Induction of ERp57 in rainbow trout in vivo

Two rainbow trout were injected intraperitoneal with phytohemagglutinin PHA-M (Sigma Aldrich, St. Louis, MO) at a final concentration of 50 mg/250g of fish in L-15 medium and sacrificed after 48 and 96 h. Two fish were used as controls and were injected with an equivalent volume of L-15 media vehicle control only. Following dissection, tissue was collected from head kidney, spleen, thymus, gill, heart muscle and brain and store in -20°C in RNA later.

2.2.14 Induction of ERp57 in rainbow trout cells in vitro

The induction ERp57 was studied in the RTS11 macrophage-like cell line and in primary culture of peripheral blood leukocytes (PBL). Two classes of potential inducers, poly I:C and A23187, were examined. The synthetic dsRNA and viral mimic, poly I:C, was studied only in RTS11. The calcium ionophore A23187 was studied in both culture systems. While the carrier, DMSO, might have slight effects, the effects of the above agents were the most interesting and these were studied by comparing the treated samples to the carrier alone samples.

In vitro poly I:C stimulation

For exposure to poly I:C, RTS11 (2 × 10⁶) were seeded overnight in a 25 cm^2 culture dish with L-15 media supplemented with 150 U/ mL of penicillin and 150 mg/mL streptomycin in 15% fetal bovine serum (FBS). The culture was treated with 50 μ g/mL of polyinosinicpolycytidylic acid (Sigma Aldrich, St. Louis, MO) in water or with the same amount of filtered water as a control. Cells were harvested after 12, 24, and 48 h. RNA was isolated using RNeasy kit (Qiagen, Mississauga, ON) according to the manufacturers instructions. Reverse transcription was performed as previously described and transcript levels were determined using PCR amplification of the full coding sequence of ERp57 using 5' AGGATCCATGTTGAAATTGTTTTT 3' and antisense primer 5' GAAGCTTC-TATAGCTCAATCTGAATATTCTTCTT 3' respectively and ribosomal protein S11 control primers using sense primer 5' AGCAGCCAACCATCTTCCAG3' and antisense primer 5' ACTCTCCGACGGTAACAATG 3'. Densitometry analysis was performed to measure changes in ERp57 transcript levels using IMAGE J (version 1.44) and adjusted to the values relative to the control gene.

In vitro A23187 stimulation

For the preparation of PBL cultures, blood samples were centrifuged at $200 \times q$ for 10 min, buffy coat was collected and mixed with 45 mL of L-15 medium (Sigma Aldrich St. Louis, MO). The mixture was split into six fractions and each was layered on the top of 3 mL histopaque 1077 (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO). The tubes were centrifuged for 30 min at $400 \times q$. The leukocyte layer located at the media: histopaque interface was collected and cells were pelleted by centrifugation at $400 \times g$ for 5 minutes at room temperature. The supernatant was aspirated and the pellet was washed using 1 mL of 1X phosphate buffered saline (PBS) (137 mM NaCl, 2.7 mM KCl, 4.3 mM Na₂HPO₄, and 1.4 mM KH₂PO₄; pH 7.4). The PBS was aspirated and the cell pellets were resuspended either with Trizol for RNA extraction or 1% NP40 lysis buffer for western blotting. Peripheral blood leukocytes and RTS11 (2×10^6) were seeded overnight in a $25 \, cm^2$ culture dish with L-15 media supplemented with 150 U/mL of penicillin and 150 mg/mL streptomycin in 15% FBS. The culture was treated with 2 μ M in DMSO of A23187 (Sigma Aldrich, St. Louis, MO) same amount of vehicle was used for the control. Cells were harvested at different time points in 24 hr time course. Protein extraction and western blotting analysis was performed as previously described using 15 μ g of total protein in each lane. RNA isolation and reverse transcription was conducted as previously described, using trout gene specific primers as indicated in Table 2.2. The ERp57 primers used above will only detect our ERp57 sequence and not trout EZ774749 nucleotide sequence.

Gene	Primer Forward(5'-3')	Primer reverse(5'-3')
ERp57	ACTTGACGGCAGCTGAAGCG	TGCCACAGCCAATGACGTGC
ClassII β	AAGCTTATGTCGATGCCAATT	CGGCCGATTCTAGAGCACCCCAGAAGAC
$\mathrm{TGF}\beta$	GCTAAGCTTCTAGCTACACCTGCAG	GCAAAGTAGCCCAGTGGGTTC
$\beta 2 \mathrm{m}$	TGTCAATCGTTGTACTTGGG	CTTCAGGTGGCGGACTCTGC
S11	AGCAGCCAACCATCTTCCAG	ACTCTCCGACGGTAACAATG

Table 2.2: Primers sequences for reverse transcription.

2.2.15 Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using one-way ANOVA and Tukeys *post hoc* test in order to determine if there was a significant change of ERp57 protein levels upon *in vitro* stimulation. A probability of P<0.05 was considered significant.

2.3 Results

2.3.1 Trout ERp57 clone isolation and sequencing

In order to clone rainbow trout ERp57, degenerate oligonucleotides were designed based on a multiple species sequence alignment. The forward primer included 12 nt spanning the region encoding the CXXC active redox motif in the classical TRX domain shared by all ERp57 homologs. The reverse primer was designed to anneal in the section of the gene encoding distal C terminal TRX domain (a'). An estimated 1100 bp band was isolated from cDNA obtained from the RTS11 cell line. The sequence showed 95% nucleotide identity to atlantic salmon protein disulphide isomerase a, member 3 mRNA (the atlantic Salmon ERp57 homolog). Subsequently, primers were designed for 5' and 3' Rapid Amplification of cDNA Ends (RACE) reactions, yielding an estimated 700 bp and 200 bp fragments for the 3' RACE and 5' RACE reactions respectively. PCR amplification of the full open reading frame of ERp57 was then conducted using 50 and 30 gene specific primers. The resulting full cDNA sequence is 1985 bp, including 111 bp of 5' UTR and a 392 bp of 3' UTR containing a poly (A) signal located 355 bp downstream of the translation stop codon. The coding region is 1482 bp which encodes a putative 477 aa mature protein with a predicted molecular weight of 53 kDa.

The precursor protein is predicted to have a hydrophobic signal sequence by Signal P server. Amino acid sequence alignment revealed that four classic domains are conserved in trout ERp57, which share 75% sequence identity with the human protein sequences. First, the N terminal classic TRX domain a with a redox active CXXC motif. Second and third two redox inactive TRX-like domains b and b' and a fourth C terminal TRX domain a' containing a second CXXC motif (Figure 2.3.1). Interestingly, the teleost sequences do not include ER retention signal that appears as Q/ KEDL in the mammalian c-terminus and only the zebrafish sequence is predicted to contain a nuclear localization signal that appears as lysine rich sequence upstream of the ER retention signal. Post translational modification in human ERp57 such as phosphorylation on serine 150 and tyrosine 444 have been described [111, 112] and amino acids in these locations were found to be conserved in the trout sequence, suggesting that trout ERp57 can be post-translationally modified. This sequence is slightly shorter at 1955 bp, and shares 92% nucleotide identity in the coding region with the trout sequence isolated above. In addition, 5' UTR and 3' UTR alignment between our trout sequence and EZ774749 shows 91% and 78% sequence identity respectively.

Importantly, the EZ774749 coding sequence uses a different start codon that results in the loss of the N-terminal signal peptide and 20 aa of the functional conserved domain a' in the encoded protein, which both appear to be conserved in our trout and other teleost sequences. In order to further compare our trout nucleotide sequence with trout EZ774749 and additional salmon orthologous sequences, a phylogenetic tree was constructed using ClustalW (Figure 2.3.2) Interestingly, the two rainbow trout sequences are found in separate branches, yet clustering with high confidence with unique salmon sequences. These results suggests that ERp57 has duplicated into two paralogues in the salmonid lineage that share a common ancestral sequence. This gene duplication may be the result of genome duplications that occurred early in salmonid evolution [113].

Signal peptide Domain a ----MLKLF----FFVVLARVALASDVIEFTDDDFDSKIGDHG---MILVEFFAPWCGHC O.mykiss EZ774749 O.mykiss BT058988 S.salar BT044896 S.salar -----MILVEFFAPWCGHC 14 ----MLKLF----FFVVLAGAALASDVIEFTDDDFDSKIGDHG---MILVEFFAPWCGHC 49 ----MLKLF----FFVVLAGAALASDVIEFTDDDFDSKIGDHG---MILVEFFAPWCGHC 49 NM001168519 S.salar BT046042 S.salar ----MLKLF----FFIVLAGAARASDVIEFSDDDFDSKIGDHG---MILVEFFAPWCGHC 49 ----MLKLF----FFIVLAGAARASDVIEFSDDDFDSKIGDHG---MILVEFFAPWCGHC 49 D.rerio --MMLALL----FLVAFAAAARASDVLEYTDDDFDSRIGDHD---LILVEFFAPWCGHC 50 MRLRRLALFPGVALLLAAARLAAASDVLELTDDNFESRISDTGSAGLMLVEFFAPWCGHC 60 H.sapiens O.mykiss KKLAPEYEVAATRLKGIVGLAKVDCTVHNNVCQKYGVSGYPTLKIFRDGEDAGAYDGPRN 109 EZ774749 O.mykiss BT058988 S.salar KRLAPEFEVAATRIKGIVALAKVDCTVQNNVCQKYGVSGYPTIKIFKDGEDAGAYDGPRT 74 KKLAPEYEVAATRIKGIVGLAKVDCTVHNNVCQKYGVSGYPTIKIFRDGEDAGPYDGPRT 109 BT044896 S.salar NM001168519 S.salar BT046042 S.salar KKLAPEYEVAATRLKGIVGLAKVDCTVHNNVCQKYGVSGYPTLKIFRDGEDAGPYDGPRT 109 KRLAPEFEVAATRLKGIVALAKVDCTVQNNVCQKYGVSGYPTLKIFKDGEDAGAYDGPRT 109 KRLAPEFEVAATRLKGIVALAKVDCTVQNNVCQKYGVSGYPTLKIFKDGEDAGAYDGPRT 109 D.rerio KRLAPEYEAAATRLKGIVPLAKVDCTANSKVCGKYGVSGYPTLKIFRDGEDSGGYDGPRT 110 H.sapiens KRLAPEYEAAATRLKGIVPLAKVDCTANTNTCNKYGVSGYPTLKIFRDGEEAGAYDGPRT 120 Domain b ADGIVSHLKKQAGPASVELKTEADFTKYVGDRDASVVGFFADGGSPAKAEFLKSASALRE 169 ADGIVSHLKKQAGPSSVELKTEADFTKYVGDRDASVVGFFADGGSPAQAEFLKSASALRE 134 O.mykiss EZ774749 O.mykiss BT058988 S.salar ADGIVSHLKKOAGPASVELKTEADFTKYVGDRDASVVGFFADDGSPAKAEFLKSASALRE 169 BT044896 S.salar NM001168519 S.salar ADGIVSHLKKQAGPASVELKTEADFTKYVGDRDASVVGFFADDGSPAKAEFLKSASALE 169 ADGIVSHLKKQAGPSSIELKTEADFTKYVGDRDASVVGFFADGGSPAQAEFLKSASALRE 169 BT046042 S.salar ADGIVSHLKKOAGPSSIELKTEADFTKYVGDRDASVVGFFADGGSPAOAEFLKSASALRE 169 D.rerio ADGIVSHLKKQAGPASVELKNEADFEKYIGDRDASVVGFFADGGSAAQGEFLKAASALRE 170 ADGIVSHLKKQAGPASVPLRTEEEFKKFISDKDASIVGFFDDSFSEAHSEFLKAASNLRD 180 H.sapiens SFRFAHTNSEELLQKHGVEGEGIILFRPSRLNNKFEESSVKFSEDTFTNAKIKPFIQDNI O.mykiss EZ774749 O.mykiss SFRFAHTNSGELLQKHGVEGEGIILFRPARLSNKFEESSIKFSEDKFTNAMIKKFVQDNI 194 BT058988 S.salar SFRFAHTNSEELLOKHSVEGEGIILFRPSRLNNKFEEGSVKFSEDTFTNAKIKOFIODNI 229 BT044896 S.salar NM001168519 S.salar SFRFAHTNSEELLQKHSVEGEGIILFRPSRLNNKFEEGSVKFSEDTFTNAKIKQFIQDNI 229 SFRFAHTNSGELLQKNGVEGEGIILFRPARLSNKFEESVIKFSEDKFTNAMIKKFIQDNI 229 BT046042 S.salar SFRFAHTNSGELLOKNGVEGEGIILFRPARLSNKFEESVIKFSEDKFTNAMIKKFIODNI 229 SYRFAHTNNEDLLKKHGIDGEGIILFRSPQLSNKFEDSSVLFTEDKFTSAKIKKFIQDNI 230 NYRFAHTNVESLVNEYDDNGEGIILFRSHLTNKFEDKTVAYTEQKMTSGKIKKFIQENI 240 D.rerio H.sapiens Domain b' FGMCPHMTDDNKDQMKGKDLLVAYYDVDYEKNPKGSNYWRNRVMKVAKGFLDQGNKLNFA 289 FGMCPHMTDDNKDQMKDKDLLVAYYDVDYEKNPKGSNYWRNRVMKVAKSFLDQGKTLNFA 254 O.mykiss EZ774749 O.mykiss BT058988 S.salar BT044896 S.salar NM001168519 S.salar FGMCPHMTDDNKDQMKGKDLLVAYYDVDYEKNPKGSNYWRNRVMKVAKGFLDQGNKLNFA 289 FGMCPHMTDDNKDQMKGKDLLVAYYDDYEKNPKGSNYWRNRVMKVAKGFLDQGNKLMFA 289 FGMCPHMTDDNKDQMKGKDLLVAYYDVDYEKNPKGSNYWRNRVMKVAKSFLDQGKTLNFA 289 BT046042 S.salar FGMCPHMTDDNKDOMKDKDLLVAYYDVDYEKNPKGSNYWRNRIMKVAKSFLDOGKTLNFA 289 FGICAHMTEDNKDOLKGKDLLVAYYDVDYEKNPKGSNYWRNRVMKVAKGFLDOGKKLSFA 290 D.rerio H.sapiens FGICPHMTEDNKDLIQGKDLLIAYYDVDYEKNAKGSNYWRNRVMMVAKKFLDAGHKLNFA 300 O.mykiss EZ77474 O.mykiss VASKNSFSQDIAEMGLDASSGELPVVGIRTAKGDKYVMTEEFSRDGKALERFLQDYFDGK 349 VASKNSFSHDISEMGLDASSGELPVVGIRTAKGDKYVMAEEFSRDGKALERFLQDYFDGK 314 BT058988 S.salar BT044896 S.salar VASKNSFSQDIAEMGLDASSGELPVVGIRTAKGDKYVMTEEFSRDGKALERFLQDYFDGK 349 VASKNSFSQDIAEMGLDASSGELPVVGIRTAKGDKYVMTEEFSRDGKALERFLQDYFDGK 349 NM001168519 S.salar VASKNSFSHDISEMGLDASSGELPVVGIRTAKGDKYVMAEEFSRDGKALERFLODYFDGK 349 BT046042 S.salar VASKNSFSHDISEMGLDASSGELPVVGIRTAKGDKYVMAEEFSRDGKALERFLODYFDGK 349 VANKNRFSHDVSELGLDGSSGELPLVGIRTAKGDKYVMKEEFSRDGKALERFLQDYFDGN .rerio H.sapiens VASRKTFSHELSDFGLESTAGEIPVVAIRTAKGEKFVMQEEFSRDGKALERFLQDYFDGN 360 Domain a' **** LKRYLKSEPIPENNDGPVKTVVAENFDAIVNEEDKDVLIEFYAPWCGHCKSLEPKWKELG O.mykiss EZ774749 O.mykiss LKRYLKSEPSPENNDGPVKTVVAENFDAIVNNEEKDVLIEFYAPWCGHCKSLEPKWKELG 374 BT058988 S.salar BT044896 S.salar LKRYLKSEPIPENNDGPVKTVVAENFDAIVNEEDKDVLIEFYAPWCGHCKSLEPKWKELG 409 LKRYLKSEPIPENNDGPVKTVVAENFDAIVNEEDKDVLIEFYAPWCGHCKSLEPKWKELG 409 NM001168519 S salar LKRYLKSEPSPENNDGPVKTVVAENFDATVNNEEKDVLTEFYAPWCGHCKSLEPKWKELG 409 BT046042 S.salar LKRYLKSEPSPENNDGPVKTVVAENFDAIVNNEEKDVLIEFYAPWCGHCKSLEPKWKELG 409 LKRYLKSEPVPENNDGPVKVLVAENFDSIVNDDSKDVLIEFYAPWCGHCKSLEPKYKELG 410 D.rerio H.sapiens LKRYLKSEPIPESNDGPVKVVVAENFDEIVNNENKDVLIEFYAPWCGHCKNLEPKYKELG 420 O.mykiss EZ774749 O.mykiss EKLSSDPNIVIAKMDATANDVPSQYEVRGFPTIFFSPAGQKMSPKKYEGGREVSDFISYL 469 EKLSSDPNIVIAKMDATANDVPSQYEVRGFPTIFFAPAGQKMSPKKYEGAREVSDFISYL 434 EKLSSDPNIVIAKMDATANDVPSQYEVRGFPTIFFAPAGQKMSPKKYEGGREVSDFISYL 469 BT058988 S.salar BT044896 S.salar EKLSSDPNIVIAKMDATANDVPSQYEVRGFPTIFFAPAGQKMSPKKYEGGREVSDFISYL 469 NM001168519 S.salar EKLSSDPNIVIAKMDATANDVPSQYEVRGFPTIFFAPAGQKMSPKKYEGAREVSDFISYL 469 EKLSSDPNIVIAKMDATANDVPSQYEVRGFPTIFFAPAGQKMSPKKYEGAREVSDFISYL 469 BT046042 S.salar D.rerio EKLSEDPNIVIAKMDATANDVPSPYEVSGFPTIYFSPAGRKONPKKYEGGREVSDFISYL 470 H.sapiens EKLSKDPNIVIAKMDATANDVPSPYEVRGFPTIYFSPANKKLNPKKYEGGRELSDFISYL 480 O.mykiss KEEATNPLVAQEEETSKKNIQIEL- 493 EZ774749 O.mykiss BT058988 S.salar BT044896 S.salar KREATNPLVAQEEKS--KKKQTEL- 456 KKEATNPLVAQEEETSKKKKKNEL- 493 KKEATNPLVAOEEETSKKKKKNEL- 493 KREATNPLVAQEEETSKKNIQIEL- 493 KREATNPLVAQEEKS--KNIQIEL- 491 NM001168519 S salar BT046042 S.salar D.rerio KREATNTVVVQEDKKKSKKKKSEL-494 H.sapiens QREATNPPVIQEEKPKKKKKAQEDL 505

49

409

Figure 2.3.1: Sequence alignment of trout ERp57 with known proteins sequences.

ERp57 predicted sequences were aligned with the human and teleost fish sequences. Numbers on the right indicate amino acid positions. The four conserved domains are labeled with a black overline: thioredoxin (TRX)-like superfamily N terminal domain (domain a); the first redox inactive TRX-like domain (domain b); the second redox inactive TRX-like (domain b') and the C terminal TRX domain (a'). The redox active CXXC motifs within the sequence are marked with asterisks. The human ER retention signal is marked in bold.





A phylogenetic tree constructed using known nucleotide sequences of ERp57 derived from NCBI homologue gene database. The sequences were aligned using Muscle Aligned sequences were used to construct a phylogenetic tree in MEGA4. The tree was constructed using neighbour joining method with bootstraps values through 1000 replications. Numbers above the line indicate the percent bootstrap confidence values.

2.3.2 ERp57 gene copy number

Southern blotting analysis revealed that there are most likely two copies of ERp57 gene in the trout genome as there are two main bright bands in each digest (Figure 2.3.3). This result supports the phylogenetic tree obtained in Figure 2.3.2. The faint bands in PstI/HindIII digest might be due to internal PstI/ HindIII restriction sites in the gene sequence or hybridization of the probe to different ERp57/PDI family member.



Figure 2.3.3: Southern blot of trout ERp57.

Southern blots of rainbow trout ERp57 gene. Ten micrograms of genomic DNA was isolated from rainbow trout peripheral blood leukocytes and was digested using EcoRV, HindIII, KpnI and PstI. Digests were hybridized with a DIG labelled cDNA probe upon transfer to a positively charged membrane. The position of the size markers ($\lambda/HindIII$ digest) are shown by arrows on the right margin.

2.3.3 ERp57 transcript expression and protein levels in rainbow tissues and cell lines

At both the transcript and polypeptide levels, ERp57 was expressed in most rainbow trout tissues. Northern blotting showed that the gene encoding ERp57 was expressed strongly in liver and in egg. The high ERp57 expression level seen in the rainbow trout liver correlates with previous findings for the atlantic salmon [105] and human [114]. The trout ERp57 transcript was expressed in all tissues tested with lowest expression in the muscle tissue (Figure 2.3.4A). The most prominent expression of ERp57 protein was also in the liver and egg, which correlates with the highest transcript levels seen in northern analysis. ERp57 protein expression was also shown in the primary immune system organ, head kidney, and in other lymphoid associated tissues such as the spleen and gill (Figure 2.3.4B). The spleen showed the highest ERp57 protein expression levels of the immune related organs. In addition, the protein was expressed in trout cell lines RTS11 and RT gill, with the highest levels found in a trout liver cell line (RT liver), which correlates with the high expression of the transcript and the protein in liver tissue (Figure 2.3.4A and B). Given that the polyclonal antibody should detect the protein products of both our sequence and the one encoded by trout EZ774749, this expression pattern most likely represents a composite of the expression of both forms.



Figure 2.3.4: Transcript and protein distribution of ERp57 in trout under normal conditions. A) Northern blot analysis showing tissue distribution of rainbow trout ERp57 mRNA in unstimulated tissues. RNA from trout tissues was separated on a 1% agarose-Formaldehyde gel, transferred to a positively charged membrane and hybridized with 446 bp cDNA DIG labelled probe. The size of the 28S and 18S bands are indicated and shown to indicate the integrity of the RNA. Estimated transcript sizes are indicated with an arrowhead on the right. B) Western blot analysis of ERp57 protein expression in trout tissues and cell lines using polyclonal ERp57 antibody. Expression of trout ERp57 in the egg and ovary is shown in the lower panel. Both tissues and cell lines were used under normal unstimulating conditions. The position of the protein size marker is shown by the arrowhead at the right margin.

2.3.4 Induction of ERp57 in rainbow trout in vivo

Induction of ERp57 gene expression was seen in several tissues 48 h after the injection of rainbow trout with phytohemagglutinin (50 mg/250g body weight). Northern blot analysis showed that ERp57 transcript levels increased relative to the control samples 48 and 96 h post stimulus in spleen, gill and heart tissues (Figure 2.3.5). ERp57 expression in the head kidney was undetectable in the control and the 48 h time point although a weak band was observed after 96 h. The difference in the degree and timing of head kidney inducible ERp57 gene expression seen between Figures 2.3.4 and 2.3.5 is probably due to inter-individual variation.



Figure 2.3.5: Transcriptional upregulation of ERp57 by phytohemagglutinin.

Northern blots of rainbow trout ERp57 in selected tissues after 48 and 96 hr of in *vivo* injection of two fish with phytohemagglutinin (PHA) at a final concentration of 50 mg/250 g of fish. Two control fish were injected with an equivalent volume of L-15 media only. The size of the 28S and 18S bands (shown in the lower panel) and the estimated transcript sizes are indicated with arrows on the right.

2.3.5 Induction of ERp57 in rainbow trout RTS11 cells in vitro

The viral mimic poly I:C, added at 50 μ g/mL, induced ERp57 gene expression in the rainbow trout monocyte/macrophage cell line, RTS11, as detected by RT PCR (Figure 2.3.6). When transcript levels were followed over 48 h, ERp57 transcripts were elevated by 12 h but subsequently declined over the next 48 hours.

The calcium ionophore, A12387, which is known to cause endoplasmic reticulum stress [115], induced the expression of ERp57 within 6 h in primary cultures of PBL and in RTS11. In RTS11 cultures ERp57 mRNA levels were upregulated after 6 h of treatment while MHC class II β and β 2m mRNA levels didn't change and TGF β beta levels were downregulated relative to ribosomal protein S11 controls (Figure 2.3.7).



Figure 2.3.6: Upregulation of ERp57 transcript levels in RTS11 cell line following poly I:C treatment.

A) RT PCR analysis showing ERp57 and ribosomal RNA S11S11 transcript levels after *in vitro* stimulation with 50 μ g/mL of poly I:C during a 48 h time course challenge. Duplicate lanes for each time point represent two separate experiments. B) Densitometry analysis was conducted using image J software (version 1.44) and results are expressed as the ratio between ERp57 and ribosomal protein S11 amplicons that were used as an internal standard for each time point and vertical error bars represent the standard error.

ERp57 protein levels in treated PBL were upregulated up to 3 fold versus the control (data not shown). In the RTS11 cell line upregulation of the ERp57 protein was delayed relative to the upregulation seen in PBL primary culture but increased to nearly 3 fold by 24 h (Figure ??). In RTS11 culture, DNA laddering was observed after 24 h (data not shown), suggesting that ultimately A23187 induced stress and apoptosis.





Reverse transcription PCR analysis of ERp57, MH class II beta, $\beta 2$ microglobulin ($\beta 2$ m), transforming growth factor β (TGF β) transcript levels in RTS11 cell line after 6 h of *in vitro* stimulation with 2 mM of calcium ionophore A23187. Ribosomal protein S11 transcript bands were used as an internal standard. Duplicate lanes for each time point represent separate experiments.



Figure 2.3.8: Induction of ERp57 protein levels in RTS11 cell line following treatment with A23187.

Western blot analysis of ERp57 protein levels after *in vitro* induction of ER stress with 2 mM of calcium ionophore A23187 during 24 h time course. Densitometry analysis (lower panel) was conducted using image J software. Results are representative for three individual experiments. Statistical analysis was performed using one-way ANOVA and Tukey's post hoc test. Significant differences between the control and treatment groups is represented by three separate experiments.

2.4 Discussion

2.4.1 Rainbow trout ERp57 gene and protein

Phylogenetic analysis and Southern blotting suggested that two copies of the ERp57 gene existed in the rainbow trout genome. Many rainbow trout genes are duplicated due to an ancestral tetraploidization [113] and therefore it could be suggested that ERp57 is found in two different loci. The lack of a signal peptide and the proximal 20 aa of the conserved domain a' in trout EZ774749 might suggest a possible second gene for ERp57 in trout that has diverged to perform a different function outside of the ER. The trout EZ774749 sequence does however contain a KSKKK motif which might be a much stronger nuclear localization signal than the two lysines found in the ERp57 sequence we cloned. It could be speculated that the duplicated trout ERp57 genes might have diverged in function, with one encoding a protein which primarily performs ER functions, while the other primarily focuses on nuclear functions. This hypothesis is supported by the atlantic salmon sequences as the BT058988 and BT044896, which cluster together in the phylogenetic tree and include a putative nuclear localization signal, while the second atlantic salmon cluster of NM001168519 and BT046042, contain sequences with only two lysines at their C termini. Interestingly, the phylogenetic tree shows that the atlantic salmon BT058988/BT044896 pair which have a strong NLS cluster with the trout sequence which has no NLS, while the trout EZ774749 sequence, which has a potentially strong NLS, clusters with the two salmon sequences lacking an NLS. This suggests that the gene duplicates in these two salmonid species have diverged differentially since the species diverged.

The fact that two mRNA sizes were seen in northern blots also supports the presence of more than one gene in rainbow trout. Interestingly, the presence of the 1.8 kbp lower band in the northern blot seems to be stronger in the liver, head kidney and egg tissues, which imply on a differential expression of the second trout gene in trout. Like its mammalian counterpart, the trout b' domain is enriched with conserved lysines and arginines that are known to bind the negatively charged P domain of calnexin and calreticulin. Interestingly, this negatively charged P domain has been identified in calreticulin of rainbow trout [116] reinforcing the conserved function of this domain in the binding of ERp57 to other chaperones. All teleost and amphibian ERp57 proteins, which includes trout, salmon, zebrafish and xenopus, do not seem to have the classical ER retention signal that is present in ERp57 of mammals and chicken. However, it could be that teleost ERp57 is kept in the ER through its strong interaction with calreticulin, for which the trout version does have an ER retention signal [116] or with other ER resident proteins.

Another explanation might be that trout ERp57 may play roles in another subcellular location following its secretion from the ER, as it has been shown that mammalian ERp57, despite having an ER retention signal, can exit the ER and localize either to, the nucleus, the cell surface or the extracellular environment [102]. Nuclear localization of ERp57 has been characterized in mammals, chicken, frogs and zebrafish all of which have a C terminal lysine rich nuclear localization sequence. Interestingly, this nuclear localization sequence only contains two lysine residues in trout and salmon, making them different from zebrafish. It could be hypothesized either that ERp57 in trout and salmon have a nonclassical nuclear localization signal or that the protein can be transported to the nucleus by another carrier. It could also imply that the function of both trout and salmon ERp57 in the nucleus has been lost, and that they represent an ancestral version of the protein that has not yet acquired a nuclear function. The polyclonal antibody used here would detect both putative ER resident and nuclear localized forms of ERp57 however. This suggests that both forms are similarly regulated and perhaps that one form is stimulated while the other is not. Development of monoclonal antibodies to both protein isoforms will be needed to dissect potential differential regulation.

2.4.2 Induction of ERp57 expression in rainbow tissues and RTS11 cell line

Tissue distribution of ERp57 was studied by northern blotting hybridization showing a 2 kb mRNA is expressed in all tissue studied, similar to the mRNA size of human ERp57 [114]. In order to investigate the correlation between the level of expression of ERp57 and immune stimulus in rainbow trout, fish were injected with PHA, an agent commonly used for the stimulation of cell division in lymphocytes. Trout ERp57 levels in both gill and spleen were shown to be elevated after 48 and 96 h respectively (Figure 2.3.5). The upregulation after 96 h in the heart might be due to the presence of activated circulating lymphocytes that might express the gene rather than expression by the heart tissue itself. Interestingly, it has been shown that surface expression of human and trout calreticulin in PBL is elevated after PHA stimulation [117, 118]. Thus if ERp57 is responsible for the trafficking of calreticulin to the cell surface [119], that might cause a reduction in the protein level within the ER that is compensated for by enhanced ERp57 transcription. *In vitro* stimulation of RTS11 culture with poly I:C, a synthetic double stranded RNA which

induces expression of antiviral proteins and a transient antiviral state [117, 120, 121], was shown to upregulate ERp57 expression levels in a time dependent manner. Previously poly I:C was shown to increase the induction of MH I pathway genes such as $\beta 2m$ [79] and enhance the expression of Tapasin [122], the peptide transporter TAP1 and the proteasome component LMP7 [122] in ASK (atlantic salmon kidney) cells. Importantly, a similar induction was found in response to infectious salmon anemia virus (ISAV) and *in vivo* during acute infection with infectious hematapoeitic necrosis virus (IHNV) in rainbow trout [99]. Future studies will determine if ERp57 can be upregulated in virally infected cells as part of the host interferon response.

Upon short term induction of ER stress using the calcium ionophore A23187, trout ERp57 protein levels were increased both in RTS11 and PBL, similar to the upregulation of human ERp57 [123] and other ER resident chaperones such as calreticulin [124] and Bip [125] during ER stress. The PCR primers used in the induction studies reported here are specific for the sequence we isolated which lacks the nuclear localization signal, thus may encode the ER specific version of the ERp57 protein. These results imply that trout ERp57 may have a conserved function in the ER and during the unfolding protein response despite the lack of a conventional ER retention signal. Interestingly, it has been shown that trout calreticulin expression levels are not induced either by poly I:C or calcium ionophore [117] which might suggest that ERp57 has a more conserved role in the ER than calreticulin in fish. It may be possible that ERp57 upregulation can enhance the recruitment of "free" calreticulin to the MHC class I complex through their known interaction [120].

2.5 Summary

This work demonstrates that trout ERp57 is a conserved protein that shares high amino acid sequence identity and possible similar functions with its mammalian homolog. Nevertheless, there are some differences in structure, such as the ER retention signal and the nuclear localization signal that do not appear to be conserved in the trout sequence and therefore might point out to new mechanism of action and translocation from the ER. This work suggests that there are two gene copies of ERp57 in trout that might have diverged to perform various functions in different cellular compartments. The putative role of ERp57 during ER stresses and in the assembly of the MH class I protein loading complex might help to understand the pathology of viral diseases in fish. Our findings that trout ERp57 expression levels are upregulated both upon ER stress and poly I:C treatment, might suggest for the first time in teleosts, a possible role of ERp57 during viral induced ER stress and interferon responses. Future work will determine ERp57 subcellular localization and its interactions with other molecular chaperones as part of the peptide loading complex of MH class I.

Chapter 3

The cloning and characterization of trout calnexin gene

3.1 Introduction

Calnexin (IP90/P88) is an integral membrane protein of the endoplasmic reticulum that binds to monoglycosylated oligosaccharides. It was first identified as a protein that associates with partly folded MHC class I molecules, T cell receptors and membrane immunoglobulins [28, 126, 29]. Together with calreticulin, its soluble homologue, it participates in the calnexin/calreticulin cycle responsible for folding and quality control of newly synthesized glycoproteins before their export from the ER [127, 128, 22]. Calnexin has also been shown to play a role in ER calcium regulation [26, 129], phagocytosis [130] and cell sensitivity to apoptosis [131, 132, 133, 134].

Two distinct luminal domains of calnexin were revealed by crystallization [135]: the globular domain that contains the lectin binding site and an extended arm domain, containing two tandem proline rich motifs, which binds to ERp57 [136]. The C terminal domain is highly acidic with a protein kinase-dependent phosphorylation site that plays a possible role regulating the chaperone function [137, 138].

One well investigated function of calnexin is stabilizing both MHC class I and class II molecules [139, 140]. In humans, newly translated MHC class I heavy chain associates with calnexin rapidly, but it is released and replaced by calreticulin upon assembly of heavy chain with β 2m. However, in murine cells either calnexin or calreticulin may associate with β 2m-heavy chain dimers. Interestingly, experiments assessing the function of

calnexin in the biogenesis of class I molecules showed contradicting results. Co-expression of calnexin or calreticulin with MHC class I heavy chain in *Drosophila melanogaster* cells demonstrated five fold enhanced assembly with the $\beta 2$ microglobulin, while treatment with ER glucosidase I and II, inhibitors of monoglycosylated oligosaccharide formation, reduced the assembly and surface expression of MHC class I [23]. However, other experiments using calnexin human deficient cell lines showed no effect at all on class I assembly, transport or peptide loading [30, 141]. These experimental discrepancies may be either explained by the different model systems used or by the redundancy of molecular chaperones that can functionally replace calnexin in the ER such as calreticulin [142].

Co-immunoprecipitation studies have also demonstrated that calnexin can function as chaperone for some viral glycoproteins such as the G protein of vesicular stomatitis virus (VSV) and more recently the S glycoprotein of severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus (SARS coronavirus) by assisting in their folding and full maturation [143, 144]. Calnexin homologues have been identified in many eukaryotes such as plants, yeast, Xenopus [145, 146, 147], several fish species [148], Danio rerio (NM_213448.1), Takifugu rubripes (XM_003978229 and XM_003978694) and remarkably in *Dictyostelium* [130] which implies possible conserved functions for this molecule. To date, calnexin's role in teleost fish has only been investigated in channel catfish where it was shown to associate both with the non-glycosylated MHC class II alpha chain and the glycosylated β chain [148]. However, no studies have been carried out to assess its role during MHC class I folding, MHC class I receptor assembly in the ER or its possible association with viral glycoproteins mainly due to the lack of available antibodies. In rainbow trout, besides calnexin, most of the genes encoding molecular chaperones involved in this pathway have been fully characterized such as tapasin [86], calreticulin [116] and recently ERp57 [149]. In this work two unique cDNA clones for calnexin from trout PBL are reported and their regulation under ER stress induced conditions is described.

3.2 Materials and methods

3.2.1 Fish

Rainbow trout were obtained from Silver Creek Aquaculture (Erin, ON) and kept at 13°C in 200 litre fresh-water flow-through tanks at the University of Waterloo under 12:12 h light-dark cycle. Fish were fed 5 days/week with commercial dry pellet (5 point floating

trout chow from Martin Mills, Elmira, ON). Animals were kept using CACC guidelines under a permit from the University of Waterloo animal care committee. Adult fish (800 \sim grams) were anesthetized in 1 mL/liter of 2-phenoxyethanol (Sigma Aldrich St. Louis, MO). Blood was drawn from the caudal sinus as previously described [149] and tissues samples were collected in RNA later (2.5 mM Na citrate, 5.3 M (NH₄)₂SO₄, 0.01 M EDTA, pH 5.2).

3.2.2 Rainbow trout cell lines

The rainbow trout cell lines utilized were the monocyte/macrophage cell line, RTS11 [107], and the epithelial-like cell lines: RTL-W1 from a normal liver [108], RTgill-W1 from the gill [109] and RTovarian fluid [TK Vo and Bols]. RTS11 was grown at 20°C in L-15 media with 15% FBS and other cell lines were grown in 10% FBS as described by Kawano et al. [79]. The epithelial cell lines maintained epithelial-like morphology during the course of this study.

RTS11 stimulation with A23187 calcium ionophore and poly I:C

Cultures were seeded to 2×10^6 in a $25 \, cm^2$ flasks containing L-15 media supplemented with 150 U/mL of penicillin and 150 mg/mL streptomycin in 15% fetal bovine serum (ThermoFisher Scientific, Nepean, ON). Treatment included either 2 μ M of A23187 dissolved in DMSO or 50 μ g/mL of polyinosinic-polycytidylic acid (poly I:C) in PBS (Sigma Aldrich, St. Louis, MO). The same volume of vehicle was added to the control.

3.2.3 Cloning of rainbow trout calnexin cDNA

Degenerate primers were designed based on conserved regions identified by alignment of the following sequences from GenBank: *Homo sapiens* [NP_001019820.1], *Mus musculus* [NP_031623.1], *Canis familirais* [NP_001003232.1], *Rattus norvegicus* [NP_742005.1], *Danio rerio* [XP_002665576.1] and *Ictalurus punctatus* [AAQ18011.1]. Total RNA was extracted from 2×10^6 RTS11 cells using Qiagen RNeasy extraction kit according to manufacturer's instructions (Qiagen, Mississauga, ON), followed by single strand cDNA synthesis using a Fermentas RevertAid First Strand cDNA Synthesis Kit with one μ g of total RNA (ThermoFisher Scientific, Nepean, ON). PCR reactions of 25 μ L included 1x PCR buffer, 200 μ M dNTP mix, 2 mM MgCl2, 10 μ M each of the forward 5' AARTAYGAYGGNAARTGG 3' and reverse primer 5' TCTTCTTTCCAGTGCAGCAGA 3', 1 μ L of RTS11 cDNA and 1U of Taq Polymerase (MP Biomedical, Solon, OH). The reaction parameters were 95°C for 5 min followed by 30 cycles of (95°C 40 sec, 50°C 30 sec, 72°C 2 min) with a final 15 min 72°C using a BioRad DNA Engine thermocycler (BioRad, Mississauga Ontario). An estimated 1200 bp PCR product was purified using a Qiagen gel extraction kit (Mississauga, ON), then ligated into pGEM-T Easy vector, subcloned into XL1-Blue MRF' E. coli competent cells and sequenced at The Centre for Applied Genomics (Toronto, ON, Canada as described in [149].

Generation of full length cDNA

The PCR reaction for the first cycle was performed under the following conditions: 95°C for 5 min, 48°C for 2 min and 72°C for 15min with additional 30 cycles of 94°C for 15 sec, 52°C for 30 sec and 72°C for 3min. Sequence alignment of the 3' UTR region of both *Ictalurus punctatus* NM_001200180 and *Danio Rerio* NM_213448 revealed a conserved region of 18 nucleotides which facilitated the design for a PCR primer to amplify this end of the cDNA. The primers that were used in this PCR reaction were as follows: 5' ATG-GAGTTGAATGTGAGGTGTG 3' and anti-sense primer 5' AAGTCCATCAGTCCTTTC T 3'. The PCR reaction to amplify the 3' UTR was performed under the following conditions: 95°C for 5 min, 53°C for 30 sec and 72°C for 4 min followed by with additional 30 cycles of 94°C for 3 min, 53°C for 30 sec and 72°C for 3 min.

3.2.4 Southern blot analysis

Genomic DNA obtained from rainbow trout peripheral blood leukocytes was extracted using a Wizard Genomic DNA purification kit (Promega, Madison, USA). Briefly, ten μ g of genomic DNA was completely digested for 4 hours at 37°C using Fast digest enzymes *Eco*RV, *Hin*dIII, *Kpn*I and *Pst*I and *Bam*HI (ThermoFisher Scientific, Nepean, ON), separated on a 1% agarose gel and transferred to a positively charged membrane (Roche, Manheim, Germany), followed by a UV cross linking. Membranes were washed and hybridized with DIG labelled probes as previously described [149]. Two distinct probes were generated either to the proximal or distal end of calnexin. The primers used to generate the 477 bp proximal probe was as follows: forward 5' AGGAGGACATTGATGAGGATATTGC 3' and reverse 5' GACCCACCTTTACACTCGGTGGTGAACCCAG 3'. For the distal 540 bp probe primers were as follows: forward 5' TGGATGATCAGCCAGAGTACA 3' and rev 5' TGCAGAAGGAAGACAATGATGAGGA 3'. The bands were detected using anti-DIG antibody conjugated to alkaline phosphatase and CDP star (Roche, Mannheim, Germany).

3.2.5 Northern blotting analysis

RNA was isolated from both rainbow trout tissues and the RTS11 cell line using Trizol according to manufacturer's protocol (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, USA). Briefly eight μ g of RNA from tissues and six μ g RNA obtained from RTS11 cell were separated on a 1% agarose-formaldehyde gel and transferred to a positively charged membrane (Roche, Manheim, Germany), followed by UV crosslinking. The membrane was washed, hybridized and detected as previously described [149]. The primers used to generate the 728 bp probe were as follows: forward 5' TGGTGGTGAACCCAGAC 3' and reverse 5' CCAGGGACGC TCGTCTGCTG 3'.

3.2.6 Phylogenetic tree construction

Calnexin nucleotide alignment was generated using Muscle [150] and was used to construct a phylogenetic tree using the neighbour-joining method [151] with the Jukes and Cantor correction [152] for 1,000 bootstrap replications. Numbers above the tree lines indicate the percent bootstrap confidence values. Nucleotide sequences were obtained from the GenBank database and are listed in Table 3.1.

Species	Accession number
H. sapiens	NM_001024649.1
P. troglodytes	$XM_{-}003310996.2$
B. taurus	$NM_{001105612.1}$
C. lupus	NM_001003232.1
M. musculus	$NM_{-}007597.3$
R. norvegicus	$NM_{-}172008.2$
G. gallus	$NM_{-}001030620.1$
D. rerio	NM_213448.1
$C. \ elegans$	$NM_{-}066775.3$
O. sativa	$NM_{-}001059227.1$
A. thaliana	NM_125573.3
X. laevis	$NM_{001086857}$
X. tropicalis	$NM_{-}001005668$
$D.\ melanogasterr$	$M_{-170407.3}$
T. rubripes	$XM_{-}003978229$
T. rubripes	$XM_{-}003978694$
O. latipes	$XM_{-}004084923$
O. latipes	$XM_{-}004065645$
O. niloticus	$XM_{-}003447644$
I. punctatus	NM_001200180.1

Table 3.1: Calnexin nucleotide sequences obtained from the GeneBank database.

3.2.7 Sequence analysis

Signal 3.0 server was used to identify the signal peptide [153], while TMHMM Server 2.0 was used to identify transmembrane regions [154], NetPhos 2.0 Server was used to identify possible phosphorylation sites [155], palmitoylation sites were predicted by CSS-Palm 3.0 [156] and both InterProScan (EBI) [157] and the NCBI conserved domain (CDD) platform [158] were used to identify protein conserved regions.

3.2.8 Western blot analysis

Cell pellets were lysed in 1% NP-40 lysis buffer containing 150 mM NaCl and 50 mM Tris [pH 8.0] supplemented with 1X protease inhibitor cocktail (Roche, Manheim, Germany). Thirty μ g of protein samples were separated on a 10% acrylamide gel and transferred to nitrocellulose membranes (Bio-Rad, Mississauga, ON) overnight. Membranes were blocked with 5% skim milk in TBS-T (136 mM NaCl, 2 mM KCl, 2.4 mM Tris, 0.05% Tween 20)

and probed with 1:500 rabbit polyclonal antibody for human calnexin GTX101676 (Gene-Tex Irvine, CA) followed by 1:30000 goat anti-rabbit alkaline phosphatase (Sigma Aldrich St. Louis, MO). Bands were detected using NBT/BCIP (Roche, Manheim, Germany) according to manufacturer's instructions.

3.2.9 Isolation of peripheral blood leukocytes

Trout peripheral blood was centrifuged at $400 \times g$ for 10 min, a buffy coat was obtained and diluted 1:10 with L-15 media (Sigma Aldrich St. Louis, MO). Diluted fractions were layered on the top of 3 mL histopaque 1077 (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO) and centrifuged for 30 min at $400 \times g$. White blood cells were collected, centrifuged and washed once with 1X PBS for 5 minutes. Pellets were stored in -80°C until later use.

3.2.10 Immunofluorescence

RTS11 cells were seeded to 2×10^5 cells per well in 4 chamber slides containing 2% FBS 150 U/mL of penicillin and 150 mg/mL streptomycin and grown overnight. All steps were conducted at 20°C. Cells were washed once with PBS (137 mM NaCl, 2.7 mM KCl, 4.3 mM Na₂HPO₄, 1.4 mM KH₂PO₄; pH 7.4) and fixed for 15 min with 4% paraformaldehyde (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Nepean, ON) followed by two washes with PBS. Cells were permeabilized by incubation for 10 min with PBS containing 0.25% Triton X-100 (PBST), followed by 3 washes with PBS of 5min each. Cells were incubated with 1% BSA in PBST containing 0.1% (v/v) of Triton X-100 for 30 min and then probed with 1:100 of polyclonal rabbit anti-human calnexin (GTX101676) in 1% BSA for 1 h. After three washes for 5 min each in PBS, cells were incubated for 1 h with 1:3000 of goat anti-rabbit Alexa Fluor 488 (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) in 1% BSA followed by 3 washes with PBST of 5 min each. Cells were dried for 5 min at room temperature, mounted with Fluoroshield containing DAPI (Sigma Aldrich St. Louis, MO), coverslips were attached and the slides were stored at 4°C. Slides were examined by laser scanning confocal microscopy using a Zeiss Axiovert 200 microscope and ZEN 2009 software (Carl Zeiss, Mississauga, ON).

3.3 Results

3.3.1 Sequence analysis

An estimated 1230 bp amplicon was isolated from RTS11 cDNA which showed 83% nucleotide identity with *Ictalurus punctatus* calnexin (NM_001200180.1). In order to obtain the 5' end and 3' end of the trout calnexin cDNA, PCR primers were used for 5' RACE and for a conserved region in the 3' UTR using a PBL cDNA template. The corresponding PCR fragments were 380 bp and 320 bp respectively. PCR amplification of the full open reading frame of rainbow trout calnexin was then conducted using 5' and 3' gene specific primers using PBL cDNA template. Interestingly, two unique cDNA clones similar in length were obtained.

The first calnexin cDNA clone contains 1812 nt in its coding region and 94 nt of 3' UTR corresponding to putative 603 aa protein of 68 kDa. The second cDNA clone contains slightly longer sequence of 1851 bp with additional 23 bp of 3' UTR (117 bp total) which encodes a 616 aa protein with predicted molecular weight of 70 kDa. Both cDNAs showed 73% and 79% nucleotide identity with *Homo sapiens* and *Ictalurus punctatus* calnexin sequences, respectively with 72% and 75% sequence identity to their encoded proteins. The main characteristic of the rainbow trout calnexin proteins are illustrated in Figure 3.3.2. The N terminal domain includes a 24 aa signal peptide, followed by a luminal domain that contains a globular domain and an extended arm domain with a central segment, the P domain. This segment contains two proline motifs: M1 and M2 repeated in tandem four times each with the consensus sequences of M1: I-DP(D/E)A-KPEDWD(D/E) and M2: G-W-P-IN-P-Y. Moreover, there are three regions that have high sequence identity with human calnexin that are named box a, b and c. The box a segment is located upstream to calreticulin domain 1, whereas box b and c flank the repeated motifs. There is also a transmembrane domain of 21 aa that was predicted by TMHMM Server.

Interestingly, there are two pairs of cysteines predicted to be palmitoylated by CSS-Palm 3.0 immediately after the transmembrane domain. These cysteines are found to be conserved across many species and when palmitoylated were shown to be critical for the association of calnexin with the ribosome translocon complex. This helps calnexin to capture the N-linked glycans as they exit from the translocon [159]. Another shared feature with mammalian calnexin is the presence of an acidic cytoplasmic tail enriched with glutamic acid and ER retention signal KQEDDL, which appears only in one of the clones and interestingly does not appear in the channel catfish sequence [148]. There are five phosphorylation sites predicted by NetPhos 2.0 Server for both trout clones, however a unique serine phosphorylation site downstream of the ER retention signal known to regulate calnexin activation [160] exists only the clone with the ER retention motif.

	Signal Peptide> Globular domain	
Oncorhynchus_mykiss_1	MELNVR-CVLLLAVGLWSTLLLTTVTAHQEEEDEPIMEMGGDMDVEDEMEELDHGEELLDGEVEADMPPGPPPVPKVTYKAPEPTGEHFFAES	92
Oncorhynchus_mykiss_2	melnvr-cvlllavgqwstlllttv Tahqgeedepimemggdmdvedemeeldhgeelldgeveadmppgpppvpkvtykapeptgehffaes	92
Danio_rerio	MELKMRLCVALLSLSLCLLLMGPVRAQEEEADDMEMDVEDAIDDMQE-EDIEEEEQKAPAPPSAPTVTYKAPEPMGEHYFAEA	82
Ictalurus_punctatus	MELKVRLCVLLLALSVCVTLQVRAQEE-DEDEDVHVEDDLGNLGD-EELLDGDGEVDLEDEEKPTPTPAAPTVTYKAPEPKGEHFFAES	87
Homo_sapiens	MEGKWLLCM-LLVLGTAIVEAHDGHDDDVIDIEDDLDDVIEEVEDSKPDTTAP-PSSPKVTYKAPVPTGEVYFADS	74
Mus_musculus	MEGKWLLCL-LLVLGTAAVEAHDGHDDDAIDIEDDLDDVIEEVEDSKSKSDASTPPSPKVTYKAPVPTGEVYFADS	75
Gallus_gallus	MEMKWLLYVTLLALGTLAAQEHDVGDDDGDVIDIEDDLDDGVEEIEDSNPESSTP-PPAPKVTYRAPVPTGEVYFVES	77
Xenopus_laevis	MDLKCFLLVTLLVLGVVTINAHDHHDHDHDHDHDHDHDHDDDNGLDIDDDLEEPEELKPETSMP-PPAPKVTYKAPVPTGEVYFSES	86
	> box A Calreticulin domain 1	
Oncorhynchus_mykiss_1	${\tt FDMGTLDSWVLSKAKKEDIDEDIAKYDGKWEVEDMKDGKLPGDKGLVLKSRAKHHAISAQLLRPFIFDTKPLIVQYEVN {\tt FQQGIDCGGAYVKL} LSQTPDLOW {\tt FDMGTLDSWVLSKAKKEDIDEDIAKYDGKWEVEDMKDGKLPGDKGLVLKSRAKHHAISAQLLRPFIFDTKPLIVQYEVN {\tt FQQGIDCGGAYVKL} LSQTPDLOW {\tt FQQGIDCGGAYVKL} {\tt FQQGIDCGGAYVKL {\tt FQQGIDCGGAYVKL} {\tt FQQGIDCGGAYVKL} {\tt FQQGIDCGGAYVKL {\tt FQQGIDCGGAYVKL} {\tt FQQGIDCGGAYVKL {\tt FQQGIDCGGAYVKL {\tt FQQGIDCGGAYVKL {\tt FQQGIDCGGAYVKL {\tt FQQGIDCGGAYVKL {\tt FQQGIDCGAYVK {\tt FQQGIDCGGAYVKL {\tt FQQGIDCGGAYVKL {\tt FQQGIDCGGAYVKL {\tt FQQGIDCGGAYVK {\tt FQQGIDCGAYVK {\tt FQQCGAYVK {\tt FQCGAY {\tt FQCGAY {\tt FQCQCAY {\tt FQCQCAY {\tt FQCAY {\tt FQC$	192
Oncorhynchus_mykiss_2	${\tt FDMGTLDSWVLSKAKKEDIDEDIAKYDGKWEVEDMKDGKLPGDKGLVLKSRAKHHAISAQLLRPFIFDTKPLIVQYEVNFQQGIDCGGAYVKLLSQTPDLWARKEDIDEDIAKYDGKWEVEDMKDGKLPGDKGLVLKSRAKHHAISAQLLRPFIFDTKPLIVQYEVNFQQGIDCGGAYVKLLSQTPDLWARKEDIDEDIAKYDGKWEVEDMKDGKLPGDKGLVLKSRAKHHAISAQLLRPFIFDTKPLIVQYEVNFQQGIDCGGAYVKLLSQTPDLWARKEDIDEDIAKYDGKWEVEDMKDGKLPGDKGLVLKSRAKHHAISAQLLRPFIFDTKPLIVQYEVNFQQGIDCGGAYVKLLSQTPDLWARKEDIDEDIAKYDGKWEVEDMKDGKLPGDKGLVLKSRAKHHAISAQLLRPFIFDTKPLIVQYEVNFQQGIDCGGAYVKLLSQTPDLWARKEDIDEDIAKYDGKWEVEDMKDGKLPGDKGLVLKSRAKHHAISAQLLRPFIFDTKPLIVQYEVNFQQGIDCGGAYVKLLSQTPDLWARKEDIDEDIAKYDGKWEVEDMKDGKLPGDKGLVLKSRAKHHAISAQLLRPFIFDTKPLIVQYEVNFQQGIDCGGAYVKLLSQTPDLWARKEDIDEDIAKYDGKWEVEDMKDGKWEVEDMKDGKUPGAYVKLLSQTPDLWARKEDIDEDIAKYDGKWEVEDMKDGKWEVEDMKDGKWEVEDMKDGKWEVEDMKDGKWEVEDMKDGKWEVEDWKTGKWEVEDWKTGKWEVETKOVETGKWEVETGKWEVETGKWEVETGKWE$	192
Danio_rerio	${\tt FDKGTLQGWVLSQAKKDGIDEDIAKYDGKWEVEEMQDSKLPGDKGLVLKSKAKHHAISALLLRPFTFDTKPLIVQYEVNFQTGIDCGGAYVKLLSQTPDL$	182
Ictalurus_punctatus	FDKGTLDGWVLSQAKKDGIDEDIAKYDGKWEVEEMKDTKLPGDKGLVLKSRAKHHAISALLLRPFTFDTKPLIVQYEVNFQNGIDCGGAYAKLLSQSAEL	187
Homo_sapiens	${\tt FDRGTLSGWILSKAKKDDTDDEIAKYDGKWEVEEMKESKLPGDKGLVLMSRAKHHAISAKLNKPFLFDTKPLIVQYEVNFQNGIECGGAYVKLLSKTPEL$	174
Mus_musculus	${\tt FDRGSLSGWILSKAKKDDTDDEIAKYDGKWEVDEMKETKLPGDKGLVLMSRAKHHAISAKLNKPFLFDTKPLIVQYEVNFQNGIECGGAYVKLLSKTAEL$	175
Gallus_gallus	${\tt FDKGTLDGWILSKAKKDDTDDEIAKYDGKWEVQDMKDTKLPGDKGLVLVTRAKHHAISSKLSKPFVFDTKPLIIQYEVNFQNGIECGGAYVKLLSKTPEL$	177
Xenopus_laevis	FDKGSLDGWILSKAKKDDTDEEIAKYDGKWEVTEMKDTKLPGDLGLVLMSRAKHHAIAGKLQKPFVFDKKPLIVQYEVSFQNGIECGGAYVKLLSKTQEQ	186
	Calreticulin domain 2> box B> P domain	
Oncorhynchus_mykiss_1	NLDEFVDKTPY TIMFGPDKC GEDYKLHFIFRHKNPKTGEYEEKHAKKPDSDLRTYYTDKKTHLYTLVVNPDNSFEVLVDQAVVNSGNLLTDMTPPINPAA	292
Oncorhynchus_mykiss_2	NLDEFVDKTPYTIMFGPDKCGEDYKLHFIFRRKNPKTDEYEEKHAKKPDSDLRTYYTDKKTHLYTLVVNPDNSFEVLVDQAVVNSGNLLTDMTPPINPAA	292
Danio_rerio	${\tt D} {\tt LEEFVDKTPYTIMFGPDKCGEDYKLHFIFRHKNPKTGEFEEKHAKKPDSDLRSYYTDKKTHLYTLVLNPDNTFEILIDQTVVNSGSLLNDVTPPVNPPA$	282
Ictalurus_punctatus	${\tt NLDEFVDKTPYTIMFGPDKCGEDYKLHFIFRHKNPKTGEYEEKHAKKADSDLRTYYTDKKTHLYTLVLNPDNSFEILIDQTVVNSGNLLNDMTPAVNPPA$	287
Homo_sapiens	${\tt NLDQFHDKTPYTIMFGPDKCGEDYKLHFIFRHKNPKTGIYEEKHAKRPDADLKTYFTDKKTHLYTLILNPDNSFEILVDQSVVNSGNLLNDMTPPVNPSRIGAR (MARKEN) ($	274
Mus_musculus	SLDQFHDKTPYTIMFGPDKCGEDYKLHFIFRHKNPKTGVYEEKHAKRPDADLKTYFTDKKTHLYTLILNPDNSFEILVDQSVVNSGNLLNDMTPPVNPSR	275
Gallus_gallus	${\tt NLDQFHDKTPYTIMFGPDKCGEDYKLHFIFRHKNPKTGKYEEKHAKRPDADLKTYFTDKKTHLYTLILNPDNSFEILVDQMVVNSGNLLNDMSPPVNPPR$	277
Xenopus_laevis	KPEQFQDKTPYTIMFGPDKCGEDYKLHFIFRHKNPKTGEYEEKHAKRPDADLKSYFTDKKTHLYTLVLNPDNNFEILVDQTVVNRGSLLNDMSPPVNPPS	286

Figure 3.3.1: Sequence alignment of trout calnexin with known nucleotide sequences.

Calnexin predicted nucleotide sequences were aligned with other known vertebrate sequences obtained from the GenBank (see methods for specific accession numbers). Numbers on the right indicate amino acid positions. The conserved domains are labelled in bold above the sequences. The palmitoylation site in the juxtamembranal region is underlined. Both the putative ER retention signals and the serine phosphorylation site are labelled in bold and underlined. Oncorhynchus_mykiss_1 Oncorhynchus mykiss 2 Danio rerio Ictalurus_punctatus Homo_sapiens Mus musculus Gallus gallus Xenopus laevis

Oncorhynchus_mykiss_1 Oncorhynchus_mykiss_2 Homo sapiens Danio_rerio Ictalurus_punctatus Mus musculus Gallus_gallus Xenopus laevis

Oncorhynchus_mykiss_1

Oncorhynchus_mykiss_2

Ictalurus_punctatus

Danio rerio

Homo sapiens Mus musculus

Gallus gallus

Xenopus_laevis

Motif 1 Motif 1 Motif 1 Motif 1 Motif 2 Motif 2 EIEDPDDHKPEDWDERPKIQDPDAVKPEDWDEDAPKQIPDEDAVKPDGWLDDESEYTSDPDAVKPEDWDEDMDGEWEAPQVPNALCETAPGCGAWQRPMI 392 EIEDPDDHKPEDWDERPKIODPDAVKPEDWDEDAPKOIPDEDAVKPDGWLDDESEYTSDPDAVKPEDWDEDMDGEWEAPOVPNALCETAPGCGAWORPMI 392 EIEDPDDHKPEDWDERPKIQDPDAVKPEDWDEDAPAKIADEDAVKPDGWLDDEPEYISDPDAVKPEDWDEDMDGEWEAPQIPNPVCETAPGCGAWERPMI 382 EIEDPDDHKPDDWDERPKIPDPDAVKPDDWDEDAPAKIADEDAVKPDGWLDDEPEYISDPDAVKPEDWDEDMDGEWEAPQIPNSACESAPGCGKWERPMI 387 EIEDPEDRKPEDWDERPKIPDPEAVKPDDWDEDAPAKIPDEEATKPEGWLDDEPEYVPDPDAEKPEDWDEDMDGEWEAPOIANPRCESAPGCGVWORPVI 374 EIEDPEDRKPEDWDERPKIADPDAVKPDDWDEDAPSKIPDEEATKPEGWLDDEPEYIPDPDAEKPEDWDEDMDGEWEAPOIANPKCESAPGCGVWORPMI 375 EIEDPNDOKPEDWDERPKIPDPDAVKPDDWDEDAPAKIADENAVKPEGWLDDEPEYVADPDAEKPEDWDEDMDGEWEAPOIANPKCESAPGCGTWORPMI 377 EIEDPEDSKPEDWDERPKIPDPDAVKPDDWDEDAPAKIPDENAVKPEGWLDDEPEYISDPDAEKPEDWDEDMDGEWEAPQVANTKCESAPGCGVWQRPTI 386

Motif 2 --> box C Motif 2

DNPSYKGKWKAPMIDNPNYQGVWKPRKIANPAFFEDLHPFRMTPFNAVGLELWSMSSDIFFDNFFITNERHTADRWANDGWGLKKAAEGAAEPGLVNQMM 492 DNPSFKGKWKAPMIDNPNYQGVWKPRKIANPAFFEDLHPFRMTPFNAVGLELWSMSSDIFFDNFFITNERHTADRWANDGWGLKKAAEGAAEPGLVNOMM 492 DNPNYKGKWKPPMIDNPSYOGIWKPRKIPNPDFFEDLEPFRMTPFSAIGLELWSMTSDIFFDNFIICADRRIVDDWANDGWGLKKAADGAAEPGVVGOMI 474 DNPNYKGKWKSPMIDNPNYQGVWKPRKIPNPDFFEDLHPFRMTPFSAVGLELWSMSSDIFFDNFFITSDRNVAERWANDGWGLKKAAEGAAEPGLVNQMI 482 DNPNYKGKWKPPMVDNPNYQGVWKPRKIPNPDYFEDLHPFRMTAVSAVGLELWSMSSDIFFDNFFITSDRNVADKWAEEGWGLKKAAEGAAEPGLVNQMM 487 DNPNYKGKWKPPMIDNPNYOGIWKPRKIPNPDFFEDLEPFKMTPFSAIGLELWSMTSDIFFDNFIISGDRRVVDDWANDGWGLKKAADGAAEPGVVLOML 475 DNPNYKGKWKPPMIDNVNYQGIWKPRKIPNPDFFEDLEPFKMTPFSAVGLELWSMTSDIFFDNFIICTERAVADDWANDGWGLKKAADGAAEPGVVGQMM 477 DNPMYKGKWKPPMIDNPNYQGIWKPRKIANPDFFEDLEPFRMTPFYAIGLELWSMTSDIFFDNFIICSERNVADDWANDGWGLKKAADGASAPSVVGQMI 486

тм Palmitovlation site

TAADER**PWLWVVYLTVAVPLVLIIVFCC**TGRKTAAAA--ADYKKTDEPQPDVREEEVVEKAEADR--VKEEKSQPAAEEKNSDAEDSPAEEVNEEEEE- 587 TAADERPWLWVVVVLTVAVPLVLIIVFCCTGKKTAAAA--ADYKKTDEPQPDVKEEEVVEKAEADQ--VKEEKSQPAAEEKNSDAEDGPAEEVNEEEEE- 587 TAAEERPWI.WI.VYVI.TVALPI.VI.TI.VECCTGKKSSASTPAAKYKKTDEPOPDVKEE----AEEEE-AKDE----EPEAKKSEEEDSTGDGDGDDTAEN 571 SAAEERPWLWVVVUVLTVALPVVLIFVFCCTGKKKPATS-AAEYKKTDEPQPDVKEE----EEEEE--EEEEA-RGEESEKKADAEESPAEAEAPEEEE- 577 EAAEERPWLWVVYILTVALPVFLVILFCCSGKKQTSGM---EYKKTDAPQPDVKEEEEEKEEKDK--GDEEEEG-EEKLEEKQKSDAEEDGGTVSQEEE 568 EAAEERPWLWVVYILTVALPVFLVILFCCSGKKQSNAM---EYKKTDAPOPDVKDEEG-KEEEKNK--RDEEEE-EEKLEEKOKSDAEEDGVTGSQDEE 567 AAAEERPWLWVVYILIVAFPVFLVVLFCCSGKKOPSAA---EYKKTDAPOPDVVSDEREEEKDKGD--KEEEEEANEEKLEEKOKNDADIGSASOEEEE 572 SAAEERPWLWIVYILTVALPVFLVILFCCSGKKOPLDA---EHKKTDAPOPDVKEEEEEEEEEEGKDNKAEEEEDTEESGKOKPKODEEEGKESODEEEA 583

Oncorhynchus_mykiss_1 Oncorhynchus_mykiss_2 Danio rerio Ictalurus_punctatus Homo sapiens Mus musculus Gallus_gallus EEEEEDRKHASEEEETVNRSPRNRKPRKD- 601 -EEEAKEEIKPKEDEIINRSPRNRKLRRD- 611 Xenopus laevis

ER retention NLS? EEEEEVTEEVRGQ----- 601 EEEEEEVTEEKQEDDLLRRSPRNRKLRKD- 616 GDKDDNTSNEKSEDDILRRSPRNRK-SRKD 600 ADKQEDKSDEKQEDDVLRRSPRSKARARKD 607 ----DRKPKAEEDEILNRSPRNRKPRRE- 592 ----DSKPKAEEDEILNRSPRNRKPRRE- 591

Figure 3.3.2: Sequence alignment of trout calnexin with known nucleotide sequences.

Calnexin predicted nucleotide sequences were aligned with other known vertebrate sequences obtained from the GenBank (see methods for specific accession numbers). Numbers on the right indicate amino acid positions. The conserved domains are labelled in **bold** above the sequences. The palmitoylation site in the juxtamembranal region is underlined. Both the putative ER retention signals and the serine phosphorylation site are labelled in bold and underlined.

3.3.2 Phylogenetic analysis

In order to further examine the evolutionary relationship between the unique trout clones and other calnexin nucleotide sequences, a phylogenetic tree were constructed (Figure 3.3.3). As expected, strong distinct clusters can be seen for the tetrapod, teleost fish and plant sequences. Both trout sequences clustered together with a short genetic distance suggesting a recent gene duplication event, which is common in salmonids [161]. Interestingly a more ancient duplication event also seems to have occurred in teleost fish, as both pufferfish, and rice fish showed a second sequence which grouped with zebrafish calmegin outside the main cluster of fish, frog and mammalian calnexin sequences, but still within a vertebrate cluster. This suggests a very early duplication event to produce this testis-specific ER chaperone homologous to calnexin.





A phylogenetic tree constructed using known complete coding sequences of calnexin obtained from the GeneBank data base. The sequences were aligned using Muscle program and phylogenetic tree was constructed by Mega4 using neighbour joining method with the Jukes and Cantor correction. Numbers indicate on bootstrap values determined through 1000 replications. The bar at the bottom indicates Neis genetic distance.

3.3.3 Trout calnexin gene copy number

To further examine the possibility that the calnexin gene might be duplicated in trout, two separate probes were designed to proximal and distal segments of the calnexin gene. When the proximal probe was used, between three to four bands were observed in each digest (Figure 3.3.4A). The distal probe showed similar results showing two dark bands and either one to two faint bands (Figure 3.3.4B). These results suggest that the calnexin gene is present in at least two copies in trout, unlike its soluble paralog calreticulin which appears in rainbow trout as single copy gene [116].





Southern blots of rainbow trout calnexin gene. Ten micrograms of genomic DNA was isolated from rainbow trout peripheral blood leukocytes and was digested using *Eco*RV, *Hin*dIII, *Kp*nI and *Pst*I and *Bam*H. Digests were hybridized with either a DIG labelled cDNA probe spanning the proximal domain of trout calnexin (A) or with a probe spanning the distal domain of trout calnexin (B). The position of the size marker (λ /*Hin*dIII digest) is shown in kilobase on the right margin.

3.3.4 Calnexin tissue expression

Northern blotting shows wide tissue distribution of the calnexin mRNA in trout tissues with the most prominent message being an estimated 3 kbp transcript band but with a faint lower band detected in spleen, head kidney and PBLs (Figure 3.3.5). This lower band was strongly expressed in RTS11 (Figure 3.3.6).



Figure 3.3.5: Calnexin transcripts distribution in trout tissues under non stimulating conditions.

Eight μ g of RNA from healthy trout tissues was separated on a 1% agarose-formaldehyde gel. Calnexin transcript was detected as a prominent band around 3kb and indicated by a single asterisk. An additional low expressed transcript was detected in spleen, head kidney and PBLs and indicated by a double asterisk. The size of the 28S and 18S ribosomal RNA bands is shown in the lower panel.

In order to determine if both bands were similarly regulated, RTS11 cells were treated with A23187, which is known to induce ER stress and upregulate other molecular chaperones *in vitro* such as ERp57 [149]. Importantly, the lower calnexin transcript was upregulated up to 2.6 fold in 24 h followed by a decreased expression at 36 h. Interestingly, the upper band expression remained relatively constant Figure 3.3.6. This result points out to the possibility that trout may have two unique transcripts responding differentially to ER induced stress due to unique modes of regulation.



Figure 3.3.6: Upregulation of calnexin mRNA in RTS11 cells following treatment with calcium ionophore A23187.

Northern blot analysis showing calnexin mRNA levels upon stimulation with 2 μ M of the calcium ionophore A23187 for 36h. Densitometry analysis on the left panel was conducted using image J software and is expressed as the ratio between calnexin and ribosomal 28S bands. The detection of the higher calnexin transcript band is indicated by a single asterisk, whereas the expression of the lower and induced transcript band is indicated by a double asterisk. This result represents a single experiment.

3.3.5 Calnexin protein levels under normal and induced ER stress conditions

In order to further explore the possible role of calnexin during ER stress, an anti-human calnexin antibody (GTX101676) was used. This antibody was generated against the recombinant P domain of human calnexin, which shares 81% identity with the trout calnexin sequence. As opposed to its 70 kDa predicted molecular weight, trout calnexin protein was detected as a 120 kDa band in RTS11, RTgill, RTgut, RTovarian fluid and RTliver (Figure 3.3.7A and B). Interestingly, a lower fainter band around 100 kDa was also detected in all cell lines tested. A doublet band around 55 kDa was observed in RT liver, probably due to antibody binding to calreticulin, known to migrate as a doublet band in trout [117]. In channel catfish calnexin is detected as a single band around 100 kDa compared to its 69 kDa molecular weight [148]. This discrepancy is common in many species and might be explained by the abundance of acidic amino acids which interferes with SDS binding and reduce the mobility on SDS-PAGE, and post-translational modifications. Importantly,
induction of RTS11 with A23187 in a set of three repeats showed detection of the lower band in the treated cells but not in the control (Figure 3.3.7C). RTS11 treated with poly I:C didnt show any induction of the lower band (data not shown) which suggests that the expression of the smaller version of calnexin is modified specifically under ER stress conditions.



Figure 3.3.7: Calnexin protein distribution in rainbow trout cell lines under non stimulating conditions and during *in vitro* stimulation with A23187.

Western blot analysis of calnexin protein levels in trout cell lines using anti-human calnexin polyclonal calnexin antibody. Unstimulated cell lysates were separated on a 10% (A) or 12% SDS–PAGE gel (B) and during 24 h treatment with calcium Ionophore A23187 (C). This experiment is representative of three replicate set. The position of the size marker is shown on the right margin.

3.3.6 Calnexin localization in RTS11 cells

In order to further validate the specificity of the GTX101676 antibody, RTS11 were stained with anti-calnexin antibody (GTX101676) and examined under the confocal microscope (Figure 3.3.8). The staining revealed a meshwork structure within the cells with additional staining observed surrounding the nucleus. A similar and stronger staining pattern was observed for other ER resident proteins, trout ERp57 and calreticulin, the latter of which contains a putative ER retention signal [116]. These results suggest that trout calnexin might reside in the ER. However, additional experiments are required to validate the cellular localization of calnexin in trout.



Figure 3.3.8: Localization of calnexin, ERp57 and calreticulin in RTS11 cells.

Immunofluorescence detection of calnexin, ERp57 and calreticulin in RTS11 using anti human calnexin GTX10167, and antibodies generated against trout ERp57 and calreticulin proteins. Alexa Fluor 488 was used as anti rabbit secondary antibody. Fluoroshield containing DAPI was used for nuclear staining. The negative control was stained with secondary antibody alone.

3.4 Discussion

In this study, rainbow trout calnexin was characterized and its expression was investigated to examine the regulation of a possible peptide loading complex in fish using rainbow as a model organism. Two unique cDNA clones encoding trout calnexin which share 99% sequence identity in their coding region were identified. Intriguingly, only one cDNA version contains a unique C terminal with putative ER retention signal and conserved serine phosphorylation site which activates calnexin when protein misfolding occurs and is important for the recruitment of calnexin to ribosome translocons [162, 138, 159]. Sequence alignment with the human calnexin protein reveals 72% identity and implies structural and functional conservation of calnexin as an ER lectin chaperone, calcium binding protein and as a protein indirectly assisting in oxidative folding.

The luminal domain of calnexin contains the two conserved domains: the globular and the arm domain. The lectin binding site was found in a pocket on the surface of the globular domain [135] whereas the tip of the arm domain contains the docking site that recruits ERp57 [136] and therefore helps to support oxidative folding in the ER. The P domain in the central arm segment contains two conserved motifs repeated four times each which contain low capacity and high affinity calcium binding sites, while the C terminal domain is highly enriched with acidic amino acids shown to be high capacity low affinity calcium binding sites [163]. All of these features are evident in the trout calnexin sequences, suggesting that many of its roles are conserved in trout, however the differences in the C terminal domains between the calnexin cDNA sequences might suggest a unique mode of regulation and perhaps differential subcellular localization.

A phylogenetic tree constructed with calnexin nucleotide coding sequences indicates on a possible recent gene duplication event for trout similar to that seen for trout ERp57 [149], but suggesting that both are *bone fide* calnexin homologues. A duplication of calnexin like sequences of pufferfish and rice fish obtained from different loci may be more ancient as these sequences cluster outside all of the vertebrate calnexin sequences. Sequence alignment of their corresponding proteins reveals sequence identity of 73% and 84% respectively to zebrafish calmegin, a calnexin homologue in the testis that is expressed exclusively during spermatogenesis both in mouse and human and was suggested to bind sperm surface proteins important for egg-sperm interaction [164, 165, 166].

In order to investigate the regulation of calnexin during ER stress, cells were treated with calcium ionophore A23187 which has been previously shown to upregulate calnexin transcript expression by up to 2.5 fold in *Saccharomyces pombe* and appeared as a single band in a northern blot [167]. Interestingly, in trout two possible transcript bands for calnexin were observed that are expressed only in immune system organs. Surprisingly, ER stress induction in RTS11 using A23187 showed that the smaller, less abundant transcript band was induced in contrast to the main transcript which remained unchanged. Similar results under the same stimulating conditions were obtained at the protein level showing the induction of a less abundant 100 kDa band with no change in expression of the higher molecular weight protein band. These results support the presence of two trout genes for calnexin that are regulated differently under ER stress conditions and perhaps performing unique biological functions. Importantly, according to their predicted cDNA sequences their difference in size might be more due to post translational modification rather than simply amino acid differences.

In contrast to what was seen here with trout calnexin, trout calreticulin was identified as a single copy gene in trout and failed to upregulate under several ER stress conditions [117]. This suggests that fish calnexin may perform functions during ER stress that calreticulin cannot. Under normal conditions, trout calreticulin expression was found to be highest in the liver [117] while trout calnexin seems to be more abundant in immune system organs. Interestingly, while calnexin deficient mice display impaired motor function they are not embryonic lethal [168] while calreticulin deficient mice exhibit an embryonic lethal phenotype due to a defect in heart development [169]. In addition, it has been recently demonstrated that both genes are important for generation of neuromasts during lateral line development in zebrafish using calnexin and calreticulin knockout morpholinos, however the calnexin knockout had a more profound effect on this development [170]. These results suggest that both in mammals and in fish, calreticulin and calnexin play a role during embryonic development, which suggest these two proteins may have distinctive roles outside of their chaperone function. Monitoring the expression of these two calnexin genes during stages of embryogenesis in rainbow trout could shed a light on their possible unique functions during development.

The immunocytochemistry of calnexin in RTS11 suggests that calnexin is localized to the ER and possibly resides close to the nucleus, as in some cells it showed staining near the nucleus. Interestingly, calnexin has been found as the major calcium binding protein in rat hepatic nuclear membranes although appeared as a minor member of the total nuclear protein [171]. In addition, immunostaining of calnexin in rat epithelial cells has demonstrated a reticular network structure and nuclear envelope staining [26] supporting our findings. It may be that the trout calnexin without the ER retention signal can escape the ER and perhaps be localized in the nuclear periphery where it can regulate calcium levels in this region. However, further experimentation with monoclonal antibodies to each specific form is required to see which form(s) is localized to the nuclear region.

The role of calnexin as a chaperone has been widely investigated in mammals, however some research conducted in yeast and the microorganism *Dictyostelium* shed a light on the other important cellular functions of calnexin such as during apoptosis and phagocytosis. The first report linking calnexin to apoptosis was conducted in an S. pombe yeast two hybrid system demonstrating that calnexin is required for cell death mediated by the interaction of its cytosolic tail with the pro-apoptotic protein BAK [172]. Later studies in mammals using calnexin-deficient cells further demonstrated its possible role in mediating apoptosis as these cells showed resistance to ER stress induced apoptosis [133, 173]. Another surprising function for calnexin came from a study with *Dictyostelium*, the only microorganism containing both calnexin and calreticulin proteins. This study showed that co-disruption of calnexin and calreticulin results in severely impaired phagocytosis and compromised growth of the phagocytic cups [130], pointing to a possible primary function for calnexin in this organism. This highlights the significance of studying the evolution of this molecule. This study reports the first identification of calnexin sequences in a salmonid species, suggests that this gene is duplicated in the trout genome and shows for the first time the possible differential regulation of the two forms under ER stress stimulating conditions, which is not seen for calreticulin. Further research will focus on its role in the MH class I assembly and its possible interaction with fish viral glycoproteins.

Chapter 4

Tapasin protein distribution in rainbow trout and its regulation during viral mimic and viral infection

4.1 Introduction

Major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I receptors are expressed on the cell surface of all nucleated cells and present peptides derived from intracellular proteins to CD8+ T lymphocytes. Peptides are generated by the proteasome and delivered into the lumen of the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) by TAP, which associates with the MHC class I receptor through endogenous antigen presentation pathway specific chaperone: tapasin also known as TAP binding protein (TAPBP) [6, 174]. Co-immunoprecipitation studies in human cells have identified tapasin as a 48 kDa protein associated with TAP, MHC class I and calreticulin [44]. Molecular cloning revealed its identity as a transmembrane glycoprotein containing immunoglobulin superfamily motifs and putative ER retention signal, encoded by a gene that is linked to the MHC [42]. Evidence for its possible function came from a study using the human cell line .220, a lymphoblastoid cell line which does not express tapasin, which demonstrated a lack of any association between MHC class I and TAP, and displayed low levels of MHC class I on the cell surface [175]. The normal phenotype was restored upon transfection with a gene producing recombinant tapasin [42]. Later, studies with tapasin deficient mice showed that not only was the MHC class I surface expression impaired but CD8+ responses during viral infection were also compromised [176, 50].

Additional insights into the functional role of tapasin during antigen presentation came from studies in mammals that focused on its role in optimizing the selection of peptides loaded into the MHC class I receptor, favouring peptides with longer half-life [49, 177, 178], similar to the role of HLA-DM with MHC class II molecules [179]. However the mechanisms by which this role is carried out are still not completely understood. In mammals, the protein levels of tapasin along with other molecules involved in MHC class I assembly such as TAP, β 2m and the proteasomal subunits were shown to be induced by the interferon response due to the presence of interferon factor binding elements in the promoter regions of these genes [180, 181].

Tapasin expression in mammals was shown to increase upon infection with the intracellular bacteria: em Listeria monocytogenes and also during treatment with IFN γ in primary embryonic mouse fibroblasts [43]. In salmonid fish, the tapasin gene was shown to be upregulated during *in vivo* infection with two pathogenic viruses: Infectious salmon anaemia virus (ISAV) and Infectious hematopoietic necrosis virus (IHNV) [86, 122] coordinated increased transcriptional expression of MH class I heavy chain and $\beta 2m$ [99, 98]. Furthermore, tapasin promoter reporter assays demonstrated that tapasin promoters respond to the interferon regulatory factors, Onmy-IRF1 and Onmy-IRF2 [86], which supports its transcriptional activation by the interferon response.

The chum salmon virus (CSV) is a non-pathogenic virus which belongs to the dsRNA aquareovirus family [182, 183]. It has been demonstrated that pre-exposure of rainbow trout to CSV can offer better protection against subsequent infection with IHNV [184]. Later, it was shown that CSV infection can induce the expression of antiviral genes such as MX and vig1 in RTS11 and RTG-2 cells [185], which may contribute to the cells resistance to this virus. In this report, polyclonal antibodies against trout tapasin were developed which allowed the characterization of its protein distribution in trout tissues and cell lines as well as the monitoring of its regulation during poly I:C stimulation and CSV infection in RTS11 cells.

4.2 Materials and methods

4.2.1 Fish

Rainbow trout were obtained from Silver Creek Aquaculture (Erin, ON) and kept in 200 litre fresh-water flow-through tanks at the University of Waterloo under 12:12 h light-dark

cycle. Water temperature was maintained continuously at 13°C. Fish were fed 5 days/week with commercial dry pellet (5 point floating trout chow from Martin Mills, Elmira, ON). All fish were kept and handled under a permit from the University of Waterloo Animal Care committee according to CCAC guidelines. Adult fish (800 ~ grams) were anaesthetised with 1 mL/L of 2-phenoxyethanol (Sigma Aldrich St. Louis, MO). Blood was drawn from the caudal sinus as previously described [149] Tissue samples were collected in RNAlater and stored at -80°.

4.2.2 Cell Lines

RTS11 is a rainbow trout spleen monocyte/macrophage cell line [107] and was maintained at 20°C in Leibovitzs L-15 media (ThermoFisher Scientific, Nepean, ON) with 20% FBS containing 150 U/mL of penicillin and 150 μ g/mL streptomycin in 25 cm² culture Falcon flasks. RTS11 cells were sub-cultured every 10-14 days by passaging half of the growthconditioned medium with the cells into new culture vessels containing equal volumes of fresh medium. The following cell lines were maintained in L-15 with 10% FBS in 75 cm² culture Falcon flasks and sub-cultured biweekly by trypsin (Lonza, Allendale, NJ). CHSE-214 from chum salmon embryo, RTL-W1 from trout liver [108], RTgill-W1 from trout gill [109], RTgutGC from trout intestinal tract [186]. The salmonid cell lines were grown at 20°C.

Propagation of Chum Salmon Reovirus

Chum Salmon Reovirus (CSV) was obtained from ATCC and routinely propagated on permissible CHSE-214 cultures in L-15 media with 5% FBS at 18°C as previously described [187, 185]. Virus-containing supernatants were collected on day 7 post-infection (p.i.). The supernatants were centrifuged at $4500 \times g$ for 5 minutes at 4°C, filtered through 0.2 μ m membranes (Pall Corporation, Mississauga, ON), aliquotted and frozen at -80° C until used. Viral titers were determined by TCID₅₀/mL assays using CHSE-214 reporter cell line as previously described elsewhere [187].

Infection of RTS11 cells with CSV

Approximately 3×10^6 RTS11 cells/well were seeded L-15 with 2% FBS in six well tissue culture plates and subsequently infected with 2.5×10^4 TCID₅₀/mL of CSV. Control cultures had the same number of cells without the virus. Both control and infected cultures were incubated at 14°C for up to 14 days. On selected days post infection cells were collected, washed with ice-cold PBS three times and centrifuged at $500 \times g$ for 4 min at 4°C. Cell pellets were immediately frozen at -80°C. When all samples were collected, cell pellets were thawed on ice and lysed with 100 µL of 1% NP-40 protein containing protease inhibitor (Roche, Mannheim, Germany). Protein concentrations were determined by the BCA protein assay (ThermoFisher Scientific, Nepean, ON).

In vitro stimulation with poly I:C and phyoheamagglutinin

RTS11 cultures were seeded to 2×10^6 in a $25 \, cm^2$ flasks and treated for 24 h with 50 μ g/mL of Polyinosinic-polycytidylic acid (poly I:C) (Sigma Aldrich St. Louis, MO) or 15 μ g/mL of phytohemagglutinin (Sigma Aldrich St. Louis, MO); for controls the same volume of vehicle (PBS) was added. For mRNA analysis, RTS11 cells were treated for 48 h only with poly I:C.

4.2.3 Production of polyclonal antibodies and affinity purification

Rabbit antisera for tapasin were raised against a synthetic peptide conjugated to keyhole limpet haemocyanin (KLH). The peptide was derived from the 21 amino acid C-terminus of trout tapasin (Gene bank ID: AAZ66042.1). Two New Zealand white rabbits (Charles River, ON, CA) were injected intramuscularly with 0.5 mg of tapasin c-terminal peptide with Freund's complete adjuvant (1:1) followed by subsequent peptide boosts of 0.5 mg with Freund's incomplete adjuvant given every three weeks. Rabbits were exsanguinated after 30 weeks and serum was collected and purified using SulfoLink immobilization kit (ThermoFisher Scientific, Nepean, ON) according to manufacturers instruction.

4.2.4 Deglycosylation

Approximately 80 mg of gill tissue was lysed with 1% NP-40 containing 150 mM NaCl, 50 mM Tris [pH 8.0] followed by centrifugation for 15 min at 13,000 rpm at 4°C. Supernatants were collected and concentrated using vivaspin 500 with 3 kDa MWCO (Sartorius, Aubagne, France) according to manufacturers instruction. De-glycosylation with Endo H and N-glycosidase F (New England Biolabs, Ipswich, MA) was performed as previously

described [117]. Enzyme treated and untreated protein lysates were loaded on a 15% gel SDS PAGE gel and blotted with 1:200 anti-tapasin affinity purified antibody.

4.2.5 Western blot

Cell pellets and tissue samples were lysed in 1% NP-40 lysis buffer containing 150 mM NaCl and 50 mM Tris [pH 8.0] supplemented with 1X of protease inhibitor cocktail (Roche, Mannheim, Germany). Thirty μ g of protein samples obtained from tissues or cell lysates were separated on a 12% acrylamide gel and transferred to nitrocellulose membranes (Bio-Rad) overnight. Membranes were blocked with 5% skim milk in TBS-T and probed with 1:200 of affinity purified tapasin antibody and with 1:30000 goat anti-Rabbit alkaline phosphatase (Sigma Aldrich St. Louis, MO). Experiments were repeated three times for both cell line and tissue expression.

4.2.6 Reverse transcription and PCR

RNA was extracted from 2×10^6 RTS11 cells using the Qiagen RNeasy extraction kit according to manufacturers instructions (Qiagen, Mississauga, ON) followed by single strand cDNA synthesis using RevertAid First Strand cDNA Synthesis Kit (ThermoFisher Scientific, Nepean, ON). PCR reactions of 25 μ L included 1x PCR buffer, 200 μ M dNTP mix, 2 μ M MgCl2, 600 nM of forward and reverse primer each, 1 μ L of RTS11 single strand cDNA, and 1U of Taq Polymerase (MP Biomedical, Solon, OH). PCR was performed at 95°C for 3 min followed by 28 cycles of 95°C 40 sec, 54°C 30 sec, 72°C 90 sec with final extension at 72°C using a BioRad DNA Engine thermocycler (BioRad, Mississauga, ON). Densitometry analysis was performed using IMAGE J platform in which changes in tapasin expression relative to S11 control were measured. The S11 and tapasin primers are listed in Table 4.1.

Gene	Primer Forward(5'-3')	Primer reverse(5'-3')
Tapasin	AGGATCCATGGCCAATATTTCAACA	GAAGCTTTTACTTCACTTTCTTCTTCTT
S11	AGCAGCCAACCATCTTCCAG	ACTCTCCGACGGTAACAATG

Table 4.1: Primers sequences for reverse transcription.

4.2.7 Northern blot

RNA was isolated from both rainbow trout tissues and RTS11 using Trizol according to the manufacturer's protocol (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA). Briefly, six μ g of RNA derived from trout tissues or RTS11 cells were loaded on a 1% agarose-Formaldehyde gel and transferred to a positively charged membrane (Roche, Mannheim, Germany), followed by UV crosslinking. The membrane was hybridized, washed and detected as previously described [149]. The primers used to generate the probes are listed in table 4.2 below:

Tapasin domain	Primer Forward(5'-3')	Primer reverse(5'-3')
N terminal	CAGAGGGCTCAGTCCATAAACCACAG	TAGCCCCGCTCCCTTTTCCTTGGTCT
Immunoglobulin	CAGAGGGCTCAGTCCATAAACCACAG	AGACCAAGGAAAGGGAGCGGGGCTA
C terminal	GTGAAG GTGCAATGCGAG	TTACTTCACTTTCTTCTTCTTCTT

Table 4.2: Primers for tapasin cDNA probes.

4.2.8 Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using one-way ANOVA and Tukey's *post hoc* test in order to determine if there was a significant change of tapasin protein levels upon *in vitro* stimulation with poly I:C. A probability of P<0.05 was considered significant.

4.3 Results

4.3.1 Tapasin protein levels in cell lines and tissues under normal conditions

Examination of the cell line and tissue distribution of tapasin protein confirmed its predominant expression as a 48 kDa band which corresponds with its predicted molecular weight. Among tissues being examined, tapasin protein levels was the highest in peripheral blood leukocytes (Figure 4.3.1A) and in the immune system organs: gill, thymus, head kidney and spleen (Figure 4.3.1B) with the least expression in the heart, muscle and liver (data not shown).

Western blotting analysis from trout cell lines indicated that the protein was predominantly expressed in RTS11 as a 48 kDa band and its expression was also observed in nonimmune cell lines such as RTgill-W1 and RTL-W1 with the least expression in RTgutGC



Figure 4.3.1: Western blot detection of tapasin protein in rainbow trout cell lines and tissues under non stimulating conditions.

Protein distribution of tapasin in unstimulated trout cell lines (A) and in unstimulated tissues (B), showing the detection of two distinct bands: the predicted 48 kDa protein and an additional 20 kDa. The position of the molecular mass markers is shown on the right margin.

(Figure 4.3.1A). These results correlated with the transcriptional profile previously found in trout and salmon, however, they did not correspond to high mRNA levels found in both heart and gut [79, 122]. Interestingly, in western blots of cell lines and tissues an additional 20 kDa band was observed with relatively high expression in the RTgutGC cell line and in tissues with immune functions (Figure 4.3.1B) whereas in PBL the 20 kDa band was undetected.

4.3.2 Tapasin transcriptional expression

In order to investigate whether or not the 20 kDa band could be a result of alternative splicing of the tapasin gene, three separate northern blot probes were designed to span the N-terminal, immunoglobulin and C-terminal domains of trout tapasin, respectively. When the immunoglobulin probe was used, only a single transcript band was detected (Figure 4.3.2). An additional smaller sized band was detected at lower expression levels with the N- and C-terminal probes.



Figure 4.3.2: Northern blot showing the tissue distribution of trout tapasin transcript under naive conditions in rainbow trout.

Distribution of trout tapasin transcripts using three distinct probes for: the C terminal domain (A), the N terminal domain (B) and the immunoglobulin domain (C). The arrows on the right margin show the size of the 28S and 18S ribosomal bands.

4.3.3 N-glycosylation of Tapasin

The trout and salmon tapasin proteins both have a putative, conserved N-glycosylation site. In humans, tapasin has been shown to have a single glycosylation site which aligns with with trout tapasin at position 252, and mutation of this site in human tapasin has been shown to reduce the recruitment of calreticulin to the peptide loading complex [188]. To test if the predicted N-glycosylation site of tapasin corresponds to functional glycosylation *in vitro*, lysates from trout gill were treated with EndoH and N-glycosidase F then examined for a shift in tapasin protein size on SDS-PAGE. As seen in Figure 4.3.3, tapasin protein is subjected to N-type glycosylation in the gill tissue, as indicated by its molecular size shift compared to the mock treated sample.



Figure 4.3.3: Western blot analysis of tapasin protein in RTS11 following de-glycosylation. Tapasin protein in the gill following deglycosylation (+) and reaction containing no enzyme (-). The mobility shift after treatment indicates that tapasin is N-glycosylated. The protein mobility with no enzymatic treatment is labeled with two asterisks whereas the protein mobility after enzymatic treatment is labeled with a single asterisk.

4.3.4 Tapsasin protein levels upon immunostimulation and viral infection

To explore the regulation of tapasin protein under interferon mediated conditions, RTS11 cells were stimulated with poly I:C, to mimic a viral infection [189, 190, 121] and monitored for protein expression levels after 24 h. As demonstrated in Figure 4.3.4A, poly I:C stimulation in RTS11 cells induced the expression of tapasin mRNA after 24 h which correlated with a 3.5 fold increase at the protein level compared with the control (Figure 4.3.4B). To test if this upregulation corresponds to a similar induction of the MH class I, RTS11 were stimulated with poly I:C and monitored for the expression of the MH class I heavy chain, known to be glycosylated in the trout [117] and in RTS11 (data not shown).

As seen in Figure 4.3.5, the glycosylated form of the heavy chain was upregulated up to 4 fold in poly I:C treated cells indicating active and enhanced maturation of the MH class I in addition to upregulation of the amount of protein, whereas no change was observed for other MH class I bands, which may be unglycosylated intermediates and/or other allelic forms of the MH class I heavy chain recognized by the antibody. To further study the regulation of tapasin by dsRNA, RTS11 cells were infected for 14 days with the dsRNA chum salmon virus (CSV) [191] and monitored for the expression of tapasin at different time points both at the protein and transcriptional level. As demonstrated in Figure 4.3.6A, tapasin protein is upregulated up to 3 fold compared to the control by day 14 post infection, and this observation was supported by increased transcript levels in infected cells (Figure 4.3.6B). The co-regulation of tapasin and the MH class I protein was evident by a coordinated increase in glycosylated MH class I heavy chain during infection



Figure 4.3.4: Tapasin transcript and protein levels in RTS11 cell line after *in vitro* induction with poly I:C.

A) Northern blot analysis showing tapasin mRNA expression level in RTS11 after 48 h of *in vitro* induction with 50 μ g/mL of poly I:C. The arrows on the right margin show the estimated size of the 28S and 18S ribosomal bands. B) Tapasin protein levels in the RTS11 cell line after 24 h of *in vitro* induction with 50 μ g/mL of poly I:C. The graph in A demonstrates the ratio between tapasin transcript and the 28S ribosomal bands and is representative of two separate experiments. The graph in B shows the ratios between the tapasin and actin bands and are representative of three separate experiments. Error bars represent the standard error. Significant differences between the control and treatment groups are represented by ** (p<0.003).

which peaked up to four fold 14 days post infection (Figure 4.3.7). In contrast to the induction of the 48 kDa tapasin protein, a decrease in expression levels were observed for the 20 kDa band during poly I:C treatment (Figure 4.3.4B), while no overall change in expression was detected for the 20 kDa band during CSV infection (data not shown).





Western blot analysis demonstrating the protein levels of the MH class I after 48 h of *in vitro* induction with 50 μ g/mL of poly I:C. Double lanes for each time point represent loading of two separate experimental repeats. The position of the MH class I glycosylated (MH I–glyc) and the main lower MH I bands are indicated by the arrowheads on the right margin. Densitometry analysis was conducted using image J software (version 1.44). Graphs show the ratio between MH class I and the prominent Ponceau stain band. Bars represent the standard error. These results are representative of two separate experiments.





A) Tapasin protein levels in CSV infected RTS11 for 14 days. Densitometry analysis was conducted using image J software (version 1.44). Graphs represent the ratios between the tapasin and the actin protein bands and bars represent the standard error. These results are representative of two separate experiments.B) RT PCR analysis showing tapasin transcript expression in RTS11 cells following three days of CSV infection. Results are expressed as the ratios between the tapasin and S11 protein amplicons. The vertical bars represent the standard error. These results represent two separate experiments.



Figure 4.3.7: MH class I protein levels in RTS11 infected with chum salmon virus.

Western blot analysis showing the MH class I protein levels in RTS11 infected with CSV for 14 days. The position of the MH class I glycosylated (MH I-glyc) and the additional lower MH I band are indicated by the arrowheads on the left margin. The graph in the lower left panel shows the ratio between the glycosylated MH class I and actin protein bands. Vertical error bars represent the standard error. These results are representative of two separate experiments.

4.4 Discussion

The tapasin gene has been previously characterized in teleost fish [86, 122, 192, 193] and, in rainbow trout, has been shown to reside within the MH class I region where it has promoter elements responding to interferon regulatory factors [86]. Interestingly, in trout there are two gene copies for tapasin: a truncated version missing most of the immunoglobulin domains, transmembrane domain and the C terminus (TAPBP.b) that is located on the class Ib region between MH class I UCA and UDA and a full length version (TAPBP.a) which is linked to the class Ia locus together with other antigen processing genes [86]. The full length teleost tapasin shares common features with human tapasin such as a predicted leader peptide, immunoglobulin superfamily domains, transmembrane domain and an ER retention signal as well as a single potential glycosylation site. Unlike other trout ER chaperones such as calreticulin, ERp57 and calnexin that share high sequence identity with their mammalian orthologues, the trout tapasin protein sequence is much less conserved with only 30% identity.

4.4.1 Tapasin protein levels under naive conditions

To study tapasin protein distribution and its regulation during viral infection, polyclonal antibodies were developed against the C-terminal domain of tapasin, the domain known to associate with TAP. Cell line and tissue expression patterns demonstrated that the trout version of this protein is detected as a 48 kDa N-glycosylated band that is primarily expressed in cells and tissues of the immune system. Furthermore, an additional 20 kDa band was also detected in the cell lines and tissues, with the highest expression in RTgutGC while no expression of this form was observed in peripheral blood leukocytes. Interestingly, evidence for tapasin alternative splice variants was recently described in human melanoma cell line, which contained transcripts with a deletion of exon three encoding a variant protein that interacts with TAP, however could not support the MHC class I assembly and surface expression on the cell surface when transfected into tapasin deficient cell lines [194].

4.4.2 Tapasin transcript distribution in trout

To explore the possibility of a trout alternative splicing variant which might produce the 20 kDa protein, three separate northern blot probes were generated against the proxi-

mal, middle and distal domain of trout tapasin. Our results demonstrate the presence of one main transcript for tapasin in all trout tissues, with a minor band detected by the C-terminal and N-terminal probes, suggesting a splice product missing the immunoglobulin domains in a manner similar to the human melanoma specific form mentioned above, although the proportion of the minor transcript does not match the proportion of total protein represented by the 20 kDa band. Additionally, RACE experiments aimed at isolating a variant transcript sequence failed to produce a shorter tapasin transcript and are being further explored. The other possibility could be a different gene for tapasin, similar to TAPBP.b, with a unique promoter. It is possible that the trout TAPBP.b gene which codes for a transcript with deleted 3' end [86] may encode the 20 kDa protein band. In this case however, it would have to contain the last 21 amino acids of tapasin since that is the epitope the antibody recognises. However, Landis et al. [86] were unable to identify a transcript from this gene that contained that sequence. Thus, isolation of the full length 3' coding sequence of TAPBP.b is necessary to validate if this gene encodes for a protein with a cytoplasmic tail that could be this 20 kDa form of tapasin.

4.4.3 Tapasin protein expression following dsRNA stimulation and CSV infection

Human genes that participate in the antigen presentation pathway, which include the MHC I, $\beta 2$ microglobulin, TAP1, TAP2, and tapasin are transcriptionally induced by interferon gamma (IFN γ) [43, 195, 196, 197]. Sequence analysis of the mammalian and trout tapasin promoter revealed consensus binding sites for interferon regulatory factor, IRF-1 and IRF-2 [86, 195, 181, 198] that contributes to the transcriptional induction of tapasin during the activation of the immune response. In this study, the expression of tapasin protein was investigated upon treatment with the synthetic dsRNA poly I:C and during infection with CSV in RTS11 cells. Expression levels of tapasin protein were enhanced up to 3.5 fold after 24 h of poly I:C treatment, which correlated with an approximate 9 fold increase in transcript levels. In Atlantic salmon kidney cells, the transcript expression of tapasin measured by real time PCR was shown to increase only up to 3.5 fold after 24 h of treatment with 10 μ g/m of poly I:C, however expression continued to increase until three days post stimulation where it peaked at 15 fold which further supports the conserved transcriptional activation of tapasin by synthetic double stranded RNA [122]. The mechanism involved in tapasin induction in RTS11 was shown to possibly involve the IFN γ pathway that is known to be exclusive to immune system cells [92]. A microarray analysis that characterized the transcriptional response of RTS11 after 6 hours of recombinant IFN γ treatment demonstrated a strong induction of IRF-1 and class I pathway genes, among which tapasin was most strongly expressed, whereas the fold increase of the MH class I transcript was found to be relatively low at this time point [199]. Here, upon stimulation with both poly I:C and CSV, the protein levels of tapasin protein reached to higher levels compared to MH class I. This strong upregulation can act to rapidly increase tapasin protein level, which is relatively low levels under constitutive conditions.

Interestingly, previous studies in mammalian cells showed that the induction of TAP1 by cytokines such as IFN β and IFN γ was significantly more rapid than the MHC class I both at the mRNA and the protein level [200], however the induction of the mammalian tapasin appears to be slower than TAP1 and LMP [43], which may not be the same case for fish, based on the results at the transcript level [122, 199]. Interestingly, no change was observed in the expression of the 20 kDa tapasin band during treatment with dsRNA or chum salmon viral infection, which implies that full length tapasin protein and the 20 kDa protein band are differentially regulated and possibly play different roles in the immune response. In summary, this report demonstrates the cell line and tissue distribution of trout tapasin protein and shows for the first time the induction of tapasin protein during CSV infection and following poly I:C treatment which supports its conserved function in the assembly of the MH class I. Further research will aim to reveal tapasins interaction with the MH class I as part of the MH class I peptide loading complex in fish and elucidate the identity and function of the 20 kDa tapasin variant.

Chapter 5

Induction of MH class I and accessory proteins by viral haemorrhagic septicaemia virus

5.1 Introduction

The MHC class I receptor is expressed on the cell surface of all nucleated cells in vertebrates and is responsible for the display of foreign peptide fragments derived from intracellular pathogens. In order to assure the stability of the MHC class I receptor during export and on the cell surface, a stringent and specialized MHC class I pathway has evolved in the ER to facilitate the optimal folding of the MHC class I with a diverse pool of peptides. This process is executed in mammals by the assembly of the peptide loading complex which involves multiple protein interactions that includes the heterodimer MH class I- β 2m, ERp57, tapasin, calreticulin and an endogenous peptide [6, 174, 8].

The first teleost major histocompatibility (MH) gene fragments were isolated from carp [60] and later genomic linkage studies mapped a unique architecture in which the MH class I and class II loci do not reside on the same chromosome as found in mammals. However, the genes for the proteasomal subunits: low molecular mass polypeptide low molecular mass polypeptide (LMP2, LMP2/ δ), TAP heterodimer and tapasin (TAPBP.A) are linked to the teleost class Ia locus [83, 84], which highlights their role as a functional co-operative unit in antigen presentation. in mammals, genes encoding the class I pathway are regulated by the action of the interferons (IFN), which are rapidly induced during viral infections. Receptor

binding of interferon on the cell surface of both immune and non-immune cells activates a JAK-STAT pathway which subsequently turns on the expression of many interferon stimulated genes (ISG) including the MHC class I pathway genes [93, 94]. Studies in salmonid fish have demonstrated a similar interferon mediated response that results in the transcriptional induction of the MH class I pathway during in vivo infections with infectious hematopoietic virus (IHNV) and infectious salmon anemia virus (ISAV) [98, 99]. In addition, promoter analysis of these genes in trout revealed putative regulatory factor (IRF) and IFN γ binding site (GAS) supporting their activation by interferon [98, 99].

Viral haemorrhagic septicaemia virus (VHSV) is the cause of a fish viral disease that affects both freshwater and marine species in the northern hemisphere, causing major economic impact in cultured species such as rainbow trout [201]. Classified in the Novirhabdovirus genus within the Rhabdoviridae family, VHSV contains a non-segmented, single stranded RNA genome that encodes five basic structural proteins comprising nucleoprotein (N), phosphoprotein (P), matrix protein (M), glycoprotein (G), RNA polymerase (L), and a single non-structural protein, called non-virion (NV) protein [202]. Four major genotypes of VHSV have been identified based on phylogenetic tree analysis of the N and the G sequences: I, II, III and IV [203]. The genotype IV is further subdivided into VHSV IVa and VHSV IVb in which IVa genotype is endemic to a wide range of pacific fish species and cause low mortality in rainbow trout [204].

Although, much progress has been made in recent years in understanding the anti-viral mechanisms against this virus both *in vitro* and *in vivo*, little is known about the possible temperature regulation of the MH class I antigen presentation machinery at the protein level during the course of rhabdoviral infection. Interestingly, a study conducted with the murine lymphoma RMA-S cell line demonstrated that at a low temperature (26°C) relative to murine cells, MHC class I molecules can dimerize with $\beta 2m$, and exit the Golgi to the plasma membrane, but do not contain a bound peptide and therefore fail to present antigen to cytotoxic T cells [100]. This finding raises an interesting question about how antigen presentation is maintained during viral infection in poikilothermic animals, such as bony fish, as their physiology and immune response change in response to their environmental temperature.

It has been previously demonstrated in carp that expression of class I heavy chain $-\beta 2m$, heterodimer is abolished at 6°C in PBL, while surface expression of immunoglobulin on the surface of B cells remained unchanged [205]. This study showed that surface expression of the MH class I molecule can be restored after 6 days when the fish are returned to 12°C and that the lack of expression at 6°C was mediated by down regulation of β 2m transcription [205]. However, a study with rainbow trout and atlantic salmon showed that the cellular levels of β 2m can be maintained at 2°C in both species and indicated on a persistent surface expression of β 2m in PBL at this temperature [101].

Monocyte/macrophage cell lines have been useful tools to study many aspects of immunology including antigen processing and presentation. The monocyte/macrophage RTS11 cell line was developed from the spleen of rainbow trout and demonstrated characteristics of antigen-presenting cells [206, 185, 199, 79, 107, 207]. Thus in this study, RTS11 cell line was used to study the effect of temperature on the regulation of MH class I antigen presentation in response to VHSV IVa both at 14°C and 2°C to better understand antigen presentation mechanisms responsible for resistance to infection at cold temperature.

5.2 Materials and methods

5.2.1 Fish and VHSV IVb infection trial

Rainbow trout (10–15 g) were obtained from Lyndon Fish Hatcheries (New Dundee, ON) and kept at 13°C in 60 L tanks in a single–pass well water at the University of Guelph under 12:12 h light-dark cycle. Fish were fed with commercial dry pellet (Martin Mills, Elmira, ON) in a ration of 1% of their body weight. Experimental infections with VHSV IVb were conducted in rainbow trout (n=21) for 14 days. Fish were injected intraperitoneally with 100 μ L of 1 × 10⁷ TCID₅₀/mL of VHSV IVb. Three fish were used as a negative control and injected i.p. with 100 μ L of minimum essential Medium (MEM). Fish were sacrificed at various time points and tissues from the gill, spleen and head kidney were collected in RNAlater and kept at -80°C until later use. Animals were kept according to the guidelines under the approval of the University of Guelph. Virus isolation and propagation was performed as previously described [208].

5.2.2 Fish Cell Lines

The rainbow trout spleen monocyte/macrophage cell line RTS11 [107] was grown in Leibovitzs L-15 medium (ThermoFisher Scientific, Nepean, ON) with 20% FBS, 100 U/mL penicillin and 100 μ g/mL streptomycin (ThermoFisher Scientific, Nepean, ON) in 25 cm² culture flasks at 20°C and sub-cultured every 10-14 days. The EPC cell line derived from fathead minnow [209] was maintained in L-15 medium with 10% FBS and antibiotics in $75 \, cm^2$ culture flasks at 26°C and sub-cultured every 7 days by using trypsin (Lonza, Allendale, NJ).

5.2.3 Propagation of VHSV

VHSV genotype IVa isolated from Pacific herring [210] was routinely propagated on permissible EPC cultures in L-15 with 2% FBS at 14°C. Virus-containing supernatants were collected on day 10 when severe cytopathic effects were observed. The supernatants were centrifuged at 4500 × g for 5 minutes at 4°C, filtered through 0.2 μ m membranes (Pall Corporation, Mississauga, ON), aliquoted and frozen at -80° C until used. Viral titers were determined by TCID₅₀/mL assays using EPC cell line for VHSV IVa, as previously described [207].

5.2.4 Infection of RTS11 cells with viruses

L-15 with 2% FBS was used for all infection experiments. Approximately 3×10^6 RTS11 cells/well were seeded in six-well tissue culture Falcon plates and subsequently infected with 1.5×10^7 TCID₅₀/mL of VHSV IVa at either 2°C or 14°C for 14 days. Control cultures had the same number of cells in L-15 medium with 2% FBS without virus. Cells were harvested on selected days, washed with ice-cold PBS twice and then pelleted at $500 \times g$ for 4 min at 4°C and immediately frozen at -80° C until all samples were collected.

5.2.5 In vitro stimulation with poly I:C

About 2×10^6 RTS11 cells were seeded in L-15 with 10% FBS into 25 cm^2 Falcon flasks and treated for 72 h with 50 μ g/mL of polyinosinic-polycytidylic acid (poly I:C) in PBS (Sigma Aldrich, St. Louis, MO). For control samples the same amount of vehicle was added.

5.2.6 Western blot

Cell pellets and tissues were lysed in 1% NP-40 lysis buffer containing 150 mM NaCl and 50 mM Tris [pH 8.0] supplemented with 1x of protease inhibitor cocktail (Roche, Mannheim, Germany). Protein concentrations were determined by the BCA protein assay

(ThermoFisher Scientific, Nepean, ON). Cell lysates were separated on a 12% acrylamide gel and transferred to nitrocellulose membranes (Bio-Rad, Mississauga, ON) overnight. Membranes were blocked with 5% skim milk in TBS-T and probed with rabbit polyclonal antibodies raised against trout recombinant proteins as follows: MH class I heavy chain (1:500), MH class II β (1:500), $\beta 2m$ (1:500) ERp57 (1:1000), calreticulin (1:500) and tapasin antibody (1:200) generated against the C-terminal domain of trout tapasin. Membranes were subsequently probe with 1:30000 goat anti-rabbit alkaline phosphatase (Sigma Aldrich, St. Louis, MO) and detected using NBT/BCIP (Roche, Mannheim, Germany) according to the manufacturers instruction. Densitometry analyses of the MH class I heavy chain was conducted by image J software (version 1.44) only for the MH class I glycosylated band, which represents the native and active form of this protein.

5.2.7 Reverse transcription and PCR

RNA was extracted from 2×10^6 RTS11 cells using RNeasy extraction kit according to manufacturers instructions (Qiagen, Mississauga, ON) followed by single strand cDNA synthesis using a Fermentas RevertAid First Strand cDNA Synthesis Kit (ThermoFisher Scientific, Nepean, ON). The PCR reaction of 25 μ L included 1x PCR buffer, 200 μ M dNTP mix, 2 mM MgCl2, 1 μ L of RTS11 single strand cDNA template and 1 U of Taq Polymerase (MP Biomedical, Solon, OH). PCR was performed at 95°C for 3 min followed by 28 cycles of 95°C 40 sec, 54°C 30 sec, 72°C 90 sec, with final extension at 72°C using a BioRad DNA Engine thermocycler (BioRad,Mississauga, ON). Primers used are indicated in Table 5.1 below:

Gene	Primer Forward(5'-3')	Primer reverse(5'-3')
MH class I	AAGCTTAACATGAAGGGTATTATCTTG	CGGCCGGAGGTCTCTCAAATCTTCTGG
Tapasin	AAGCTTATGTCGATGCCAATT	CGGCCCGATTCTAGAGCACCCCAGAAGAC
$\beta 2\mathrm{m}$	AAGCTTATGAAGTCTATTCTGTTAATC	GAATTCCCAGATCCTTACATATCTGC
S11	AGCAGCCAACCATCTTCCAG	ACTCTCCGACGGTAACAATG

Table 5.1: Primers sequences for reverse transcription.

5.2.8 Northern blot

RNA was isolated from head kidney and gill using Trizol according to the manufacturer's protocol (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA). Six μ g of RNA derived from trout tissues was loaded on a 1% agarose-formaldehyde gel and transferred to a positively charged membrane (Roche, Mannheim, Germany), followed by UV crosslinking. The membrane was hybridized, washed and detected as previously described [149]. The primers used to generate a cDNA probe for the Ig domain of tapasin were as follows: forward 5' CA-GAGGGCTCAGTCCATAAACCACAG 3' and reverse 5' AGACCAAGGAAAGGGAGCG-GGGCTA 3'.

5.2.9 Detection of β 2 microglobulin accumulation in conditioned media

Approximately 6×10^6 RTS11 cells in L–15 with 2% FBS were seeded per well in six well tissue culture plates and subsequently inoculated with 300 µL of 1.5×10^9 TCID₅₀/mL of VHSV IVa. To ensure the same final volume, 300 µL of fresh L–15 with 2% FBS was added into control cultures. Both control and virally infected cultures were incubated at 14°C for up to 14 days. Conditioned media was collected in 15 mL conical tubes and centrifuged at 500 × g for 4 min at 4°C to remove cells. The supernatants were syringe-filtered through 0.2 µm low-protein-binding membranes (Pall Corporation, Mississauga, ON). The flow-through media were subsequently frozen at -20° C until all samples were collected. Cell pellets were washed with ice-cold PBS twice and re-suspended in 1 mL of ice cold PBS on ice. Seventy five microliters of the cell suspensions were taken to determine the cell concentrations by the Moxi ZTM Mini Automated Cell Counter (Orflo Technologies, Hailey, ID); each sample was counted twice. Cell suspensions were then pelleted at $1000 \times g$ for 3 min at 20°C. Cell numbers were determined for each time point by the Scepter 2.0 handheld automated cell counter (Millipore, Billerica, MA) and cell pellets were stored at -80° C for western blotting to show β -actin protein levels.

5.2.10 Immunocytochemistry

Five hundred μ L of 2 × 10⁵ RTS11 cells were plated in L-15 with 2% FBS in four chamber slides (Millipore, Billerica, MA). Infected cultures were treated with 50 μ L of 1.5 × 10⁹ TCID₅₀/mL of VHSV IVa at 14°C. After 7 days, cultures were gently washed with PBS once and then fixed in 0.25% paraformaldehyde for 20 min at 4°C. Both infected and non-infected cultures were blocked in 1% bovine serum albumin in PBS for one hour and then probed with rabbit affinity-purified anti-trout MH I α at 1:50 in blocking buffer overnight. After washing for three times with PBS, cultures were probed with AlexaFlour 488-conjugated goat anti-rabbit IgG (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) at 1:3000 in PBS for one hour. To determine unspecific binding, both infected and non-infected cultures were probed with secondary antibody only. All cultures were gently washed with PBS three times. Slides were allowed to dry at room temperature and then mounted with Fluoroshield with DAPI (Sigma Aldrich, St. Louis, MO) for 10 minutes.

5.2.11 Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using one-way ANOVA and Tukeys post hoc test. A probability of P < 0.05 was considered significant.

5.3 Results

5.3.1 Expression of MH class I and associated chaperones in poly IC stimulated RTS11

Poly I:C, is a double stranded RNA mimic known to induce anti-viral state in fish through the induction of interferons (IFNs) [190, 211, 212, 121]. To explore the regulation of the MH class I during interferon stimulating conditions, RTS11 cells were induced with 50 μ g/mL of poly I:C, a concentration previously shown to upregulate β 2m at the protein level in RTS11 cells [79].

As shown in Figure 5.3.1, the MH class I heavy chain is detected as two similar sized 45 kDa bands which represent the two forms of the MH class I heavy chain: the glycosylated (upper band) and non glycosylated (lower band) [117], with some minor bands which represent the other allelic forms of the protein. The glycosylated heavy chain band was enhanced by poly I:C stimulation whereas no change was observed for the other MH class I protein bands. The MH class I heavy chain, β 2m and tapasin were upregulated after three days of treatment up to 2.5, 3.2 and 5.3 fold respectively, which demonstrates that their relative induction by poly I:C varies in magnitude. In contrast to the increased levels of MH class I, no change was observed in the protein levels for ERp57 and calreticulin.



Figure 5.3.1: Protein levels of the MH class I machinery after *in vitro* induction with poly I:C in RTS11 cells.

Western blot analysis showing protein levels of MH class I heavy chain, $\beta 2m$ and associated chaperones in RTS11 upon treatment with 50 μ g/mL of poly I:C for 72 h. The arrowhead represents the position of the glycosylated MH class I band. Densitometry analysis was conducted using Image J software and results are expressed as the ratios between the MH class I complex proteins and the actin bands. These results are representative of two separate experiments. Bars represent the standard error.

5.3.2 Expression of MH class I and associated chaperones in VHSV IVa simulated RTS11 at 14 degrees

In order to study the expression of the MH class I pathway proteins in response to rhabdovirus infection, RTS11 cells were infected with VHSV IVa. As shown in Figure 5.3.2, while inducible expression of the MH class I heavy chain and β 2m, was observed, no change in the overall expression was observed for MH class II protein, perhaps demonstrating the importance of the MH class I pathway versus the MH class II response during the early stages of VHSV infection. MH class I protein expression in viral infected cells increased up to 1.8 fold on day 3 followed by a 4.6 fold increase on day 14. The increased protein level of MH class I were also observed during VHSV IVb infection *in vivo* which indicated on upregulation of the MH class I starting from day 3 p.i. up to day 14 in the gill tissue (Figure 5.3.3).

Similarly to poly I:C stimulation, no change in expression levels was observed for ERp57 and calreticulin whereas tapasin expression levels were induced to highest level on day 14 (Figure 5.3.4) post infection (p.i.). Furthermore, at the transcript level, tapasin was induced up to six fold three days p.i., which was shown to be in line with the upregulation



Figure 5.3.2: Western blot analysis showing protein levels of MH class I, MH class II β and β 2m in RTS11 cells during VHSV IVa infection at 14 degrees.

Protein levels of MH class I heavy chain, $\beta 2m$ in RTS11 using control cells and cells infected with VHSV IVa at 14 degrees for 14 days. Densitometry analysis for MH class I heavy chain was conducted using Image J software. Bars represent the standard error. These results are representative of two separate experiments. The position of the glycosylated MH class I band is represented by the arrowhead.

seen at the protein level. Increased levels of tapasin were also observed during infection of rainbow trout with VHSV IVb in both head kidney and gill tissues which indicate that induction of tapasin during VHSV infection also occurs *in vivo*.

Interestingly, no change in the transcript expression was observed for $\beta 2m$ and only a 1.3 fold increase was observed for the MH class I heavy chain (Figure 5.3.5), suggesting on their later induction at the transcriptional level during VHSV IVa infection.



Figure 5.3.3: Western blot analysis showing protein levels of MH class I heavy chain and $\beta 2m$ in rainbow trout gill tissue upon *in vivo* infection with VHSV IVb.

Rainbow trout were infected with VHSV IVb for 14 days and monitored for the protein levels of MH I and $\beta 2m$ in gill tissue on day 0 (D0), day 3 (day 3) and day 7 (D7). Day 0 samples were obtained from a negative control fish. Tissue lysates for each time point were obtained from three individual fish (F) and used as triplicates.



Figure 5.3.4: Western blot analysis showing protein levels of ERp57, calreticulin and tapasin in RTS11 during VHSV IVa infection.

Protein levels of ERp57, calreticulin, tapasin in RTS11 using control cells and cells infected with VHSV IVa at 14 degrees for 14 days. These results represent a single experiment.



Figure 5.3.5: RT PCR analysis of MH class $\beta 2m$, tapasin expression in RTS11 after three days of infection with VHSV IVa.

Transcripts expression levels of MH class I, $\beta 2m$, tapasin in RTS11 after three days of infection with VHSV IVa. Densitometry analysis for MH class I heavy chain $\beta 2m$ and tapasin was conducted using Image J software. Vertical bars represent the standard error. These results are representative of two separate experiments. Ribosomal protein S11 amplicons were used as an internal standard control.



Figure 5.3.6: Northern blot analysis of tapasin expression upon *in vivo* infection of rainbow trout with VHSV IVb.

Expression of tapasin transcript in rainbow trout head kidney and gill tissues upon infection with VHSV IVb on day 0 (D0), day 3 (day 3) and day 7 (D7). Day 0 samples were obtained from a negative control fish. The position of 28S and 18S ribosomal bands are shown to indicate the RNA integrity and loading levels.

5.3.3 MH class I surface expression in VHSV IVa infected RTS11 at 14 degrees

In order to determine the MH class I surface expression, cultures of RTS11 were fixed with 0.25% paraformaldehyde to reduce the penetration of the antibody into the cells and allows the detection of MH class I mainly on the cell surface. As shown in Figure 5.3.7, MH class I surface expression was more pronounced in RTS11 infected cells than in the non-infected seven days post infection.



Figure 5.3.7: Immunofluorescence detection of MH class I heavy chain on the cell surface of RTS11 after seven days of infection with VHSV IVa at 14 degrees

Detection of MH class I heavy chain on the cell surface of RTS11 using a rabbit polyclonal antibody and secondary antibody conjugated to Alexafluor 488. Fluoroshield containing DAPI was used for nuclear staining. The negative control was stained with secondary antibody alone.

In addition, a small population of macrophages with a flatter morphology were observed and they were often associated with higher levels of MH class I surface staining, possibly indicating cellular differentiation of monocyte-like cells into differentiated APClike macrophages in response to viral antigens. Moreover, staining of cellular processes was more readily detected in the infected cells perhaps pointing to altered dynamics in the cytoskeleton structure in these cells. These results support the cellular upregulation of the class I molecule at day 7 post infection noted above and further demonstrate that more class I molecules reach the cell surface, suggesting active antigen presentation by RTS11 cells.

5.3.4 β 2m secretion into conditioned media of VHSV IVa infected RTS11

During normal internalization of the MHC class I molecule, $\beta 2m$ can be released at low levels into the extracellular fluid and can be detected in various body fluids such as: urine, plasma and saliva [213, 214, 215]. To investigate the regulation of $\beta 2m$ in RTS11 cells, conditioned media of RTS11 cells were collected to monitor the secretion of $\beta 2m$ under normal and viral induced conditions. As shown in Figure 5.3.8, $\beta 2m$ secretion was detected in RTS11 conditioned media and increased over time during normal conditions, however when levels of secreted $\beta 2m$ were measured in the conditioned media of infected cells, a higher turnover rate was observed which peaked up to 2 fold compared to the control cells 14 days post infection. Cell numbers did not vary significantly between control (non-infected) and infected cultures (data not shown), which indicates that the increased secretion levels detected in the infected cultures is not due to differences in cell numbers, but to increased MH class I antigen presentation pathway activity.



Figure 5.3.8: Western blot analysis showing protein levels of β 2m in conditioned media and levels of MH class I and β 2m in whole cell lysates of control and VHSV IVa infected cells. RTS11 cultures were infected with VHSV IVa for 14 days. Levels of β 2m protein were detected in whole cell lysates and in conditioned media. Densitometry analysis was conducted using Image J software. Statistical analysis was performed using one-way ANOVA and Tukeys *post hoc* test. Significant differences between the control and treatment groups are represented by * (P<0.05) Vertical bars represent the standard error. These results are representative of three separate experiments.
5.3.5 MH class I expression in VHSV IVa infected RTS11 at 2 degrees

As fish susceptibility to viral infection can be dependent on temperature changes in their environment [216, 217], the regulation of the MH class I molecule under temperature dependent conditions was further investigated during VHSV infection.



Figure 5.3.9: Western blot analysis showing protein levels in whole cell lysates of MH class I heavy chain, β 2m and tapasin in RTS11 upon infection for 9 days with VHSV IVa at 14 or 2 degrees.

MH class I heavy chain, $\beta 2m$ and tapasin protein levels in RTS11 upon infection for 9 days with VHSV IVa at 14 or 2 degrees. The arrowhead represents the position of the glycosylated MH class I band. Densitometry analysis was conducted using Image J software. Statistical analysis was performed using one-way ANOVA and Tukeys *post hoc* test. Significance differences between the control and treatment groups is represented by * * (P<0.05) or *** (P<0.001). Vertical bars represent the standard error. These results are representative of three separate experiments.

As shown in Figure 5.3.9, the expression of cellular MH class I heavy chain, $\beta 2m$ and tapasin remained unchanged at 2°C under normal and viral infected conditions.

In contrast, a significant increase in expression was observed for all proteins when infection preceded at 14°C (Figure 5.3.9). Strikingly, when β 2m levels were detected in conditioned media (Figure 5.3.10), a significant decrease in β 2m accumulation was detected at 2°C relatively to cultures maintained at 14°C. Importantly, the decrease in β 2m was also observed during infection with VHSV IVa, which suggests that MH class I antigen presentation and surface expression can be significantly reduced, which can compromise the cellular immunity against VHSV at this temperature.



Figure 5.3.10: Western blot analysis showing $\beta 2m$ secretion in RTS11 upon infection for 9 days with VHSV IVa at 14°C or 2°C.

 β 2m secretory levels in RTS11 upon infection for 9 days with VHSV IVa at 14 or 2 degrees. Densitometry analysis was conducted using Image J software. Vertical bars represent the standard error. These results are representative of three separate experiments.

5.4 Discussion

In this study, the regulation of MH class I and its associated chaperones was examined during an anti-viral response to VHSV IVa at 14°C and 2°C. Unlike other VHSV IVapermissible cell lines such as RTgill-W1 from trout gill epithelium, the failure of VHSV IVa to induce cytopathic effects in RTS11 [207] allows the examination and measurement of prolonged host MH class I expression in response to the virus. It has been recently demonstrated that VHSV IVa can produce viral transcripts in RTS11 cells, however this cell line could not support the production of newly synthesized virions [207]. These finding raise the interesting question whether MH class I molecules can be induced during infection of VHSV IVa when low levels of interferon transcripts are being produced [207] and when viral peptide supply in the cytosol is limited.

5.4.1 Induction of the MH class I but not ERp57 and calreticulin proteins by poly I:C

Poly I:C is known to be a potent inducer of the interferon response and therefore used as a tool to study mimic viral infection [218]. In mammalian dendritic cells has been shown to increase surface expression of MHC class I receptors bound to a peptide [219] and exerted maturation of dendritic cells both phenotypically and functionally by upregulation of molecules such as MHC class II, CD83 and CD86 [218]. Poly I:C treatment in fish was previously shown to induce the transcription of the MH class I antigen presentation genes in the Atlantic salmon kidney (ASK) cell line three days post stimulus [99, 79] which further support the conserved induction of the MHC class I pathway by poly I:C, presumably through the interferon response. In contrast to the up regulation in MH class I, poly I:C treatment failed to induce increased expression of calreticulin and either at the transcriptional level [116].

In mammalian cells, calreticulin was shown to play a role in either inducing or inhibiting cellular proliferation depending on the cell type [220, 221]. Interestingly, a recent study, which used a proteomic approach to find novel TLR3 targets in mammalian cancer cell line, has demonstrated that poly I:C treatment differentially downregulated calreticulin almost 40% compared to the control, which appeared to have a positive effect on cellular proliferation [222]. It remains to be determined if calreticulin expression levels can be altered during poly I:C treatment using other trout cell lines, as calreticulin expression in RTS11 was shown not to be regulated also in response to other stimulants [117]. In addition, similarly to calreticulin, no change was observed for ERp57 at the protein level, following exposure to poly I:C, although, a short transcriptional induction was characterized for trout ERp57 [149].

5.4.2 Induction of the MH class I during VHSV IVa infection but not ERp57 and calreticulin proteins

In this study, the induction of MH class I at both the mRNA and protein level only occurred after day 3 post infection, whereas VHSV infection of the rainbow trout gonadal fibroblastic cell line RTG-2 demonstrated a more rapid induction of MH class I, which was upregulated at 8 h p.i. [213]. The differences in the kinetics of the induction in RTS11 versus RTG-2 could be the result of many possible factors such as: virus strain, viral titre, antibody sensitivities or might be due to distinct MH class I alleles present in these cell lines. Interestingly, RTgill, infected with VHSV IVa demonstrated no change in expression of MH class I three days p.i., although upregulation of MH class I did occur when exposed to poly I:C (data not shown). It is likely that the difference in the MH class I induction between RTgill and RTS11 may lie in the fact that RTgill exhibits CPE on day 4 in response to the virus and therefore induction of MH class I on day 3 can be compromised. Interestingly, albeit the lack of a foreign peptide supply in RTS11 [207], it appears that the presumed induction of the interferon response to VHSV IVa results in

persistent upregulation of the MH class I on the cell surface which can be a signal to alert other immune system cells to possible dsRNA intermediates in the cytosol.

A possible alert mechanism could be that MH class I on the cell surface can bind to exogenous viral peptides by exchanging them with self peptides or by direct binding to empty MH class I receptors. Interestingly, few studies using peptide feeding assays with mammalian cells have shown that MHC class I can bind *in vitro* to exogenously labeled peptides [223, 224, 225, 226, 227], however these assays were performed when peptide concentrations were much higher than normal physiological levels which implies that in live cells, exogenous peptide exchange on the cell surface is probably unlikely. Therefore, it can be alternatively suggested that exogenous VHSV peptides might may bind the MHC class I through the atypical mechanism of cross presentation which allow the access of extracellular peptides into the cytosol followed by presentation by MHC class I receptors [228]. This phenomenon was characterized in a subset of dendritic cells such as plasmacytoid DCs which possess the ability to take up exogenous antigens and present them to T cells [229]. Cross presentation can be advantageous in anti viral immunity when antigen presenting cells are not infected or when viral proteins are not produced.

Presumed uptake of extracellular viral antigens by RTS11 can help to initiate the immune response, albeit the lack of production on VHSV virions in the cytosol. In contrast to the upregulation of tapasin protein during VHSV infection, no change was observed at the protein level for calreticulin or ERp57, nevertheless, inducible expression for the latter has been previously seen following treatment with phytohemagglutinin and during exposure to calcium Ionophore [149]. Although, in this study both ERp57 and calreticulin failed to up regulate during VHSV infection, previous studies in mammalian cells have shown that both calreticulin and ERp57 can be regulated by viruses such as during Hepatitis B virus (HBV) and influenza infection which indicates their possible role in regulating viral replication in those species [230, 231]. Additional studies should be performed to elucidate the regulation of these chaperones in RTS11 during infection.

5.4.3 Extracellular secretion of β 2m during VHSV IVa infection

It has been shown that $\beta 2m$ can be secreted under normal and abnormal physiological conditions by various cell types of hematopoietic, epithelial and mesenchymal origin [232, 233]. This secretion was shown to be partly mediated by interferon gamma and interferon alpha in different human cell lines [234, 235]. It is not yet clear whether the higher release of $\beta 2m$ during VHSV IVa infection is simply a by-product of enhanced MHC class I turnover on the cell membrane or that it has another functional immunological implication. Interestingly, some surprising alternate functions for this molecule were recently revealed. It has been shown in vitro that $\beta 2m$ can induce a chemotactic response in hematopoietic rat bone marrow cells [236, 237] and at high concentration, could alter cellular morphology and reduce the surface expression of the MHC class I in dendritic cells, which suggested its possible role as a regulator of the immune response [238]. It remains to be seen if similar regulatory effects of soluble $\beta 2m$ exist in the immune response of teleosts. It can be suggested that the enhanced secretion of $\beta 2m$ during VHSV IVa infection could be a result of a either poor stability of the MH class I receptor that might arrive on the cell surface without a foreign peptide or that this could be a possible mechanism to exchange the current peptide with other peptides in the surroundings by releasing $\beta 2m$ and subsequently independently engaging new $\beta 2m$ molecules and extracellular foreign peptides.

5.4.4 Protein levels of the MH class I and β 2m during infection with VHSV IVa at 14 degrees and 2 degrees

A study examining the temperature effect on $\beta 2m$ expression in trout and Atlantic salmon showed that $\beta 2m$ protein levels were maintained at 2°C for for 10 days under non-stimulating conditions [99]. In addition, immunohistochemistry showed that the surface expression levels of $\beta 2m$ in peripheral blood leukocytes could persist at the cell surface at 2 degrees in unstimulated cells [99]. However, $\beta 2m$ levels in the media reflect MH class I receptor turnover and thus, it can be speculated that the trafficking and/or delayed transcription/translation of MH class I receptors are likely to be attenuated at low temperature. Thus, under these conditions, antigen presentation on the cell surface can be substantially slowed down, which will allow the virus to replicate freely without being eliminated by immune responses.

5.4.5 Summary

This study demonstrated the induction of the glycosylated MH class I protein in RTS11 cells following poly I:C treatment and during VHSV IVa infection. in RTS11 cells following poly I:C treatment and during VHSV IVa infection. In addition, tapasin expression levels were shown to be unregulated during VHSV IVa infection, whereas no induction was observed for ERp57 or calreticulin. The induction of the MH class I, was found to be temperature sensitive which may partly contribute to compromised immune responses against this virus at this low temperature. Importantly, we demonstrate higher accumulation of β 2m in the conditioned media of RTS11 during VHSV IVa infection, which needs to be further explored for its potential distinctive functions during the activation of the immune response.

Chapter 6

The teleost peptide loading complex

6.1 Introduction

The recognition of intracellular pathogens such as viruses by cytotoxic T cell lymphocytes (CD8+) is mediated through the MHC class I receptor which present foreign peptides on the cell surface that marks infected cells for destruction [20]. The MHC class I molecule is composed of three essential components: the polymorphic heavy chain, $\beta 2$ microglobulin and the foreign peptide which assemble together in endoplasmic reticulum. Lack of any of these three components results in poor stability and degradation of the MHC class I receptor. Therefore, a tightly regulated pathway has evolved in the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) which accommodates the unique folding requirements of the MHC class I receptor and loading it with a diverse pool of peptides [6, 239].

Under normal conditions, peptides to be loaded on the MHC class I are mainly generated by proteasomal cleavage of native proteins or from DRiPs derived from abberent transcription or translation [15]. During infection with intracellular pathogens, the peptides drived from those pathogens are degraded by a proteasome modified to produce MH specific peptides [14]. The trafficking of the peptides from the cytosol into the ER involves the transporter associated with antigen processing (TAP), a member of the ATP binding cassette family which preferentially delivers peptides of 8-16 amino acids [17]. Evidence for TAP function during antigen presentation came from studies using TAP deficient cells which display reduced levels of MHC class I on the cell surface and fail to present endogenous peptides to CD8+ cells [18]. In humans, the folding of the MHC class I receptor can be divided into two distinct steps: during early folding in the ER, the MHC class I heavy chain associates with the lectin chaperone calnexin and also with the thiol-disulfide oxidoreductase, ERp57.

In humans, upon assembly with $\beta 2$ microglobulin, the MHC class I heavy chain is incorporated into the peptide loading complex (PLC) containing TAP, the lectin chaperone calreticulin and a disulphide linked conjugate of tapasin [37, 174] and ERp57 [6, 174, 8]. The first teleost major histocompatibility genes fragments were initially isolated from carp [60] and further research revealed a surprising genetic architecture in which the major histocompatibility genes are not linked as in other vertebrates and therefore they are to referred as MH genes [83, 84].

The teleost genes involved in antigen presentation such as TAP and the proteasome induced subunits LMPs (low molecular mass polypeptide) have been cloned, characterized and mostly mapped as being linked to MH class I classical genes [76, 85]. Later, tapasin and tapasin related genes were identified and were shown to be upregulated during *in vivo* viral infection [86, 122, 98]. In addition, genes encoding the molecular chaperones participating in the peptide loading complex have been identified and studied in several teleost fish [116, 149, 148]. To date, in fish, no studies have investigated the MH class I assembly in the ER, mainly due to the lack of available antibodies. Elucidating this pathway in fish is important for understanding of the immune response in fish, in particular mechanisms of immune surveillance, T cell activation and peptide selection during fish viral infection.

6.2 Material and methods

6.2.1 Fish Cell Lines

RTS11, a rainbow trout spleen monocyte/macrophage cell line [107] was maintained at 20°C in Leibovitzs L-15 medium (ThermoFisher Scientific, Nepean, ON) with 20% FBS containing 150 U/mL of penicillin and 150 mg/mL streptomycin in 75 cm^2 culture flasks. The EPC cell line derived from fathead minnow [209] was maintained in L–15 medium with 10% FBS in 75 cm^2 culture flasks at 26°C and sub-cultured every 7 days by trypsin (Lonza, Allendale, NJ). The following trout cell lines were grown in room temperature in L-15 with 10% FBS, RTmt from the testis and RTovarian fluid from the ovarian fluid (TK Vo and NC Bols). Long-term fin leukocyte-like cultures were grown ex vivo from fin explants from rainbow trout (TK Vo and NC Bols). These cells were maintained in L-15 with 30% FBS at 20°C.

6.2.2 VHSV IVa propagation and Infection of RTS11 cells for immunoprecipiation

North American group viral hemorrhagic septicemia virus IVa isolate (VHSV IVa) from Pacific herring [210] was routinely propagated on EPC cultures in L-15 medium with 2% FBS at 14°C. Once the confluent cell monolayer was completely destroyed, the viruscontaining conditioned media was spun at $4500 \times g$ for 5 minutes at 4°C. The supernatants were filtered through 0.2 μ m membranes (Pall Corporation, Mississauga, ON) and stored in aliquots at -80° C for later use. Viral titres were determined by TCID₅₀/mL assays as previously described [207]. For cell infection, approximately, 1×10^8 RTS11 cells in L-15 media supplemented with 2% FBS were challenged with 1×10^8 TCID₅₀/mL of VHSV IVa. The control (non-infected) flask contained the same number of cells without the virus and incubated for 7 days at 14°C. Cells were then collected and centrifuged at $500 \times g$ for 4 minutes at 4°C. Subsequently, cell pellets were incubated on ice-cold PBS containing 10 mM of methyl methanethiosulfonate (MMTS: ThermoFisher Scientific, Nepean, ON) for 3 minutes followed by quick centrifugation at $500 \times g$ to obtain cell pellets.

6.2.3 Immunoprecipiation

RTS11 and fin primary cultures (1×10^8) were collected and incubated for 2 minutes with PBS (137 mM NaCl, 2.7 mM KCl, 4.3 mM Na₂HPO₄, 1.4 mM KH₂PO₄; pH 7.4) containing 10 mM of MMTS (ThermoFisher Scientific, Nepean, ON). Subsequently, cells were centrifuged at $500 \times q$ for 3 minutes and lysed with 1% digitonin (Sigma Aldrich, St. Louis, MO) containing 10 mM MMTS, 50mM of Tris-HCl, 150 mM of NaCl supplemented with 1X protease inhibitors (Roche, Mannheim, Germany). Cells were rotated at at 4°C for 30 minutes followed by centrifugation at 10,000 rpm for 30 minutes to remove cellular debris. Immunoprecipitation was performed using either 1:50 affinity purified Tapasin antibody, pre immune tapasin rabbit serum 1:200, anti-MH antibody [79] or 1:200 of anti TAP1 antibody (SAB2102370: Sigma Aldrich, St. Louis, MO). Antibodies were rotatated with lystates overnight at 4°C, followed by the addition of 50 μ L of protein A agarose beads (Sigma Aldrich, St. Louis, MO) for 1 h. The beads were spun down by centrifugation at 3000 rpm and subsequently washed three times with 500 μ L of 0.1% of digitonin lysis buffer. Immunoprecipitated elutions were separated on 10% SDS page gel, transferred to a nitrocellulose membrane and probed with either anti MH class I (1:400) antibody, anti-tapasin antibody, anti-human TAP1 and anti-human calnexin (GTX101676) antibody for one hour. Detection was performed using anti-rabbit IgG VeriBlot (HRP) diluted with 1:800 of skim milk and clarity TM (Roche, Mannheim, Germany) according to manufacturers instructions.

6.2.4 Western blotting

For the detection of the interaction between ERp57 and tapasin, non-stimulated RTS11 cells (2×10^6) were collected and incubated for 2 minutes with PBS (137 mM NaCl, 2.7 mM KCl, 4.3 mM Na₂HPO₄, 1.4 mM KH₂PO₄; pH 7.4) containing 10 mM of MMTS (ThermoFisher Scientific, Nepean, ON). Subsequently, cells were lyzed for 30 min with 1% digitonin (Sigma Aldrich, St. Louis, MO) containing 10 mM of MMTS, 50mM of Tris-HCl, 150 mM of NaCl supplemented with 1x protease inhibitors (Roche, Mannheim, Germany). Supernatants were collected after centrifugation at 13,000 rpm for 20 min. Protein samples were prepared under reducing with β mercaptoethanol or non-reducing conditions, without β mercaptoethanol) and loaded onto 10% SDS page gel and probed with either anti-ERp57 antibody (1:1000) or anti-tapasin antibody (1:200). Detection was performed using anti-rabbit IgG VeriBlot (HRP) diluted with 1:800 of skim milk and clarity TM (Roche, Mannheim, Germany) according to manufacturers instructions. For detection of tapasin protein in RT testis and RT ovarian fluid, 2×10^6 cells were lysed in 1% NP-40 lysis buffer containing 150 mM NaCl and 50 mM Tris [pH 8.0] supplemented with 1X of protease inhibitor cocktail (Roche, Mannheim, Germany). Cell lysates were separated on a 12% acrylamide gel and membranes (Bio-Rad, Mississauga, ON) goat anti-Rabbit alkaline phosphatase antibody (1:30,000) (Sigma Aldrich, St. Louis, MO). Detection used NBT/BCIP (Roche, Mannheim, Germany) according to the manufacturers instruction.

6.3 Results

6.3.1 Tapasin associates with the MH class I under normal and viral induced conditions

Trout tapasin protein was previously shown to be unregulated during VHSV IVa infection in RTS11 cells (Figure 5.3.4), which supported its conserved regulation during viral infection in a manner similar to mammals. However no evidence exists regarding its possible interaction with MH class I receptors. As shown in Figure 6.3.1A the association of MH class I with tapasin was detected as the MH class I antibody detected MH class I receptor in the tapasin immunoprecipitates of both in control and infected cells.



Figure 6.3.1: Detection of the interaction between MH class I heavy chain with tapasin by co-immunprecipitation.

RTS11 cells were infected with VHSV IVa for seven days followed by extraction in 1% digitonin lysis buffer. Immunoprecipitations were performed in cell lysates obtained from control and VHSV IVa infected cells with either tapasin antibody (tapasin), TAP antibody (TAP), MH class I antibody (MHI) or pre immune serum (PI). Blots were probed with either the MH class I antibody (A) or with tapasin antibody (B). The position of MH class I glycosylated band (MHI glyc) is represented in (A) with a arrowhead on the right margin.

This association was identified between tapasin and the upper MH class I band, previously shown to be the glycosylated form in RTS11 cells (Sever et al., unpublished results). In addition, when the blot was probed with tapasin antibody, the same interaction was observed as tapasin can be seen in the anti-MH class I immunoprecipitates, further supporting the reciprocal interaction of tapasin and the MH class I (Figure 6.3.1B). Furthermore, a 20 kDa protein was pulled down in tapasin immunoprecipitates and was detected by tapasin antibody, in addition to the predicted 48 kDa protein (Figure 6.3.1B).

This interaction of tapasin with the glycosylated form of the MH class I was also detected in long-term fin leukocyte-like cells, that contain many cells with characteristics of dendritic cells (TK Vo, and NC Bols) which further implies that this interaction is conserved in antigen presenting cells *in vivo* (Figure 6.3.2).



Figure 6.3.2: Detection of tapasin and MH class I association in long-term fin leukocyte-like cells.

A primary culture of fin leukocyte-like cells was extracted with 1% digitonin lysis buffer followed by immunoprecipitation with non-specific serum (NS), ERp57, tapasin serum (Tps1), affinity purified tapasin (Tps2) and MH class I heavy chain. Elutions were obtained using a synthetic tapasin peptide, followed by a second boiling elution. Immunoprecipitates were separated on 10% SDS PAGE gel and blotted with MH class I heavy chain antibody. The MH class I heavy chain bands are shown in the cell lysates (Ly). The position of MH class I glycosylated band (MHI glyc) is indicated with a arrowhead on the right margin.

6.3.2 TAP association with tapasin and MH class I under normal and viral infecting conditions

Tapasin in mammals is known to associate with TAP through its transmembrane domain which facilitates a structural bridge which brings TAP closer to the MHC class I [6]. In order to find if the tapasin: TAP interaction is conserved in fish, RTS11 cells were immunoprecipitated with human anti TAP1 antibody which was developed against a 50 aa peptide which shares 61% identity with the trout TAP1 protein. In Figure 6.3.3 trout TAP is detected in RTS11 cell lysates as a 75 kDa protein and its association with tapasin and MH class I was identified both in control and VHSV IVa infected cells.

Although, in Figure 6.3.3A immunoprecipitation with TAP antibody failed to detect any presence of TAP protein, when the concentration of TAP antibody for immunoprecipitation was doubled (Figure 6.3.3B), TAP protein could be identified in the pull down in parallel with its interaction with tapasin, further supporting their reciprocal interaction.



Figure 6.3.3: Detection of the interaction between tapasin and TAP in RTS11 cells by coimmunoprecipitation.

RTS11 cells were infected with VHSV-IVa for seven days followed by extraction with 1% digitonin lysis buffer. Immunoprecipitation was performed with either tapasin antibody (tapasin), TAP antibody (TAP), MH class I antibody (MHI) or pre immune serum (PI) and blots were probed with TAP antibody. The upper panel and lower panel represent two separate experiments.

6.3.3 Calnexin association with the MH class I and ERp57

Calnexin was first identified in mammals as a protein that associated with the MHC class I heavy chain [28, 126, 29] and is also known to associate through its proline rich domain with ERp57 [136]. Trout MH class I protein is glycosylated in rainbow trout [117] which suggested its possible interaction with lectin chaperones such as calnexin. Previous finding demonstrated that calnexin protein is detected in RTS11 as two protein forms of 120 kDa and 100 kDa respectively [240]. When RTS11 cells were infected with VHSV IVa, the association of both calnexin forms with the MH class I was detected (Figure 6.3.4A).

In addition, the 100 kDa band of calnexin was found to be present in ERp57 immunoprecipitates which implies their possible interaction. Under normal conditions, calnexin association with both the glycosylated and non-glycosylated form of MH class I was observed (Figure 6.3.4B). In contrast, calreticulin only interacted with the glycolsylated form of MH class I.





A) RTS11 cells were infected with VHSV IVa for seven days and cell lysates were immunoprecipitated with the antibodies ERp57, MH class I (MHI), and pre immune serum (PI), followed by a western blotting with calnexin antibody (CNX). The position of the two calnexin protein forms is marked with arrowheads on the right margin. B) Non-stimulated RTS11 cell lysates were immunoprecipitated with either ERp57, MH class I (MHI), tapasin, calreticulin (CRT), calnexin (CNX) and pre immune serum (PI), followed by a western blotting with MH class I antibody. The position of the glycosylated MH class I (MHI glyc) is marked with an arrowhead on the left margin.

6.3.4 Tapasin association with ERp57

To elucidate the possible interaction of ERp57 with tapasin, RTS11 cells were pretreated prior to the detergent extraction with methyl methanethiosulfonate (MMTS), which protects native disulfide bonds during detergent extraction [40, 37] and therefore preserve the disulfide linked interactions which can be easily abolished during cell lysis. When cell lysates from RTS11 cells were prepared under non reducing conditions, a 110 kDa heterodimer of tapasin and ERp57 was detected, similar to the conjugate seen in mammals (Figure 6.3.5). In contrast, under reducing conditions, the heterodimer expression was much less abundant in the tapasin blot and not seen at all in the ERp57 blot which implies that this protein interaction is maintained via disulfide bonds. Interestingly, an additional 75 kDa band was detected both by tapasin and ERp57 antibodies under non-reducing conditions. This finding implies that a possible 20 kDa protein that contains the epitope of the tapasin antibody may associate with the 55 kDa ERp57 via a disulfide bond.



Figure 6.3.5: Detection of a possible ERp57/tapasin disulfide linked heterodimer. Western blot analysis of RTS11 pretreated with MMTS under reducing conditions with β mercaptoethanol (+) and under non reducing conditions without β mercaptoethanol (-). Blots were detected with either ERp57 or with tapasin antibody. Arrows indicate the putative ERp57-tapasin conjugate, the free ERp57–

tapasin proteins and the novel 75 kDa conjugate.

6.3.5 Tapasin protein expression in trout reproductive cell lines

Trout tapasin protein is mainly detected as a 48 kDa protein which corresponds with its predicted molecular weight (Figure 4.3.1). However, an additional 20 kDa band was detected by tapasin antibody in trout cell lines and tissues (Figure 4.3.1) and was the only band detected in RTmt and in RTovarian fluid (Figure 6.3.6) suggesting a possible truncated version for tapasin protein which contains an intact c-terminal domain which tapasin antibody recognizes (Figure 6.3.1).



Figure 6.3.6: Tapasin protein distribution in rainbow trout cell lines under non-stimulated conditions.

Western blot analysis of tapasin protein in different trout cell lines demonstrating the detection of two distinct bands in rainbow trout cell lines: the predicted 48 kDa and an additional 20 kDa band in cell lines derived from the testis (RTmt) and the ovarian fluid (RTovarin fluid). The position of the molecular mass markers are shown in the right margin.

6.4 Discussion

In this work, the potential protein:protein interactions which may be involved in loading of peptides on the MH class I in teleost fish were examined. Although, indirect evidence suggests that antigen presentation does occur in teleost fish [241, 90, 213], the molecular mechanisms involved in peptide loading are still unknown. The spleen macrophage like cell line (RTS11) was used as our model since the trout proteins such as: calreticulin [117], ERp57 [149], and calnexin [240] were previously studied in this cell line. Importantly, both MH class I and class II proteins are abundantly expressed in RTS11 [79] which suggests that these cells are capable of presenting peptides and thus expresses high levels of proteins involved peptide loading pathways.

6.4.1 Interaction of tapasin with the MH class I

Tapasin is a key component in the peptide loading complex in mammals, acting as a bridge between MHC class I and TAP and has a dual role in stabilizing TAP [49] and in selecting high affinity peptides [242, 51]. The interaction of MHC class I heavy chain and tapasin is not fully understood due to their low affinity [6]. Nevertheless, studies using tapasin mutants showed that both of its immunoglobulin (Ig) luminal domains can interact with the MHC class I [243, 244, 45] and that deletion of the first 50 aa in the N terminal domain of human tapasin diminished the binding of tapasin to MH class I, ERp57 and calreticulin [245].

In this study, the association of trout tapasin with the trout MH class I molecule has been identified which suggests that tapasin can act as a MH class I chaperone and support the MH class I assembly in fish. Interestingly, tapasin protein is detected in both human and mice as a single 48 kDa band, whereas in trout cell lines tapasin is detected as the predicted 48 kDa protein with an additional 20 kDa band, which is expressed at different levels in different cell lines. In RTS11 cells both bands are expressed, however in the reproductive tissue derived cell lines, RTmt and RTovarian fluid, only the 20 kDa band is present. Thus the 75 kDa band detected in Figure 6.4.5 could be composed of the full length ERp57 protein and this 20 kDa truncated tapasin form. This finding raises an interesting possibility for the trout truncated tapasin form. As anti-trout tapasin recognizes the c terminal domain of tapasin, it could be speculated that the 20 kDa protein contains an intact cytoplasmic tail which could interact with TAP and also since this truncated form can associate with ERp57, it has enough of the N-terminus to contain the cysteine used for that disulphide linkage. Thus in order to be truncated, it must be missing domains in the middle, such as the Ig domains which interact with the MH class I and thus could be an alternative splicing variant.

Evidence for tapasin alternative splice variants was originally identified in the human B-lymphoblastoid cell line .220, which exhibits defective antigen presentation and as a result exhibits reduced MHC class I levels on the cell surface [175, 246]. This phenotype could be restored when a full length cDNA sequence of tapasin was transfected into .220 cells [42] but also when cells were transfected with a soluble version of tapasin which lacks its transmembrane and cytoslic domains [49]. Further study revealed that the genetic basis for the phenotype in .220 cells was a splicing of exon 2 which results in a truncation of the signal peptide and absence of 49 as of the N terminal domain [247]. Additionally a splice variant of tapasin lacking exon 3 was recently identified in a human cancer cell line which demonstrated that in spite the intact binding of tapasin to TAP, the MHC class I surface expression was still impaired when cDNA encoding the splice variant was transfected into tapasin deficient cells [194]. Based on these findings, it is possible that the trout 20 kDa protein is an alternative spliced version of tapasin which could compete with the full length protein for binding to TAP, yet does not bring MH class I receptor into the complex. It could be speculated that expression of both tapasin versions allows regulation of antigen presentation at important immune system sites such as the head kidney and spleen during normal conditions. In contrast, in sites such as testis and ovaries where restricted immune responses exist, expression of high levels of the truncated tapasin can be desirable (Figure 6.4.1).



Figure 6.4.1: A proposed model for the possible role of the 20 kDa protein in the MH class I assembly during viral infections

(A) During viral infection, the expression of the full length tapasin is enhanced, which allows tapasin to bind to the MH class I and outcompetes the truncated 20 kDa protein in binding to TAP which facilitates MH class I assembly and antigen presentation. In contrast, in immune privileged sites, or in unstimulated tissues (B) such as testis and ovaries, the protein levels of the truncated tapasin version is higher than the full length which impairs the recruitment of the MH class I to tapasin and therefore results in poor maturation of the MH class I and compromised antigen presentation.

As previous findings showed that only the full length tapasin is unregulated during viral infection (Figure 4.3.6A), it is possible that the full length tapasin outcompetes the truncated form in binding to TAP allowing a more MH class I to enter the peptide loading complex and thus more rapid and efficient antigen presentation in response to intracellular infection. tapasin deficient cells [194]. Based on these findings, it is possible that the 20 kDa protein is an alternative spliced version of tapasin which could compete with the full length protein for binding to TAP. It could be speculated that expression of both tapasin version allows regulated antigen presentation in important immune system sites such as the head kidney and spleen during normal conditions. In contrast, in sites such as testis and ovaries where restricted immune response exist, expression of high levels of the truncated

tapasin can be desirable (Figure 6.4.1). As previous finding showed that only the full length tapasin is unregulated during viral infection (Figure 4.3.6A), it is possible that under these conditions the full length tapasin outcompetes the truncated form in binding to TAP which allow a more rapid and efficient antigen presentation in response to intracellular infection.

6.4.2 Tapasin association with TAP

A transmembrane domain leucine motif known to be involved with TAP binding in mammals [248] is absent from the trout sequence, however three leucine residues do appear in the transmembrane domain of trout tapasin that could putatively interact with TAP [86]. Additional studies showed that other residues in tapasin transmembrane domain might also be involved in binding TAP, such as the charged lysine residue in position 408 in the middle of the transmembrane region [249] which is conserved in zebra fish and rainbow trout tapasin sequences. Therefore, the interaction of trout tapasin with TAP could be mediated through tapasins transmembrane domain similarly to mammal.

6.4.3 Tapasin association with ERp57

Interestingly, trout tapasin contains amino acids substitutions which may influence its putative protein interactions with ERp57 and TAP. In all teleost tapasins studied to date the conserved Cys95, known to recruit ERp57, is substituted with serine, a feature surprisingly also conserved in birds [250]. Nevertheless, another upstream cysteine residue in position 57 which is found in only teleosts could possibly replace Cys95 in binding ERp57. The ERp57-tapasin interaction in mammals is detected as a 110 kDa disulfide linked hetrodimer on a western blot under non reduced conditions [40, 37]. The data presented in Figure 6.3.5 indicate a possible heterodimer conjugate formation with a relative similar molecular weight in trout. However, unlike mammals, an additional 75 kDa band is detected by both ERp57 and tapasin antibody which further support the possibility of 20 kDa tapasin version that interacts with ERp57 and plays a role in antigen presentation.

6.4.4 Calnexin and calreticulin association with the MH class I

Calnexin and calreticulin are lectin chaperons which bind N-linked glycans in the ER and contain a conserved docking site for ERp57 [136] in the P domain, which was also shown to be conserved in fish [116, 148]. In mice, calnexin was shown to associate with the nascent

MHC class I receptor which consists the assembled MHC class I heavy chain and $\beta 2m$. However, human calnexin was shown to bind the MHC class I heavy chain alone [6, 8]. This report show the interaction of calnexin and with ERp57 and the MH class I during VHSV IVa infection and demonstrates that during normal conditions, calreticulin can associate with the glycosylated a form of the MH class I, whereas calnexin appears to associate only with both the glycosylated and the non-glycosylated forms.

6.4.5 Summary

In this work, the conserved association of the MH class I with calnexin, calreticulin and tapasin was identified, along with the interaction of tapasin with TAP, and ERp57 similar to mammals. This suggests that a PLC very similar to mammalian antigen presentation pathways exists in fish. However, unlike mammals another 20 kDa tapsin protein was identified, which is suggested here to be a truncated version that may have a regulatory role in antigen presentation in teleosts. Although, many protein interactions were identified in this report, their exact contributions to peptide loading are far from being understood. Future work, will aim to elucidate the contribution of such interactions for antigen presentation and T cell response and also will pursue the identity and fuction of the 20 kDa band.

Chapter 7

Discussion and future aims

7.1 ERp57

7.1.1 Functional charectrization

ERp57 is a protein disulfide isomerase which in human resides and functions mainly in the ER. The full length cDNA sequence of rainbow trout ERp57 was characterized for the first time in this thesis and found to be widely expressed in trout tissues. Southern blotting revealed that there are ERp57 in at least two copies present in the trout genome. The putative protein had 75% sequence identity with its mammalian homologues and is ubiquitously expressed in trout as a 57 kDa protein.

Interestingly, unlike its mammalian homologues, trout ERp57 contains neither an ER retention motif nor a nuclear localization signal both of which are conserved in mammals, chicken and zebrafish. This suggests that trout ERp57 may have a function outside of the ER in trout. Surprisingly, a database search (GeneBank TSA) revealed another coding sequence for ERp57 in trout that encodes a ERp57 protein with a putative NLS, suggesting its a reason for differential localization and perhaps alternate function. Using specific monoclonal antibodies against the two different trout ERp57 protein versions could help elucidate their sub-cellular localization as well as their unique regulation in trout. A recent study has demonstrated that ERp57 assists in the translocation of calreticulin to the cell surface which in turn functions as a signal for immunogenic cell death [251, 252]. Calreticulin surface expression was previously reported in PHA treated trout PBLs [117], therefore it can be speculated that ERp57 can reach the cell surface by interacting with calreticulin.

Many studies in mammals have focused on some additional surprising functions and/or locations of ERp57 which are still not fully understood. The presence of ERp57 in nuclei was first observed in rat spermatids by immunofluorescence and later evidence suggested that ERp57 interacts with the transcriptional factor STAT3 inside the nucleus [253, 254], possibly playing a role in STAT3 signaling [255]. In this study, ERp57 expression was shown to be induced for the first time by phytohemagglutinin and synthetic double stranded RNA, however not during single stranded RNA viral infection with VHSV IVa.

Furthermore, ERp57 was found to be secreted from mouse embryonic fibroblastic cell line 3T3 [256] and also from trout cells, as ERp57 protein was detected in the conditioned media of non stimulated RTS11 cells (data not shown). The possible role of such secretion is unclear and and additional studies using different stimuli should be undertaken to elucidate this phenomenon.

7.1.2 Possible interaction in the PLC

One of the most investigated functions of ERp57 is its role during the assembly of the peptide loading complex in the ER. It has been shown in mammals that tapasin alone cannot assemble with the MHC class I and facilitate peptide loading but only tapasin conjugated to ERp57 can do this [257]. The tapasin-ERp57 heterodimer formation is mediated by a disulfide bond formed between cysteine 57 in the thioredoxin domain of ERp57 and cysteine 95 in the luminal domain of tapasin, and this complex sequester almost all of the cellular pool of tapasin [40]. Interestingly, Cvs57 of ERp57 is conserved in teleost species, however the conserved Cys95 of tapasin appears to be absent in fish and in birds which intuitively suggest on a lack of tapasin-ERp57 within the PLC and predict a much less stringent assembly for the MH class I that follow a normal ER quality control. Nevertheless, closer observation in the trout, salmon and the zebrafish sequences indicate a unique shared cysteine residue in position 57 downstream of Cys95 which may be potentially used to interact with ERp57. Attempts during this project to detect ERp57 and tapasin interaction by immunoprecipitation were unsuccessful and mostly inconclusive. However, when detergent extraction was performed in the presence of MMTS to protect native disulfide bonds [40, 37], the ERp57-tapasin interaction under non reducing conditions was detected as a 110 kDa conjugate, similar to mammals. These results suggest indirectly that trout ERp57 may be recruited to the peptide loading complex through its interaction with tapasin. Additional experiments are required to validate this interaction such as using purified recombinant proteins of trout ERp57 and tapasin to examine conjugate formation *in vitro* combined with site directed mutagenesis of the putative interacting cysteine residues. In addition, detecting the levels of conjugate formation during viral infection and comparing them to the normal levels could potentially provide new insights on the functional role of such interaction during viral infection.

7.2 Calnexin

7.2.1 Functional charectrization

Calnexin is a conserved lectin chaperone involved in glycoprotein folding in the ER. In this study, the first identification and characterization of calnexin in salmonid fish was described. Two calnexin cDNA clones were reported and southern bloting suggested that calnexin gene is present in two copies in the trout genome, in contrast to its soluble homologue calreticulin which appears as a single copy gene in trout [117]. Sequence analysis demonstrated that only one of the two cDNA clones encodes a conserved putative ER retention motif followed by a conserved serine phosphorylation site. Northern blotting suggested that there is one prominent expressed transcript for calnexin along with a smaller, lower expressed transcript, which appears exclusively in immune system organs. Exposure of RTS11 cells to calcium ionophore A23187 demonstrated the induction of the lower sized transcript, whereas the prominent transcript remained unchanged. These findings seem to be further supported at the protein level, which suggest that in trout there are two similar sized versions for calnexin protein in which only the smaller sized versions is induced under ER stress conditions. As both reported cDNA clones putatively encode for similar weight proteins, it could be speculated that post translational modification such as phosphorylation could account for the differences in the molecular weight possibly due to the different number of phosphorylation sites encoded by both calnexin genes. Future studies, should focus on cloning the promoters of both calnexin genes to identify ER stress elements (ERSE) responsible for such unique regulation during ER stress. However the possibility of post translational cleavage which results in two calnexin protein forms, cannot be ruled out. It has been shown that the C terminal domain of mouse calnexin can be cleaved by specific caspases under diverse ER stress and apoptotic conditions and can play a role in attenuation of apoptosis [132]. However, the conserved caspase cleavage site was not found in the trout sequences.

7.2.2 Interaction with the MH class I

Calnexin was first identified as a protein that associates with free MH class I in the ER [28]. The functional role of calnexin in MHC class I folding is controversial and functional discrepancies were found between the human and mouse proteins [23, 141, 30] despite their high percentage of sequence identity. Experiments with calnexin deficient cell lines demonstrated that calnexin is not absolutely required for the MHC class I folding and suggested that it might be replaceable by other chaperones, however other experiments in mice showed that calnexin is important for MHC class I folding. These discrepancies further support the importance in elucidating the function of calnexin in other vertebrae species to better understand how the MHC class I folding has evolved to facilitate optimal peptide loading. It has been shown that calnexin not only binds the free class I heavy chain but also is the only component from the peptide loading complex that associates with both the MHC class II α and β chain subunits [139]. In channel catfish, calnexin interaction with the MHC class II has been identified with the non glycosylated α chain and the glycosylated β chain [148], however the binding to the MHC class I heavy chain was not addressed in that study. Our preliminary data indicate that both protein versions of calnexin can bind the MH class I, during VHSV IVa infection, however, this association appears to be more prominent with the higher molecular weight version of calnexin. In addition, ERp57 interacts with the smaller version of calnexin protein under viral stimulating conditions. Future studies should examine if this interaction is also maintained during normal conditions. Generating specific antibodies against the native MHC class I could help to resolve if calnexin binds to the free heavy chain alone or the mature class I heterodimer. Interestingly, calnexin interaction with the G protein of vesicular stomatitis virus (VSV) which belongs to the rhabdoviridae family [143] has also been described. Attempts in this study to detect the interaction between the G protein of the fish rhabdovirus, VHSV, and immunoproteins were not successful, however further attempts should be pursued to reveal if this interaction can occur.

7.3 Tapasin

7.3.1 Tapasin inducible expression

Tapasin is a transmembrane glycoprotein that exclusively interacts with the MHC class I heterodimer. Unlike the other proteins in the peptide loading complex, which display high

sequence identity with their mammalian homologues, tapasin is less conserved and displays only 31% sequence identity with its human homologue. However, structural similarity, linkage to the MH class I region and induced transcript expression during viral infection suggests its function is conserved in trout [86, 122]. In this study, polyclonal antibodies against trout tapasin were generated in order investigate its regulation during viral infection and its putative interaction with the MH class I molecule. This study demonstrate that trout tapasin is a 48 kDa protein that is mainly expressed in immune system organs and is most abundant in the RTS11 cell line. Tapasin protein expression was enhanced in RTS11 cells upon exposure to synthetic double stranded RNA as well as during infection with chum salmon virus (CSV) and viral hemorrhagic septicemia virus (VHSV IVa), which correlates with enhanced transcription.

7.3.2 Tapasin protein interactions

This study shows for the first time in fish that tapasin interacts with the MH class I heavy chain and with the TAP under normal and viral infected conditions which suggests that rainbow trout tapasin might have a conserved role in antigen presentation as in mammals. However, the specificity of tapasin interaction with specific MH class I allelles needs to be explored using allele-specific MH class I monoclonal antibodies. Future studies should reveal its possible functions in stabilizing TAP and in selecting high affinity peptides. Two independent studies have recently demonstrated a powerful methodology to study the role of tapasin in selection of high affinity peptides. One approach used recombinant purified MHC class I and tapasin which were fused by leucine zipper at their c terminal to generate a strong interaction. Using a cell free approach, the binding kinetics of fluorescently labelled peptides was examined. The authors showed that tapasin initially bound a diverse pool of fluorescently labelled peptides, however only those with minimum binding energy threshold were retained [258]. In another cell free approach, the reconstitution of purified recombinant ERp57-tapasin into tapasin deficient cell lysates was employed and a complex with the MHC class I recombinant protein and radiolabelled peptides was applied, the binding was determined by using immunoprecipitation of the MHC class I and quantifying the amount of radiolabelled peptides. This study showed that only when tapasin is linked to ERp57, can it mediate the loading of high affinity peptides [257].

7.3.3 A possible truncated version of tapasin

Interestingly, screening of various rainbow trout cell lines and trout tissues for the expression of tapasin protein detected not only the predicted 48 kDa band but also an additional 20k Da band which remained relatively unchanged during poly I:C stimulation and viral infection. Since tapasin antibodies were generated against its cytoplasmic tail which binds TAP, these results imply a possible shorter version of tapasin which contains the cytoplasmic domain that could interact with TAP. Interestingly, in addition to the 110 kDa heterodimer of ERp57 and tapasin, an additional 75 kDa band was detected in RTS11 cell lysates pretreated with MMTS by both by tapasin and ERp57 antibody. This finding could imply that ERp57 interacts with a truncated tapasin version, which in turn might be recruited to the MHC class I peptide loading complex. Tapasin splice variants have been recently described in human melanoma cell line and subsequently in human cells infected with HCMV which results in deletion of exon 3 yet contains an intact cytoplasmic tail. Transfection of this splice variant into tapasin deficient cells could not restore MHC class I expression on the cell surface [194], yet demonstrated that both the alternative splice variant and the full length protein can bind in the PLC and therefore might influence its function [259].

Although, alternative splice variants for tapasin could not be found in this study, identification of the 20 kDa protein by immunoprecipitation followed by mass spec analysis was performed, and suggested on a possible tapasin peptide derived from the 20 kDa gel band. However, these results should be further confirmed by pull downs of tapasin using cell lines that only express the 20 kDa band such as RTtestis and RTovarian fluid. These trout cell lines could also be used to explore the possible role of the 20 kDa band in the peptide loading complex, in particular its binding to TAP and the MHC class I.

Interestingly, a few viral proteins were shown to interfere with tapasin function [59, 58], therefore it could be speculated that if the 20 kDa band is indeed a shorter version of tapasin, it could act as attenuate antigen presentation by interfering with the recruitment of the full length tapasin to the PLC.

7.4 β 2m and MH class I expression during viral infection

7.4.1 β 2m secretion

 β 2m is an 11 kDa protein that associates non-covalently with the MH class I heavy chain on the cell surface of all nucleated cells. β 2m, unlike the heavy chain does not contain a transmembrane domain and can be released into the extracellular space during normal turnover of MH class I receptors on the cell surface [214, 215, 233]. High secretion levels have been observed in the urine and plasma of patients with numerous human diseases [260, 261, 262]. In this study, the secretion of β 2m into the culture media of RTS11 cells was examined both under normal and VHSV IVa infected conditions. Under normal conditions β 2m release was detected in the culture supernatants and this was significantly enhanced when RTS11 cultures were infected with the VHSV IVa, seven days post infection. The functional role of this secretion is still undetermined.

On one hand, the shedding of $\beta 2m$ can reflect the normal turnover of the MH class I receptor on the cell surface and can be directly correlated with expression levels and stability of the heterodimer on the cell surface. On the other hand, it could be speculated that $\beta 2m$ by itself has a unique regulatory role during immune response which is independent from its role in antigen presentation. Previous studies have demonstrated that $\beta 2m$ can stimulate chemotactic responses of hematopoietic cells such as T cell precursors *in vitro* [263, 236] indirectly suggesting a cell surface receptor for this molecule. In contrast, exposure of dendritic cells to a high concentration $\beta 2m$ into the culture media showed surprising negative regulatory effects on MHC class I levels and antigen presentation in these cells [238]. To elucidate the function role of such secretion in rainbow trout, future studies should examine *in vitro* the possible effects of trout recombinant $\beta 2m$ on the proliferation, differentiation and chemotaxis in rainbow trout cell lines combined with in vivo studies to determine the potential use of monitoring serum $\beta 2m$ levels as a biomarker for fish viral infection.

7.4.2 Expression of the MH class I during dsRNA stimulation

In this study, the regulation of the MH class I protein was examined in RTS11 cells upon exposure to synthetic dsRNA and upon infection with CSV, a dsRNA virus which belongs to aquareovirus family [182]. Although this virus does not cause any pathogenesis in salmonid fish [183], it has been demonstrated *in vivo* that pre-exposure of rainbow trout to CSV offered protection from a subsequent infection IHNV which is a major viral threat to salmonid fish in North America [184]. The mechanisms of such protection were later revealed by an in vitro study in RTS11 cells which showed that both poly I:C and CSV can induce the expression of anti-viral genes such as MX and vig1 [185]. In this work, exposure of RTS11 cells to poly I:C, induced the expression of the glycosylated MH class I heavy as early as six hours post treatment, whereas the induction of the MH class I heavy chain in CSV infected cultures only occurred three days post infection and increased to the highest levels on day 14. It could be suggested that the mechanisms that are involved in viral entry, uncoating and transcription may partly delaying the interferon response compared with the synthetic double stranded RNA, which is taken up by scavenger receptors. These results suggest that both poly I:C and CSV might be used as adjuvants in vaccines for salmonids to stimulate antigen presentation and T cell mediated responses.

7.4.3 Temperature dependent regulation of MH class I expression during VHSV infection

Viral hemorrhagic septicemia (VHS) is an infectious fish disease which is responsible for the mortality of many marine and freshwater species [201]. The cause of the disease is VHSV which belongs to the rhabdoviridae family. In contrast to the chum salmon virus, VHSV is an enveloped virus and contains a single stranded, non-segmented RNA genome. By using the powerful suppressive subtractive hybridization (SSH) technique, four novel interferon responsive genes along with three chemoattractant molecules were identified following VHSV infection in rainbow trout leukocytes. Surprisingly, neither the MHC class I molecules nor the genes encoding the inducible proteasomal subunits were retrieved in the SSH [264]. However, evidence for the important functional role of the MHC during VHSV infection was clearly identified in a later study which showed isolated PBL from VHSV infected trout could kill MHC class I matched rainbow trout gonadal fibroblastic like cells (RTG-2) infected with VHSV. These finding highlights the significant role of cellular immunity in providing protection against VHSV infection.

In this study, MH class I regulation was examined upon infection with VHSV at two different temperatures: 14°C and 2°C to reveal potential mechanism responsible for fish susceptibility to rhabdoviral infection during spring and fall [265, 217]. On one hand, when

RTS11 were infected with VHSV at 14°C, class I heavy chain protein levels increased and enhanced cell surface expression was observed by immunofluorescence. On the other hand, when RTS11 infected cultures were maintained at 2°C no induction of the MH class I heavy chain was observed during infection and cellular expression levels remained similar to the control at at 14°C. Although β 2m levels in both infected and non-infected 2°C cultures were also maintained, β 2m secretion on the other hand was completely impaired both in control and infected cultures. These results suggest that MH class I surface expression might be compromised at low temperature which in turn could reduce antigen presentation and therefore allow the virus to replicate without being eliminated. This scenario could possibly contribute to the severity of VHS disease during changing water temperature. Future studies should further validate these results by flow cytometry and immunohistochemistry and look for the mechanisms that are responsible for such suppression in cold temperatures.

7.4.4 The peptide loading complex

The proposed model for the peptide loading in fish includes five proteins that were shown to comprise the PLC in humans: tapasin, TAP, MH class I, ERp57 and one of the two lectin chaperones (calnexin/calreticulin). However, an additional 20 kDa protein which appeared to interact with ERp57 is a possible unique component in the PLC of fish (Figure 7.4.1). Although, important interactions were identified in this study, the functional significance of such interactions on antigen presentation in fish remains unresolved. By using specific siRNAs that inhibit the expression of components such as tapasin, TAP and ERp57 or by using ER glucosidase inhibitor which prevent the binding of calnexin/calreticulin to their substrates, the impact of such interactions on MH class I surface expression and CD8+ response can be specifically explored.

Importantly, the binding of tapasin to the MH class I was explored in this study in trout immune system cells which express a unique set of MH class I alleles. It remains unclear if this binding occurs *in vivo* in fish that express a different repertoire of MH class I alleles. Future studies should focus on development of monoclonal antibodies against various MH class I proteins in order to determine which MHC class I proteins interact with tapasin and examine if their binding to tapasin can dictate an increase on the cell surface of a specific MH class I protein. Exploring these interactions can also assist in revealing which MH class I alleles might be important for antigen presentation in fish.



Figure 7.4.1: Proposed model for the PLC in fish

The possible components in the peptide loading complex in fish include tapasin conjugated to ERp57 via disulfide bond, TAP, MH class I and one of the lectin chaperones calnexin/calreticulin. A possible truncated version of tapasin which can interact with ERp57 and TAP is proposed to play a regulatory role in the formation of the PLC in fish.

7.5 Summary

This study demonstrates the identification and functional characterization of the peptide loading complex proteins and chaperones. In particular, calnexin and ERp57 in rainbow trout which share high sequence identity with their human homologues were characterized. Both the ERp57 and calnexin genes were found to be duplicated in trout and both appear to encode pairs of similar proteins with unique C terminal domains which suggest their unique functions. Furthermore, this study shows that trout tapasin protein is induced during CSV and VHSV IVa infection and interacts with the glycosylated MH class I receptor, TAP and ERp57, which provides the first direct evidence for its possible conserved role in antigen presentation in fish.

In addition, the lectin chaperones, calnexin and calreticulin were shown to interact with MH class I receptors in normal conditions which suggests their possible role in supporting the MH class I folding in fish as they do in mammals. Importantly, an additional 20 kDa protein was detected by the tapasin antibody which is speculated here to be a truncated tapasin version which interacts with ERp57 and could be involved in regulating antigen presentation in fish. Lastly, β 2m secretion, a measure of MH class I turnover on the cell surface, was detected under normal conditions in RTS11 conditioned media and appeared

to enhance upon infection with VHSV IVa, along with higher cellular expression of MH class I. This secretion was severely reduced at 2°C, in both control and infected cultures, although cellular protein levels of β 2m were maintained. These findings suggest that trafficking of the MH class I molecule may be abolished at low temperatures which can contribute to the susceptibility to pathogens in the cold.

This work opened new future avenues to explore mechanisms of peptide selection, viral evasion and importantly modes of regulating the MH class I surface expression in fish. Understanding such mechanisms can assist in understanding the fish immune response and provide important knowledge for aquaculture that can assist in vaccine design and disease prevention.

References

- J. Trowsdale. Genetic and functional relationships between MHC and NK receptor genes. *Immunity*, 15(3):363–374, Sep 2001. [PubMed:11567627].
- M. F. Flajnik and M. Kasahara. Comparative genomics of the MHC: glimpses into the evolution of the adaptive immune system. *Immunity*, 15(3):351–362, Sep 2001.
 [PubMed:11567626].
- J. L. Strominger. Human histocompatibility proteins. *Immunol. Rev.*, 185:69–77, Jul 2002. [PubMed:12190923].
- [4] H. O. McDevitt and A. Chinitz. Genetic control of the antibody response: relationship between immune response and histocompatibility (H-2) type. *Science*, 163(3872):1207–1208, Mar 1969. [PubMed:5765335].
- [5] W. J. Martin, L. Ellman, I. Green, and B. Benacerraf. Histocompatibility type and immune responsiveness in random bred Hartley strain guinea pigs. J. Exp. Med., 132(6):1259–1266, Dec 1970. [PubMed:5511572].
- [6] P. A. Wearsch and P. Cresswell. The quality control of MHC class I peptide loading. *Curr. Opin. Cell Biol.*, 20(6):624–631, Dec 2008. [PubMed:18926908].
- [7] L. H. Glimcher and C. J. Kara. Sequences and factors: a guide to MHC class-II transcription. Annu. Rev. Immunol., 10:13–49, 1992. [PubMed:1590984].
- [8] D. C. Chapman and D. B. Williams. ER quality control in the biogenesis of MHC class I molecules. *Semin. Cell Dev. Biol.*, 21(5):512–519, Jul 2010. [PubMed:20044014].
- [9] J. L. Strominger and D. C. Wiley. The 1995 Albert Lasker Medical Research Award. The class I and class II proteins of the human major histocompatibility complex. JAMA, 274(13):1074–1076, Oct 1995. [PubMed:7563464].

- [10] J. L. Strominger. Structure of class I and class II HLA antigens. Br. Med. Bull., 43(1):81–93, Jan 1987. [PubMed:3315103].
- [11] P. J. Bjorkman, M. A. Saper, B. Samraoui, W. S. Bennett, J. L. Strominger, and D. C. Wiley. Structure of the human class I histocompatibility antigen, HLA-A2. *Nature*, 329(6139):506–512, 1987. [PubMed:3309677].
- [12] D. R. Madden, J. C. Gorga, J. L. Strominger, and D. C. Wiley. The three-dimensional structure of HLA-B27 at 2.1 A resolution suggests a general mechanism for tight peptide binding to MHC. *Cell*, 70(6):1035–1048, Sep 1992. [PubMed:1525820].
- [13] J. H. Brown, T. S. Jardetzky, J. C. Gorga, L. J. Stern, R. G. Urban, J. L. Strominger, and D. C. Wiley. Three-dimensional structure of the human class II histocompatibility antigen HLA-DR1. *Nature*, 364(6432):33–39, Jul 1993. [PubMed:8316295].
- [14] P. M. Kloetzel. Antigen processing by the proteasome. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol., 2(3):179–187, Mar 2001. [PubMed:11265247].
- [15] J. W. Yewdell, E. Reits, and J. Neefjes. Making sense of mass destruction: quantitating MHC class I antigen presentation. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.*, 3(12):952–961, Dec 2003. [PubMed:14647477].
- [16] T. Serwold, F. Gonzalez, J. Kim, R. Jacob, and N. Shastri. ERAAP customizes peptides for MHC class I molecules in the endoplasmic reticulum. *Nature*, 419(6906):480– 483, Oct 2002. [PubMed:12368856].
- [17] S. Hulpke and R. Tampe. The MHC I loading complex: a multitasking machinery in adaptive immunity. *Trends Biochem. Sci.*, 38(8):412–420, Aug 2013.
 [PubMed:23849087].
- [18] L. Van Kaer, P. G. Ashton-Rickardt, H. L. Ploegh, and S. Tonegawa. TAP1 mutant mice are deficient in antigen presentation, surface class I molecules, and CD4-8+ T cells. *Cell*, 71(7):1205–1214, Dec 1992. [PubMed:1473153].
- [19] D. R. Peaper and P. Cresswell. Regulation of MHC class I assembly and peptide binding. Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol., 24:343–368, 2008. [PubMed:18729726].
- [20] J. S. Blum, P. A. Wearsch, and P. Cresswell. Pathways of antigen processing. Annu. Rev. Immunol., 31:443–473, 2013. [PubMed:23298205].

- [21] D. B. Williams. Beyond lectins: the calnexin/calreticulin chaperone system of the endoplasmic reticulum. J. Cell. Sci., 119(Pt 4):615–623, Feb 2006. [PubMed:16467570].
- [22] L. Ellgaard and A. Helenius. Quality control in the endoplasmic reticulum. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol., 4(3):181–191, Mar 2003. [PubMed:12612637].
- [23] A. Vassilakos, M. F. Cohen-Doyle, P. A. Peterson, M. R. Jackson, and D. B. Williams. The molecular chaperone calnexin facilitates folding and assembly of class I histocompatibility molecules. *EMBO J.*, 15(7):1495–1506, Apr 1996. [PubMed:8612572].
- [24] Y. Saito, Y. Ihara, M. R. Leach, M. F. Cohen-Doyle, and D. B. Williams. Calreticulin functions in vitro as a molecular chaperone for both glycosylated and nonglycosylated proteins. *EMBO J.*, 18(23):6718–6729, Dec 1999. [PubMed:10581245].
- [25] Y. Ihara, M. F. Cohen-Doyle, Y. Saito, and D. B. Williams. Calnexin discriminates between protein conformational states and functions as a molecular chaperone in vitro. *Mol. Cell*, 4(3):331–341, Sep 1999. [PubMed:10518214].
- [26] I. Wada, D. Rindress, P. H. Cameron, W. J. Ou, J. J. Doherty, D. Louvard, A. W. Bell, D. Dignard, D. Y. Thomas, and J. J. Bergeron. SSR alpha and associated calnexin are major calcium binding proteins of the endoplasmic reticulum membrane. J. Biol. Chem., 266(29):19599–19610, Oct 1991. [PubMed:1918067].
- [27] A. Oladiran and M. Belosevic. Trypanosoma carassii calreticulin binds host complement component C1q and inhibits classical complement pathway-mediated lysis. *Dev. Comp. Immunol.*, 34(4):396–405, Apr 2010. [PubMed:19913050].
- [28] E. Degen and D. B. Williams. Participation of a novel 88-kD protein in the biogenesis of murine class I histocompatibility molecules. J. Cell Biol., 112(6):1099–1115, Mar 1991. [PubMed Central:PMC2288894].
- [29] F. Hochstenbach, V. David, S. Watkins, and M. B. Brenner. Endoplasmic reticulum resident protein of 90 kilodaltons associates with the T- and B-cell antigen receptors and major histocompatibility complex antigens during their assembly. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.*, 89(10):4734–4738, May 1992. [PubMed:1584811].
- [30] B. K. Sadasivan, A. Cariappa, G. L. Waneck, and P. Cresswell. Assembly, peptide loading, and transport of MHC class I molecules in a calnexin-negative cell line. *Cold Spring Harb. Symp. Quant. Biol.*, 60:267–275, 1995. [PubMed:8824400].

- [31] L. Ellgaard and L. W. Ruddock. The human protein disulphide isomerase family: substrate interactions and functional properties. *EMBO Rep.*, 6(1):28–32, Jan 2005.
 [PubMed:15643448].
- [32] J. D. Oliver, F. J. van der Wal, N. J. Bulleid, and S. High. Interaction of the thioldependent reductase ERp57 with nascent glycoproteins. *Science*, 275(5296):86–88, Jan 1997. [PubMed:8974399].
- [33] J. G. Elliott, J. D. Oliver, and S. High. The thiol-dependent reductase ERp57 interacts specifically with N-glycosylated integral membrane proteins. J. Biol. Chem., 272(21):13849–13855, May 1997. [PubMed:9153243].
- [34] C. S. Sevier and C. A. Kaiser. Formation and transfer of disulphide bonds in living cells. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol., 3(11):836–847, Nov 2002. [PubMed:12415301].
- [35] K. W. Walker and H. F. Gilbert. Scanning and escape during protein-disulfide isomerase-assisted protein folding. J. Biol. Chem., 272(14):8845–8848, Apr 1997.
 [PubMed:9082998].
- [36] G. Dong, P. A. Wearsch, D. R. Peaper, P. Cresswell, and K. M. Reinisch. Insights into MHC class I peptide loading from the structure of the tapasin-ERp57 thiol oxidoreductase heterodimer. *Immunity*, 30(1):21–32, Jan 2009. [PubMed:19119025].
- [37] D. R. Peaper, P. A. Wearsch, and P. Cresswell. Tapasin and ERp57 form a stable disulfide-linked dimer within the MHC class I peptide-loading complex. *EMBO J.*, 24(20):3613–3623, Oct 2005. [PubMed:16193070].
- [38] E. A. Hughes and P. Cresswell. The thiol oxidoreductase ERp57 is a component of the MHC class I peptide-loading complex. *Curr. Biol.*, 8(12):709–712, Jun 1998. [PubMed:9637923].
- [39] J. A. Lindquist, G. J. Hammerling, and J. Trowsdale. ER60/ERp57 forms disulfidebonded intermediates with MHC class I heavy chain. FASEB J., 15(8):1448–1450, Jun 2001. [PubMed:11387253].
- [40] T. P. Dick, N. Bangia, D. R. Peaper, and P. Cresswell. Disulfide bond isomerization and the assembly of MHC class I-peptide complexes. *Immunity*, 16(1):87–98, Jan 2002. [PubMed:11825568].

- [41] N. Garbi, S. Tanaka, F. Momburg, and G. J. Hammerling. Impaired assembly of the major histocompatibility complex class I peptide-loading complex in mice deficient in the oxidoreductase ERp57. *Nat. Immunol.*, 7(1):93–102, Jan 2006. [PubMed:16311600].
- [42] B. Ortmann, J. Copeman, P. J. Lehner, B. Sadasivan, J. A. Herberg, A. G. Grandea, S. R. Riddell, R. Tampe, T. Spies, J. Trowsdale, and P. Cresswell. A critical role for tapasin in the assembly and function of multimeric MHC class I-TAP complexes. *Science*, 277(5330):1306–1309, Aug 1997. [PubMed:9271576].
- [43] K. Abarca-Heidemann, S. Friederichs, T. Klamp, U. Boehm, L. A. Guethlein, and B. Ortmann. Regulation of the expression of mouse TAP-associated glycoprotein (tapasin) by cytokines. *Immunol. Lett.*, 83(3):197–207, Oct 2002. [PubMed:12095710].
- [44] B. Sadasivan, P. J. Lehner, B. Ortmann, T. Spies, and P. Cresswell. Roles for calreticulin and a novel glycoprotein, tapasin, in the interaction of MHC class I molecules with TAP. *Immunity*, 5(2):103–114, Aug 1996. [PubMed:8769474].
- [45] J. W. Lewis, A. Neisig, J. Neefjes, and T. Elliott. Point mutations in the alpha 2 domain of HLA-A2.1 define a functionally relevant interaction with TAP. *Curr. Biol.*, 6(7):873–883, Jul 1996. [PubMed:8805302].
- [46] Y. Y. Yu, H. R. Turnquist, N. B. Myers, G. K. Balendiran, T. H. Hansen, and J. C. Solheim. An extensive region of an MHC class I alpha 2 domain loop influences interaction with the assembly complex. J. Immunol., 163(8):4427–4433, Oct 1999. [PubMed:10510384].
- [47] M. R. Harris, L. Lybarger, N. B. Myers, C. Hilbert, J. C. Solheim, T. H. Hansen, and Y. Y. Yu. Interactions of HLA-B27 with the peptide loading complex as revealed by heavy chain mutations. *Int. Immunol.*, 13(10):1275–1282, Oct 2001. [PubMed:11581172].
- [48] R. M. Leonhardt, K. Keusekotten, C. Bekpen, and M. R. Knittler. Critical role for the tapasin-docking site of TAP2 in the functional integrity of the MHC class I-peptideloading complex. J. Immunol., 175(8):5104–5114, Oct 2005. [PubMed:16210614].
- [49] P. J. Lehner, M. J. Surman, and P. Cresswell. Soluble tapasin restores MHC class I
expression and function in the tapasin-negative cell line .220. *Immunity*, 8(2):221–231, Feb 1998. [PubMed:9492003].

- [50] A. G. Grandea, T. N. Golovina, S. E. Hamilton, V. Sriram, T. Spies, R. R. Brutkiewicz, J. T. Harty, L. C. Eisenlohr, and L. Van Kaer. Impaired assembly yet normal trafficking of MHC class I molecules in Tapasin mutant mice. *Immunity*, 13(2):213–222, Aug 2000. [PubMed:10981964].
- [51] M. Howarth, A. Williams, A. B. Tolstrup, and T. Elliott. Tapasin enhances MHC class I peptide presentation according to peptide half-life. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A., 101(32):11737–11742, Aug 2004. [PubMed:15286279].
- [52] G. Røder, L. Geironson, I. Bressendorff, and K. Paulsson. Viral proteins interfering with antigen presentation target the major histocompatibility complex class I peptide-loading complex. J. Virol., 82(17):8246–8252, Sep 2008. [PubMed:18448533].
- [53] I. A. York, C. Roop, D. W. Andrews, S. R. Riddell, F. L. Graham, and D. C. Johnson. A cytosolic herpes simplex virus protein inhibits antigen presentation to CD8+ T lymphocytes. *Cell*, 77(4):525–535, May 1994. [PubMed:8187174].
- [54] R. Tomazin, A. B. Hill, P. Jugovic, I. York, P. van Endert, H. L. Ploegh, D. W. Andrews, and D. C. Johnson. Stable binding of the herpes simplex virus ICP47 protein to the peptide binding site of TAP. *EMBO J.*, 15(13):3256–3266, Jul 1996. [PubMed:8670826].
- [55] E. W. Hewitt, S. S. Gupta, and P. J. Lehner. The human cytomegalovirus gene product US6 inhibits ATP binding by TAP. *EMBO J.*, 20(3):387–396, Feb 2001.
 [PubMed:11157746].
- [56] C. Kyritsis, S. Gorbulev, S. Hutschenreiter, K. Pawlitschko, R. Abele, and R. Tampe. Molecular mechanism and structural aspects of transporter associated with antigen processing inhibition by the cytomegalovirus protein US6. J. Biol. Chem., 276(51):48031–48039, Dec 2001. [PubMed:11606590].
- [57] E. M. Bennett, J. R. Bennink, J. W. Yewdell, and F. M. Brodsky. Cutting edge: adenovirus E19 has two mechanisms for affecting class I MHC expression. J. Immunol., 162(9):5049–5052, May 1999. [PubMed:10227971].

- [58] H. Liu, J. Fu, and M. Bouvier. Allele- and locus-specific recognition of class I MHC molecules by the immunomodulatory E3-19K protein from adenovirus. J. Immunol., 178(7):4567–4575, Apr 2007. [PubMed:17372015].
- [59] B. Park, Y. Kim, J. Shin, S. Lee, K. Cho, K. Fruh, S. Lee, and K. Ahn. Human cytomegalovirus inhibits tapasin-dependent peptide loading and optimization of the MHC class I peptide cargo for immune evasion. *Immunity*, 20(1):71–85, Jan 2004. [PubMed:14738766].
- [60] K. Hashimoto, T. Nakanishi, and Y. Kurosawa. Isolation of carp genes encoding major histocompatibility complex antigens. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.*, 87(17):6863– 6867, Sep 1990. [PubMed:2395879].
- [61] K. Hashimoto, T. Nakanishi, and Y. Kurosawa. Identification of a shark sequence resembling the major histocompatibility complex class I alpha 3 domain. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.*, 89(6):2209–2212, Mar 1992. [PubMed:1549583].
- [62] H. Takeuchi, F. Figueroa, C. O'hUigin, and J. Klein. Cloning and characterization of class I Mhc genes of the zebrafish, Brachydanio rerio. *Immunogenetics*, 42(2):77–84, 1995. [PubMed:7607709].
- [63] U. Grimholt, I. Hordvik, V. M. Fosse, I. Olsaker, C. Endresen, and O. Lie. Molecular cloning of major histocompatibility complex class I cDNAs from Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar). *Immunogenetics*, 37(6):469–473, 1993. [PubMed:8436423].
- [64] I. Hordvik, U. Grimholt, V. M. Fosse, O. Lie, and C. Endresen. Cloning and sequence analysis of cDNAs encoding the MHC class II beta chain in Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar). *Immunogenetics*, 37(6):437–441, 1993. [PubMed:8436418].
- [65] H. Ono, D. Klein, V. Vincek, F. Figueroa, C. O'hUigin, H. Tichy, and J. Klein. Major histocompatibility complex class II genes of zebrafish. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A., 89(24):11886–11890, Dec 1992. [PubMed:1465413].
- [66] K. Aoyagi, J. M. Dijkstra, C. Xia, I. Denda, M. Ototake, K. Hashimoto, and T. Nakanishi. Classical MHC class I genes composed of highly divergent sequence lineages share a single locus in rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss). J. Immunol., 168(1):260–273, Jan 2002. [PubMed:11751970].

- [67] K. M. Miller, S. Li, T. J. Ming, K. H. Kaukinen, and A. D. Schulze. The salmonid MHC class I: more ancient loci uncovered. *Immunogenetics*, 58(7):571–589, Jul 2006. [PubMed:16794819].
- [68] B. Dixon, R. J. Stet, S. H. van Erp, and B. Pohajdak. Characterization of beta 2-microglobulin transcripts from two teleost species. *Immunogenetics*, 38(1):27–34, 1993. [PubMed:8462991].
- [69] H. Ono, F. Figueroa, C. O'hUigin, and J. Klein. Cloning of the beta 2-microglobulin gene in the zebrafish. *Immunogenetics*, 38(1):1–10, 1993. [PubMed:8462988].
- [70] K. E. Magor, B. P. Shum, and P. Parham. The beta 2-microglobulin locus of rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss) contains three polymorphic genes. J. Immunol., 172(6):3635–3643, Mar 2004. [PubMed:15004166].
- [71] D. Klein, H. Ono, C. O'hUigin, V. Vincek, T. Goldschmidt, and J. Klein. Extensive MHC variability in cichlid fishes of Lake Malawi. *Nature*, 364(6435):330–334, Jul 1993. [PubMed:8332189].
- [72] U. Grimholt, I. Olsaker, C. de Vries Lindstrøm, and O. Lie. A study of variability in the MHC class II beta 1 and class I alpha 2 domain exons of Atlantic salmon, Salmo salar L. Anim. Genet., 25(3):147–153, Jun 1994. [PubMed:7943948].
- [73] M. Kasahara, E. C. McKinney, M. F. Flajnik, and T. Ishibashi. The evolutionary origin of the major histocompatibility complex: polymorphism of class II alpha chain genes in the cartilaginous fish. *Eur. J. Immunol.*, 23(9):2160–2165, Sep 1993. [PubMed:8370399].
- [74] A. Sato, D. Klein, H. Sultmann, F. Figueroa, C. O'hUigin, and J. Klein. Class I mhc genes of cichlid fishes: identification, expression, and polymorphism. *Immunogenetics*, 46(1):63–72, 1997. [PubMed:9148790].
- [75] P. N. Rodrigues, T. T. Hermsen, J. H. Rombout, E. Egberts, and R. J. Stet. Detection of MHC class II transcripts in lymphoid tissues of the common carp (Cyprinus carpio L.). *Dev. Comp. Immunol.*, 19(6):483–496, 1995. [PubMed:8801130].
- [76] J. D. Hansen, P. Strassburger, G. H. Thorgaard, W. P. Young, and L. Du Pasquier. Expression, linkage, and polymorphism of MHC-related genes in rainbow trout, Oncorhynchus mykiss. J. Immunol., 163(2):774–786, Jul 1999. [PubMed:10395670].

- [77] J. M. Dijkstra, B. Kollner, K. Aoyagi, Y. Sawamoto, A. Kuroda, M. Ototake, T. Nakanishi, and U. Fischer. The rainbow trout classical MHC class I molecule Onmy-UBA*501 is expressed in similar cell types as mammalian classical MHC class I molecules. *Fish Shellfish Immunol.*, 14(1):1–23, Jan 2003. [PubMed:12547623].
- [78] S. Nath, S. Kales, K. Fujiki, and B. Dixon. Major histocompatibility class II genes in rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss) exhibit temperature dependent downregulation. *Immunogenetics*, 58(5-6):443–453, Jun 2006. [PubMed:16557365].
- [79] A. Kawano, S. C. Kales, K. Fujiki, S. J. DeWitte-Orr, B. Dixon, L. E. Lee, and N. C. Bols. A comparison of rainbow trout cell lines for their expression of the major histocompatibility complex genes and the induction of beta-2-microglobulin by dsRNA. *Fish Shellfish Immunol.*, 29(2):312–318, Aug 2010. [PubMed:20420918].
- [80] U. Grimholt, S. Larsen, R. Nordmo, P. Midtlyng, S. Kjoeglum, A. Storset, S. Saebø, and R. J. Stet. MHC polymorphism and disease resistance in Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar); facing pathogens with single expressed major histocompatibility class I and class II loci. *Immunogenetics*, 55(4):210–219, Jul 2003. [PubMed:12811427].
- [81] M. Carrington and R. E. Bontrop. Effects of MHC class I on HIV/SIV disease in primates. AIDS, 16 Suppl 4:S105–114, 2002. [PubMed:12699007].
- [82] B. Zekarias, A. A. Ter Huurne, W. J. Landman, J. M. Rebel, J. M. Pol, and E. Gruys. Immunological basis of differences in disease resistance in the chicken. *Vet. Res.*, 33(2):109–125, 2002. [PubMed:11944802].
- [83] R. J. Stet, C. P. Kruiswijk, and B. Dixon. Major histocompatibility lineages and immune gene function in teleost fishes: the road not taken. *Crit. Rev. Immunol.*, 23(5-6):441–471, 2003. [PubMed:15030307].
- [84] R. B. Phillips, A. Zimmerman, M. A. Noakes, Y. Palti, M. R. Morasch, L. Eiben, S. S. Ristow, G. H. Thorgaard, and J. D. Hansen. Physical and genetic mapping of the rainbow trout major histocompatibility regions: evidence for duplication of the class I region. *Immunogenetics*, 55(8):561–569, Nov 2003. [PubMed:14566436].
- [85] K. Takami, Z. Zaleska-Rutczynska, F. Figueroa, and J. Klein. Linkage of LMP, TAP, and RING3 with Mhc class I rather than class II genes in the zebrafish. J. Immunol., 159(12):6052–6060, Dec 1997. [PubMed:9550404].

- [86] E. D. Landis, Y. Palti, J. Dekoning, R. Drew, R. B. Phillips, and J. D. Hansen. Identification and regulatory analysis of rainbow trout tapasin and tapasin-related genes. *Immunogenetics*, 58(1):56–69, Feb 2006. [PubMed:16447046].
- [87] N. W. Miller, A. Deuter, and L. W. Clem. Phylogeny of lymphocyte heterogeneity: the cellular requirements for the mixed leucocyte reaction with channel catfish. *Immunology*, 59(1):123–128, Sep 1986. [PubMed:2944817].
- [88] R. R. Caspi and R. R. Avtalion. The mixed leukocyte reaction (MLR) in carp: bidirectional and undirectional MLR responses. *Dev. Comp. Immunol.*, 8(3):631– 637, 1984. [PubMed:6238857].
- [89] H. M. Etlinger, H. O. Hodgins, and J. M. Chiller. Evolution of the lymphoid system. II. Evidence for immunoglobulin determinants on all rainbow trout lymphocytes and demonstration of mixed leukocyte reaction. *Eur. J. Immunol.*, 7(12):881–887, Dec 1977. [PubMed:75803].
- [90] A. N. Vallejo, N. W. Miller, N. E. Harvey, M. A. Cuchens, G. W. Warr, and L. W. Clem. Cellular pathway(s) of antigen processing and presentation in fish APC: endosomal involvement and cell-free antigen presentation. *Dev. Immunol.*, 3(1):51–65, 1992. [PubMed:1343103].
- [91] A. B. Antao, V. G. Chinchar, T. J. McConnell, N. W. Miller, L. W. Clem, and M. R. Wilson. MHC class I genes of the channel catfish: sequence analysis and expression. *Immunogenetics*, 49(4):303–311, Apr 1999. [PubMed:10079294].
- [92] G. C. Sen. Viruses and interferons. Annu. Rev. Microbiol., 55:255–281, 2001.
 [PubMed:11544356].
- [93] S. Goodbourn, L. Didcock, and R. E. Randall. Interferons: cell signalling, immune modulation, antiviral response and virus countermeasures. J. Gen. Virol., 81(Pt 10):2341–2364, Oct 2000. [PubMed:10993923].
- [94] B. Robertsen. The interferon system of teleost fish. Fish Shellfish Immunol., 20(2):172–191, Feb 2006. [[PubMed:15939626].
- [95] S. M. Altmann, M. T. Mellon, D. L. Distel, and C. H. Kim. Molecular and functional analysis of an interferon gene from the zebrafish, Danio rerio. J. Virol., 77(3):1992– 2002, Feb 2003. [PubMed:12525633].

- [96] B. Robertsen, V. Bergan, T. Røkenes, R. Larsen, and A. Albuquerque. Atlantic salmon interferon genes: cloning, sequence analysis, expression, and biological activity. J. Interferon Cytokine Res., 23(10):601–612, Oct 2003. [PubMed:14585200].
- [97] S. Long, M. Wilson, E. Bengten, L. Bryan, L. W. Clem, N. W. Miller, and V. G. Chinchar. Identification of a cDNA encoding channel catfish interferon. *Dev. Comp. Immunol.*, 28(2):97–111, Feb 2004. [PubMed:12969796].
- [98] J. D. Hansen and S. La Patra. Induction of the rainbow trout MHC class I pathway during acute IHNV infection. *Immunogenetics*, 54(9):654–661, Dec 2002. [PubMed:12466898].
- [99] S. M. Jørgensen, B. L. Syvertsen, B. Lyng-Syvertsen, M. Lukacs, U. Grimholt, and T. Gjøen. Expression of MHC class I pathway genes in response to infectious salmon anaemia virus in Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.) cells. *Fish Shellfish Immunol.*, 21(5):548–560, Nov 2006. [PubMed:16772112].
- [100] H. G. Ljunggren, N. J. Stam, C. Ohlen, J. J. Neefjes, P. Hoglund, M. T. Heemels, J. Bastin, T. N. Schumacher, A. Townsend, and K. Karre. Empty MHC class I molecules come out in the cold. *Nature*, 346(6283):476–480, Aug 1990. [PubMed:2198471].
- [101] S. Kales, J. Parks-Dely, P. Schulte, and B. Dixon. Beta-2-microglobulin gene expression is maintained in rainbow trout and Atlantic salmon kept at low temperatures. *Fish Shellfish Immunol.*, 21(2):176–186, Aug 2006. [PubMed:16464613].
- [102] C. Turano, S. Coppari, F. Altieri, and A. Ferraro. Proteins of the PDI family: unpredicted non-ER locations and functions. J. Cell. Physiol., 193(2):154–163, Nov 2002. [PubMed:12384992].
- [103] D. A. Ellerman, D. G. Myles, and P. Primakoff. A role for sperm surface protein disulfide isomerase activity in gamete fusion: evidence for the participation of ERp57. *Dev. Cell*, 10(6):831–837, Jun 2006. [PubMed:16740484].
- [104] G. G. Guo, K. Patel, V. Kumar, M. Shah, V. A. Fried, J. D. Etlinger, and P. B. Sehgal. Association of the chaperone glucose-regulated protein 58 (GRP58/ER-60/ERp57) with Stat3 in cytosol and plasma membrane complexes. J. Interferon Cytokine Res., 22(5):555–563, May 2002. [PubMed:12060494].

- [105] T. S. Huang, P. A. Olsvik, A. Kr?vel, H. S. Tung, and B. E. Torstensen. Stressinduced expression of protein disulfide isomerase associated 3 (PDIA3) in Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.). *Comp. Biochem. Physiol. B, Biochem. Mol. Biol.*, 154(4):435–442, Dec 2009. [PubMed:19747560].
- [106] Y. Zhang and M. A. Frohman. Cloning cDNA Ends Using RACE. Methods Mol. Med., 13:81–105, 1998. [PubMed:21390839].
- [107] R.C. Ganassin and N.C. Bols. Development from the rainbow trout spleen of a cell line, RTS11, in the monocyte/macrophage lineage. *Fish & Shellfish Immunol.*, pages 457–476, 1998.
- [108] L. E. Lee, J. H. Clemons, D. G. Bechtel, S. J. Caldwell, K. B. Han, M. Pasitschniak-Arts, D. D. Mosser, and N. C. Bols. Development and characterization of a rainbow trout liver cell line expressing cytochrome P450-dependent monooxygenase activity. *Cell Biol. Toxicol.*, 9(3):279–294, 1993. [PubMed:8299006].
- [109] A. Barlian M. Chirino-Trejo S.J. Caldwell P. Goegan Bols, NC. and Lee L.E.J. Development of a cell line from primary cultures of rainbow trout, Oncorhynchus mykiss (Walbaum), gills. J. Fish. Dis., 9:193–198, 1990.
- [110] K. Fujiki, L. Gerwick, C. J. Bayne, L. Mitchell, J. Gauley, N. Bols, and B. Dixon. Molecular cloning and characterization of rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss) CCAAT/enhancer binding protein beta. *Immunogenetics*, 55(4):253–261, Jul 2003. [PubMed:12774179].
- [111] A. Donella-Deana, P. James, W. Staudenmann, L. Cesaro, O. Marin, A. M. Brunati, M. Ruzzene, and L. A. Pinna. Isolation from spleen of a 57-kDa protein substrate of the tyrosine kinase Lyn. Identification as a protein related to protein disulfideisomerase and localisation of the phosphorylation sites. *Eur. J. Biochem.*, 235(1-2):18–25, Jan 1996. [PubMed:8631326].
- [112] K. Kita, N. Okumura, T. Takao, M. Watanabe, T. Matsubara, O. Nishimura, and K. Nagai. Evidence for phosphorylation of rat liver glucose-regulated protein 58, GRP58/ERp57/ER-60, induced by fasting and leptin. *FEBS Lett.*, 580(1):199–205, Jan 2006. [PubMed:16375900].
- [113] F.W Allendorf and G.H. Thorgaard. Tetraploidy and the evolution of salmonid fishes. Evolutionary Genetics of Fishes Plenum Press, New York., pages 11–53, 1984.

- [114] P. Koivunen, N. Horelli-Kuitunen, T. Helaakoski, P. Karvonen, M. Jaakkola, A. Palotie, and K. I. Kivirikko. Structures of the human gene for the protein disulfide isomerase-related polypeptide ERp60 and a processed gene and assignment of these genes to 15q15 and 1q21. *Genomics*, 42(3):397–404, Jun 1997. [PubMed:9205111].
- [115] Y. Ito, P. Pandey, N. Mishra, S. Kumar, N. Narula, S. Kharbanda, S. Saxena, and D. Kufe. Targeting of the c-Abl tyrosine kinase to mitochondria in endoplasmic reticulum stress-induced apoptosis. *Mol. Cell. Biol.*, 21(18):6233–6242, Sep 2001. [PubMed:11509666].
- [116] S. Kales, K. Fujiki, and B. Dixon. Molecular cloning and characterization of calreticulin from rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss). *Immunogenetics*, 55(10):717–723, Jan 2004. [PubMed:14669059].
- [117] S. C. Kales, N. C. Bols, and B. Dixon. Calreticulin in rainbow trout: a limited response to endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress. *Comp. Biochem. Physiol. B, Biochem. Mol. Biol.*, 147(4):607–615, Aug 2007. [PubMed:17490907].
- [118] F. A. Arosa, O. de Jesus, G. Porto, A. M. Carmo, and M. de Sousa. Calreticulin is expressed on the cell surface of activated human peripheral blood T lymphocytes in association with major histocompatibility complex class I molecules. J. Biol. Chem., 274(24):16917–16922, Jun 1999. [PubMed:10358038].
- [119] M. Obeid, A. Tesniere, F. Ghiringhelli, G. M. Fimia, L. Apetoh, J. L. Perfettini, M. Castedo, G. Mignot, T. Panaretakis, N. Casares, D. Metivier, N. Larochette, P. van Endert, F. Ciccosanti, M. Piacentini, L. Zitvogel, and G. Kroemer. Calreticulin exposure dictates the immunogenicity of cancer cell death. *Nat. Med.*, 13(1):54–61, Jan 2007. [PubMed:17187072].
- [120] J. D. Oliver, H. L. Roderick, D. H. Llewellyn, and S. High. ERp57 functions as a subunit of specific complexes formed with the ER lectins calreticulin and calnexin. *Mol. Biol. Cell*, 10(8):2573–2582, Aug 1999. [PubMed:10436013].
- [121] S. J. Dewitte-Orr, J. R. Zorzitto, L. P. Sutton, and N. C. Bols. Preferential induction of apoptosis in the rainbow trout macrophage cell line, RTS11, by actinomycin D, cycloheximide and double stranded RNA. *Fish Shellfish Immunol.*, 18(4):279–295, Apr 2005. [PubMed:15561559].

- [122] S. M. Jørgensen, U. Grimholt, and T. Gjøen. Cloning and expression analysis of an Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.) tapasin gene. *Dev. Comp. Immunol.*, 31(7):708–719, 2007. [PubMed:17157378].
- [123] R. A. Mazzarella, N. Marcus, S. M. Haugejorden, J. M. Balcarek, J. J. Baldassare, B. Roy, L. J. Li, A. S. Lee, and M. Green. Erp61 is GRP58, a stress-inducible luminal endoplasmic reticulum protein, but is devoid of phosphatidylinositide-specific phospholipase C activity. Arch. Biochem. Biophys., 308(2):454–460, Feb 1994. [PubMed:8109975].
- [124] M. Waser, N. Mesaeli, C. Spencer, and M. Michalak. Regulation of calreticulin gene expression by calcium. J. Cell Biol., 138(3):547–557, Aug 1997. [PubMed:9245785].
- [125] J. P. Lievremont, R. Rizzuto, L. Hendershot, and J. Meldolesi. BiP, a major chaperone protein of the endoplasmic reticulum lumen, plays a direct and important role in the storage of the rapidly exchanging pool of Ca2+. J. Biol. Chem., 272(49):30873– 30879, Dec 1997. [PubMed:9388233].
- [126] N. Ahluwalia, J. J. Bergeron, I. Wada, E. Degen, and D. B. Williams. The p88 molecular chaperone is identical to the endoplasmic reticulum membrane protein, calnexin. J. Biol. Chem., 267(15):10914–10918, May 1992. [PubMed:1350281].
- [127] W. J. Ou, P. H. Cameron, D. Y. Thomas, and J. J. Bergeron. Association of folding intermediates of glycoproteins with calnexin during protein maturation. *Nature*, 364(6440):771–776, Aug 1993. [PubMed:8102790].
- [128] C. Hammond, I. Braakman, and A. Helenius. Role of N-linked oligosaccharide recognition, glucose trimming, and calnexin in glycoprotein folding and quality control. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.*, 91(3):913–917, Feb 1994. [PubMed:8302866].
- [129] H. L. Roderick, J. D. Lechleiter, and P. Camacho. Cytosolic phosphorylation of calnexin controls intracellular Ca(2+) oscillations via an interaction with SERCA2b. J. Cell Biol., 149(6):1235–1248, Jun 2000. [PubMed:10851021].
- [130] A. Muller-Taubenberger, A. N. Lupas, H. Li, M. Ecke, E. Simmeth, and G. Gerisch. Calreticulin and calnexin in the endoplasmic reticulum are important for phagocytosis. *EMBO J.*, 20(23):6772–6782, Dec 2001. [PubMed:11726513].

- [131] R. Guerin, G. Arseneault, S. Dumont, and L. A. Rokeach. Calnexin is involved in apoptosis induced by endoplasmic reticulum stress in the fission yeast. *Mol. Biol. Cell*, 19(10):4404–4420, Oct 2008. [PubMed:18701708].
- [132] T. Takizawa, C. Tatematsu, K. Watanabe, K. Kato, and Y. Nakanishi. Cleavage of calnexin caused by apoptotic stimuli: implication for the regulation of apoptosis. J. Biochem., 136(3):399–405, Sep 2004. [PubMed:1558898].
- [133] A. Zuppini, J. Groenendyk, L. A. Cormack, G. Shore, M. Opas, R. C. Bleackley, and M. Michalak. Calnexin deficiency and endoplasmic reticulum stress-induced apoptosis. *Biochemistry*, 41(8):2850–2858, Feb 2002. [PubMed:11851433].
- [134] F. Delom, D. Fessart, and E. Chevet. Regulation of calnexin sub-cellular localization modulates endoplasmic reticulum stress-induced apoptosis in MCF-7 cells. *Apoptosis*, 12(2):293–305, Feb 2007. [PubMed:17203246].
- [135] J. D. Schrag, J. J. Bergeron, Y. Li, S. Borisova, M. Hahn, D. Y. Thomas, and M. Cygler. The Structure of calnexin, an ER chaperone involved in quality control of protein folding. *Mol. Cell*, 8(3):633–644, Sep 2001. [PubMed:11583625].
- [136] M. R. Leach, M. F. Cohen-Doyle, D. Y. Thomas, and D. B. Williams. Localization of the lectin, ERp57 binding, and polypeptide binding sites of calnexin and calreticulin. J. Biol. Chem., 277(33):29686–29697, Aug 2002. [PubMed:12052826].
- [137] W. J. Ou, D. Y. Thomas, A. W. Bell, and J. J. Bergeron. Casein kinase II phosphorylation of signal sequence receptor alpha and the associated membrane chaperone calnexin. J. Biol. Chem., 267(33):23789–23796, Nov 1992. [PubMed:1331100].
- [138] E. Chevet, H. N. Wong, D. Gerber, C. Cochet, A. Fazel, P. H. Cameron, J. N. Gushue, D. Y. Thomas, and J. J. Bergeron. Phosphorylation by CK2 and MAPK enhances calnexin association with ribosomes. *EMBO J.*, 18(13):3655–3666, Jul 1999. [PubMed:10393181].
- [139] K. S. Anderson and P. Cresswell. A role for calnexin (IP90) in the assembly of class II MHC molecules. *EMBO J.*, 13(3):675–682, Feb 1994. [PubMed:8313912].
- [140] B. M. Carreno, K. L. Schreiber, D. J. McKean, I. Stroynowski, and T. H. Hansen. Aglycosylated and phosphatidylinositol-anchored MHC class I molecules are associated with calnexin. Evidence implicating the class I-connecting peptide segment in calnexin association. J. Immunol., 154(10):5173–5180, May 1995. [PubMed:7730623].

- [141] J. E. Scott and J. R. Dawson. MHC class I expression and transport in a calnexindeficient cell line. J. Immunol., 155(1):143–148, Jul 1995. [PubMed:7602092].
- [142] Y. Zhang and D. B. Williams. Assembly of MHC class I molecules within the endoplasmic reticulum. *Immunol. Res.*, 35(1-2):151–162, 2006. [PubMed:17003517].
- [143] C. Hammond and A. Helenius. Folding of VSV G protein: sequential interaction with BiP and calnexin. *Science*, 266(5184):456–458, Oct 1994. [PubMed:7939687].
- [144] M. Fukushi, Y. Yoshinaka, Y. Matsuoka, S. Hatakeyama, Y. Ishizaka, T. Kirikae, T. Sasazuki, and T. Miyoshi-Akiyama. Monitoring of S protein maturation in the endoplasmic reticulum by calnexin is important for the infectivity of severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus. J. Virol., 86(21):11745–11753, Nov 2012. [PubMed:22915798].
- [145] L. Huang, A. E. Franklin, and N. E. Hoffman. Primary structure and characterization of an Arabidopsis thaliana calnexin-like protein. J. Biol. Chem., 268(9):6560–6566, Mar 1993. [PubMed:8454626].
- [146] F. Parlati, M. Dominguez, J. J. Bergeron, and D. Y. Thomas. Saccharomyces cerevisiae CNE1 encodes an endoplasmic reticulum (ER) membrane protein with sequence similarity to calnexin and calreticulin and functions as a constituent of the ER quality control apparatus. J. Biol. Chem., 270(1):244–253, Jan 1995. [PubMed:7814381].
- [147] S. Yamamoto and M. Nakamura. Calnexin: its molecular cloning and expression in the liver of the frog, Rana rugosa. *FEBS Lett.*, 387(1):27–32, May 1996.
 [PubMed:8654561].
- [148] J. R. Fuller, J. E. Pitzer, U. Godwin, M. Albertino, B. D. Machon, K. P. Kearse, and T. J. McConnell. Characterization of the molecular chaperone calnexin in the channel catfish, Ictalurus punctatus, and its association with MHC class II molecules. *Dev. Comp. Immunol.*, 28(6):603–617, May 2004. [PubMed:15177114].
- [149] L. Sever, N. C. Bols, and B. Dixon. The cloning and inducible expression of the rainbow trout ERp57 gene. *Fish Shellfish Immunol.*, 34(2):410–419, Feb 2013.
 [PubMed:23165287].
- [150] R. C. Edgar. MUSCLE: a multiple sequence alignment method with reduced time and space complexity. *BMC Bioinformatics*, 5:113, Aug 2004. [[PubMed:15318951].

- [151] N. Saitou and M. Nei. The neighbor-joining method: a new method for reconstructing phylogenetic trees. *Mol. Biol. Evol.*, 4(4):406–425, Jul 1987. [PubMed:3447015].
- [152] TH. Jukes and CR. Cantor. Evolution of protein molecules. Mammalian protein metabolism, Academic Press, New York, pages 21–132, 1969.
- [153] J. D. Bendtsen, H. Nielsen, G. von Heijne, and S. Brunak. Improved prediction of signal peptides: SignalP 3.0. J. Mol. Biol., 340(4):783-795, Jul 2004. [PubMed:15223320].
- [154] A. Krogh, B. Larsson, G. von Heijne, and E. L. Sonnhammer. Predicting transmembrane protein topology with a hidden Markov model: application to complete genomes. J. Mol. Biol., 305(3):567–580, Jan 2001. [PubMed:11152613].
- [155] N. Blom, S. Gammeltoft, and S. Brunak. Sequence and structure-based prediction of eukaryotic protein phosphorylation sites. J. Mol. Biol., 294(5):1351–1362, Dec 1999.
 [PubMed:10600390].
- [156] J. Ren, L. Wen, X. Gao, C. Jin, Y. Xue, and X. Yao. CSS-Palm 2.0: an updated software for palmitoylation sites prediction. *Protein Eng. Des. Sel.*, 21(11):639–644, Nov 2008. [PubMed:18753194].
- [157] E. M. Zdobnov and R. Apweiler. InterProScan-an integration platform for the signature-recognition methods in InterPro. *Bioinformatics*, 17(9):847–848, Sep 2001.
 [PubMed:11590104].
- [158] A. Marchler-Bauer, J. B. Anderson, P. F. Cherukuri, C. DeWeese-Scott, L. Y. Geer, M. Gwadz, S. He, D. I. Hurwitz, J. D. Jackson, Z. Ke, C. J. Lanczycki, C. A. Liebert, C. Liu, F. Lu, G. H. Marchler, M. Mullokandov, B. A. Shoemaker, V. Simonyan, J. S. Song, P. A. Thiessen, R. A. Yamashita, J. J. Yin, D. Zhang, and S. H. Bryant. CDD: a Conserved Domain Database for protein classification. *Nucleic Acids Res.*, 33(Database issue):D192–196, Jan 2005. [PubMed:15608175].
- [159] A. K. Lakkaraju, L. Abrami, T. Lemmin, S. Blaskovic, B. Kunz, A. Kihara, M. Dal Peraro, and F. G. van der Goot. Palmitoylated calnexin is a key component of the ribosome-translocon complex. *EMBO J.*, 31(7):1823–1835, Apr 2012. [PubMed:22314232].

- [160] E. Chevet, J. Smirle, P. H. Cameron, D. Y. Thomas, and J. J. Bergeron. Calnexin phosphorylation: linking cytoplasmic signalling to endoplasmic reticulum lumenal functions. *Semin. Cell Dev. Biol.*, 21(5):486–490, Jul 2010. [PubMed:20005969].
- [161] J. Schmidtke and I. Kandt. Single-copy DNA relationships between diploid and tetraploid teleostean fish species. *Chromosoma*, 83(2):191–197, 1981. [PubMed:7273947].
- [162] P. H. Cameron, E. Chevet, O. Pluquet, D. Y. Thomas, and J. J. Bergeron. Calnexin phosphorylation attenuates the release of partially misfolded alpha1antitrypsin to the secretory pathway. J. Biol. Chem., 284(50):34570–34579, Dec 2009. [PubMed:19815548].
- [163] M. Michalak, R. E. Milner, K. Burns, and M. Opas. Calreticulin. *Biochem. J.*, 285 (Pt 3):681–692, Aug 1992. [PubMed:1497605].
- [164] D. Watanabe, K. Yamada, Y. Nishina, Y. Tajima, U. Koshimizu, A. Nagata, and Y. Nishimune. Molecular cloning of a novel Ca(2+)-binding protein (calmegin) specifically expressed during male meiotic germ cell development. J. Biol. Chem., 269(10):7744–7749, Mar 1994. [PubMed:8126001].
- [165] H. Tanaka, M. Ikawa, J. Tsuchida, M. Nozaki, M. Suzuki, T. Fujiwara, M. Okabe, and Y. Nishimune. Cloning and characterization of the human Calmegin gene encoding putative testis-specific chaperone. *Gene*, 204(1-2):159–163, Dec 1997. [PubMed:9434179].
- [166] M. Ikawa, T. Nakanishi, S. Yamada, I. Wada, K. Kominami, H. Tanaka, M. Nozaki, Y. Nishimune, and M. Okabe. Calmegin is required for fertilin alpha/beta heterodimerization and sperm fertility. *Dev. Biol.*, 240(1):254–261, Dec 2001. [PubMed:11784061].
- [167] F. Parlati, D. Dignard, J. J. Bergeron, and D. Y. Thomas. The calnexin homologue cnx1+ in Schizosaccharomyces pombe, is an essential gene which can be complemented by its soluble ER domain. *EMBO J.*, 14(13):3064–3072, Jul 1995. [PubMed:7621821].
- [168] A. Denzel, M. Molinari, C. Trigueros, J. E. Martin, S. Velmurgan, S. Brown, G. Stamp, and M. J. Owen. Early postnatal death and motor disorders in mice

congenitally deficient in calnexin expression. *Mol. Cell. Biol.*, 22(21):7398–7404, Nov 2002. [PubMed:12370287].

- [169] M. Michalak, J. Lynch, J. Groenendyk, L. Guo, J. M. Robert Parker, and M. Opas. Calreticulin in cardiac development and pathology. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta*, 1600(1-2):32–37, Nov 2002. [PubMed:12445456].
- [170] I. C. Hung, B. W. Cherng, W. M. Hsu, and S. J. Lee. Calnexin is required for zebrafish posterior lateral line development. *Int. J. Dev. Biol.*, 57(5):427–438, 2013.
 [DOI:10.1387/ijdb.120166sl] [PubMed:23873374].
- [171] J. S. Gilchrist and G. N. Pierce. Identification and purification of a calcium-binding protein in hepatic nuclear membranes. J. Biol. Chem., 268(6):4291–4299, Feb 1993.
 [PubMed:8440713].
- [172] C. N. Torgler, M. de Tiani, T. Raven, J. P. Aubry, R. Brown, and E. Meldrum. Expression of bak in S. pombe results in a lethality mediated through interaction with the calnexin homologue Cnx1. *Cell Death Differ.*, 4(4):263–271, May 1997. [PubMed:16465239].
- [173] J. Groenendyk, A. Zuppini, G. Shore, M. Opas, R. C. Bleackley, and M. Michalak. Caspase 12 in calnexin-deficient cells. *Biochemistry*, 45(44):13219–13226, Nov 2006.
 [PubMed:17073443].
- [174] S. M. Rizvi and M. Raghavan. Mechanisms of function of tapasin, a critical major histocompatibility complex class I assembly factor. *Traffic*, 11(3):332–347, Mar 2010.
 [PubMed:20070606].
- [175] A. G. Grandea, M. J. Androlewicz, R. S. Athwal, D. E. Geraghty, and T. Spies. Dependence of peptide binding by MHC class I molecules on their interaction with TAP. *Science*, 270(5233):105–108, Oct 1995. [PubMed:7569935].
- [176] N. Garbi, P. Tan, A. D. Diehl, B. J. Chambers, H. G. Ljunggren, F. Momburg, and G. J. Hammerling. Impaired immune responses and altered peptide repertoire in tapasin-deficient mice. *Nat. Immunol.*, 1(3):234–238, Sep 2000. [PubMed:10973281].
- [177] S. Li, K. M. Paulsson, S. Chen, H. O. Sjogren, and P. Wang. Tapasin is required for efficient peptide binding to transporter associated with antigen processing. J. Biol. Chem., 275(3):1581–1586, Jan 2000. [PubMed:10636848].

- [178] N. Garbi, N. Tiwari, F. Momburg, and G. J. Hammerling. A major role for tapasin as a stabilizer of the TAP peptide transporter and consequences for MHC class I expression. *Eur. J. Immunol.*, 33(1):264–273, Jan 2003. [PubMed:12594855].
- [179] P. Brocke, N. Garbi, F. Momburg, and G. J. Hammerling. HLA-DM, HLA-DO and tapasin: functional similarities and differences. *Curr. Opin. Immunol.*, 14(1):22–29, Feb 2002. [PubMed:11790529].
- [180] K. L. Wright, L. C. White, A. Kelly, S. Beck, J. Trowsdale, and J. P. Ting. Coordinate regulation of the human TAP1 and LMP2 genes from a shared bidirectional promoter. *J. Exp. Med.*, 181(4):1459–1471, Apr 1995. [PubMed:7699330].
- [181] J. A. Herberg, J. Sgouros, T. Jones, J. Copeman, S. J. Humphray, D. Sheer, P. Cresswell, S. Beck, and J. Trowsdale. Genomic analysis of the Tapasin gene, located close to the TAP loci in the MHC. *Eur. J. Immunol.*, 28(2):459–467, Feb 1998. [PubMed:9521053].
- [182] S. Essbauer and W. Ahne. Viruses of lower vertebrates. J. Vet. Med. B Infect. Dis. Vet. Public Health, 48(6):403–475, Aug 2001. [PubMed:11550762].
- [183] J. R. Winton, C. N. Lannan, J. L. Fryer, R. P. Hedrick, T. R. Meyers, J. A. Plumb, and T. Yamamoto. Morphological and biochemical properties of four members of a novel group of reoviruses isolated from aquatic animals. *J. Gen. Virol.*, 68 (Pt 2):353–364, Feb 1987. [PubMed:3819694].
- [184] S. E. La Patra, K. A. Lauda, and G. R. Jones. Aquareovirus interference mediated resistance to infectious hematopoietic necrosis virus. *Vet. Res.*, 26(5-6):455–459, 1995. [PubMed:8581022].
- [185] S. J. DeWitte-Orr, J. A. Leong, and N. C. Bols. Induction of antiviral genes, Mx and vig-1, by dsRNA and Chum salmon reovirus in rainbow trout monocyte/macrophage and fibroblast cell lines. *Fish Shellfish Immunol.*, 23(3):670–682, Sep 2007. [PubMed:17368049].
- [186] A Kawano, C Haiduk, K Schirmer, R Hanner, LEJ Lee, B Dixon, and NC Bols. Development of a rainbow trout intestinal epithelial cell line and its response to lipopolysaccharide. Aquaculture Nutrition, 17:241–252, 2011.

- [187] S. J. DeWitte-Orr and N. C. Bols. Cytopathic effects of chum salmon reovirus to salmonid epithelial, fibroblast and macrophage cell lines. *Virus Res.*, 126(1-2):159– 171, Jun 2007. [PubMed:17391795].
- [188] S. M. Rizvi, N. Del Cid, L. Lybarger, and M. Raghavan. Distinct functions for the glycans of tapasin and heavy chains in the assembly of MHC class I molecules. J. Immunol., 186(4):2309–2320, Feb 2011. [PubMed:21263072].
- [189] W. D. Eaton. Anti-viral activity in four species of salmonids following exposure to poly inosinic:cytidylic acid. *Dis. aquat. Org.*, (4):193–198, 1990.
- [190] I. Jensen and B. Robertsen. Effect of double-stranded RNA and interferon on the antiviral activity of Atlantic salmon cells against infectious salmon anemia virus and infectious pancreatic necrosis virus. *Fish Shellfish Immunol.*, 13(3):221–241, Sep 2002. [PubMed:12365733].
- [191] J.L. Fryer T. Kimura J.R. Winton, C.N. Lannan. Isolation of a new reovirus from Chum salmon in Japan. *Fish Pathol.*, pages 155–162, 1981. [PubMed:12200052].
- [192] H. Sultmann, B. W. Murray, and J. Klein. Identification of seven genes in the major histocompatibility complex class I region of the zebrafish. *Scand. J. Immunol.*, 51(6):577–585, Jun 2000. [PubMed:10849368].
- [193] R. D. Pinto, A. R. Moreira, P. J. Pereira, and N. M. dos Santos. Molecular cloning and characterization of sea bass (Dicentrarchus labrax, L.) calreticulin. *Fish Shellfish Immunol.*, 34(6):1611–1618, Jun 2013. [PubMed:23523749].
- [194] A. Belicha-Villanueva, M. Golding, S. McEvoy, N. Sarvaiya, P. Cresswell, S. O. Gollnick, and N. Bangia. Identification of an alternate splice form of tapasin in human melanoma. *Hum. Immunol.*, 71(10):1018–1026, Oct 2010. [PubMed Central:PMC2952442].
- [195] W. Ma, P. J. Lehner, P. Cresswell, J. S. Pober, and D. R. Johnson. Interferongamma rapidly increases peptide transporter (TAP) subunit expression and peptide transport capacity in endothelial cells. J. Biol. Chem., 272(26):16585–16590, Jun 1997. [PubMed:9195970].
- [196] U. Boehm, T. Klamp, M. Groot, and J. C. Howard. Cellular responses to interferongamma. Annu. Rev. Immunol., 15:749–795, 1997. [PubMed:9143706].

- [197] D. R. Johnson and J. S. Pober. Tumor necrosis factor and immune interferon synergistically increase transcription of HLA class I heavy- and light-chain genes in vascular endothelium. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.*, 87(13):5183–5187, Jul 1990. [PubMed:2164225].
- [198] F. Herrmann, J. Trowsdale, C. Huber, and B. Seliger. Cloning and functional analyses of the mouse tapasin promoter. *Immunogenetics*, 55(6):379–388, Sep 2003. [PubMed:12942211].
- [199] S. A. Martin, J. Zou, D. F. Houlihan, and C. J. Secombes. Directional responses following recombinant cytokine stimulation of rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss) RTS-11 macrophage cells as revealed by transcriptome profiling. *BMC Genomics*, 8:150, 2007. [PubMed Central:PMC1920521].
- [200] D. E. Epperson, D. Arnold, T. Spies, P. Cresswell, J. S. Pober, and D. R. Johnson. Cytokines increase transporter in antigen processing-1 expression more rapidly than HLA class I expression in endothelial cells. J. Immunol., 149(10):3297–3301, Nov 1992. [PubMed:1385520].
- [201] H. F. Skall, N. J. Olesen, and S. Mellergaard. Viral haemorrhagic septicaemia virus in marine fish and its implications for fish farming–a review. J. Fish Dis., 28(9):509– 529, Sep 2005. [PubMed:16266325].
- [202] M. K. Purcell, K. J. Laing, and J. R. Winton. Immunity to fish rhabdoviruses. Viruses, 4(1):140–166, Jan 2012. [PubMed:22355456].
- [203] S. Kahns, H. F. Skall, R. S. Kaas, H. Korsholm, B. Bang Jensen, S. P. Jonstrup, M. J. Dodge, K. Einer-Jensen, D. Stone, and N. J. Olesen. European freshwater VHSV genotype Ia isolates divide into two distinct subpopulations. *Dis. Aquat. Org.*, 99(1):23–35, May 2012. [PubMed:22585300].
- [204] J. R. Winton, WN. Batts, RE. Deering, R., Brunson, K. Hopper, and T. Nishizawa.
- [205] P. N. Rodrigues, B. Dixon, J. Roelofs, J. H. Rombout, E. Egberts, B. Pohajdak, and R. J. Stet. Expression and temperature-dependent regulation of the beta2microglobulin (Cyca-B2m) gene in a cold-blooded vertebrate, the common carp (Cyprinus carpio L.). Dev. Immunol., 5(4):263–275, 1998. [PubMed:9814583].
- [206] J. L. Brubacher, C. J. Secombes, J. Zou, and N. C. Bols. Constitutive and LPS-induced gene expression in a macrophage-like cell line from the rainbow

trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss). Dev. Comp. Immunol., 24(6-7):565–574, 2000. [PubMed:10831791].

- [207] P. H. Pham, J. S. Lumsden, C. Tafalla, B. Dixon, and N. C. Bols. Differential effects of viral hemorrhagic septicaemia virus (VHSV) genotypes IVa and IVb on gill epithelial and spleen macrophage cell lines from rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss). *Fish Shellfish Immunol.*, 34(2):632–640, Feb 2013. [PubMed:23257204].
- [208] L. Al-Hussinee, P. Huber, S. Russell, V. Lepage, A. Reid, K. M. Young, E. Nagy, R. M. Stevenson, and J. S. Lumsden. Viral haemorrhagic septicaemia virus IVb experimental infection of rainbow trout, Oncorhynchus mykiss (Walbaum), and fathead minnow, Pimphales promelas (Rafinesque). J. Fish Dis., 33(4):347–360, Apr 2010. [PubMed:20158580].
- [209] J. R. Winton, W. Batts, P. deKinkelin, M. LeBerre, M. Bremont, and N. Fijan. Current lineages of the epithelioma papulosum cyprini (EPC) cell line are contaminated with fathead minnow, Pimephales promelas, cells. J. Fish Dis., 33(8):701–704, Aug 2010. [PubMed:20497291].
- [210] R. Kocan, M. Bradley, N. Elder, T. Meyers, W. Batts, and Winton J.R. North American strain of viral hemorrhagic septicemia virus is highly pathogenic for laboratoryreared pacific herring. J Aquat Anim Health., 9:457–467, 1997.
- [211] I. Jensen, R. Larsen, and B. Robertsen. An antiviral state induced in Chinook salmon embryo cells (CHSE-214) by transfection with the double-stranded RNA poly I:C. *Fish Shellfish Immunol.*, 13(5):367–378, Nov 2002. [PubMed:12458743].
- [212] WD. Eaton. Anti-viral activity in four species of salmonids following exposure to poly inosinic:cytidylic acid. Dis. aquat. Org., 9:193–198, 1990.
- [213] T. Nakanishi, U. Fischer, J. M. Dijkstra, S. Hasegawa, T. Somamoto, N. Okamoto, and M. Ototake. Cytotoxic T cell function in fish. *Dev. Comp. Immunol.*, 26(2):131– 139, Mar 2002. [PubMed:11696378].
- [214] C. Dargemont, D. Dunon, J. Salamero, M. A. Deugnier, J. Davoust, and J. P. Thiery. Overproduction and secretion of beta 2-microglobulin by a rat thymic epithelial cell line that expresses MHC class I heavy chain. J. Cell. Sci., 98 (Pt 4):559–565, Apr 1991. [PubMed:1860902].

- [215] P. Cresswell, T. Springer, J. L. Strominger, M. J. Turner, H. M. Grey, and R. T. Kubo. Immunological identity of the small subunit of HL-A antigens and beta2-microglobulin and its turnover on the cell membrane. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.*, 71(5):2123–2127, May 1974. [PubMed:4134761].
- [216] N. Fijan. Fish Diseases and Disorders. CAB International: Wallingford, UK., 3:177– 244, 1999.
- [217] K. Wolf. Fish Viruses and Fish Viral Diseases. Cornell University Press; Ithaca, NY, USA., Viral hemorrhagic septicemia:217–249, 1988.
- [218] R. Manetti, F. Annunziato, L. Tomasevic, V. Gianno, P. Parronchi, S. Romagnani, and E. Maggi. Polyinosinic acid: polycytidylic acid promotes T helper type 1-specific immune responses by stimulating macrophage production of interferon-alpha and interleukin-12. *Eur. J. Immunol.*, 25(9):2656–2660, Sep 1995. [PubMed:7589141].
- [219] N. A. Kukutsch, S. Rossner, J. M. Austyn, G. Schuler, and M. B. Lutz. Formation and kinetics of MHC class I-ovalbumin peptide complexes on immature and mature murine dendritic cells. J. Invest. Dermatol., 115(3):449–453, Sep 2000. [PubMed:10951282].
- [220] L. B. Nanney, C. D. Woodrell, M. R. Greives, N. L. Cardwell, A. C. Pollins, T. A. Bancroft, A. Chesser, M. Michalak, M. Rahman, J. W. Siebert, and L. I. Gold. Calreticulin enhances porcine wound repair by diverse biological effects. Am. J. Pathol., 173(3):610–630, Sep 2008. [PubMed:18753412].
- [221] S. E. Pike, L. Yao, J. Setsuda, K. D. Jones, B. Cherney, E. Appella, K. Sakaguchi, H. Nakhasi, C. D. Atreya, J. Teruya-Feldstein, P. Wirth, G. Gupta, and G. Tosato. Calreticulin and calreticulin fragments are endothelial cell inhibitors that suppress tumor growth. *Blood*, 94(7):2461–2468, Oct 1999. [PubMed:10498619].
- [222] T. Matijevic and J. Pavelic. Poly(I:C) treatment influences the expression of calreticulin and profilin-1 in a human HNSCC cell line: a proteomic study. *Tumour Biol.*, 33(4):1201–1208, Aug 2012. [PubMed:22415225].
- [223] R. J. Benjamin, J. A. Madrigal, and P. Parham. Peptide binding to empty HLA-B27 molecules of viable human cells. *Nature*, 351(6321):74–77, May 1991. [PubMed:2027387].

- [224] T. N. Schumacher, M. T. Heemels, J. J. Neefjes, W. M. Kast, C. J. Melief, and H. L. Ploegh. Direct binding of peptide to empty MHC class I molecules on intact cells and in vitro. *Cell*, 62(3):563–567, Aug 1990. [PubMed:2199065].
- [225] J. D. Smith, W. R. Lie, J. Gorka, N. B. Myers, and T. H. Hansen. Extensive peptide ligand exchange by surface class I major histocompatibility complex molecules independent of exogenous beta 2-microglobulin. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.*, 89(16):7767–7771, Aug 1992. [PubMed:1323851].
- [226] M. A. Luscher, B. L. Newton, and B. H. Barber. Characteristics of heterologous beta 2-m exchange into H-2Db at the cell surface. J. Immunol., 153(11):5068-5081, Dec 1994. [PubMed:7963566].
- [227] H. Horig, N. J. Papadopoulos, Z. Vegh, E. Palmieri, R. H. Angeletti, and S. G. Nathenson. An in vitro study of the dynamic features of the major histocompatibility complex class I complex relevant to its role as a versatile peptide-receptive molecule. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.*, 94(25):13826–13831, Dec 1997. [PubMed Central:PMC28392].
- [228] J. M. Vyas, A. G. Van der Veen, and H. L. Ploegh. The known unknowns of antigen processing and presentation. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.*, 8(8):607–618, Aug 2008. [PubMed Central:PMC2735460].
- [229] K. Shortman and Y. J. Liu. Mouse and human dendritic cell subtypes. Nat. Rev. Immunol., 2(3):151–161, Mar 2002. [PubMed:11913066].
- [230] X. Yue, H. Wang, F. Zhao, S. Liu, J. Wu, W. Ren, and Y. Zhu. Hepatitis B virusinduced calreticulin protein is involved in IFN resistance. J. Immunol., 189(1):279– 286, Jul 2012. [PubMed:22661095].
- [231] E. C. Roberson, J. E. Tully, A. S. Guala, J. N. Reiss, K. E. Godburn, D. A. Pociask, J. F. Alcorn, D. W. Riches, O. Dienz, Y. M. Janssen-Heininger, and V. Anathy. Influenza induces endoplasmic reticulum stress, caspase-12-dependent apoptosis, and c-Jun N-terminal kinase-mediated transforming growth factor-? release in lung epithelial cells. Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol., 46(5):573–581, May 2012. [PubMed:21799120].
- [232] K. Nilsson, P. E. Evrin, and K. I. Welsh. Production of beta 2-microglobulin by

normal and malignant human cell lines and peripheral lymphocytes. *Transplant Rev*, 21:53–84, 1974. [PubMed:4139789].

- [233] P. E. Evrin and K. Nilsson. Beta 2-microglobulin production in vitro by human hematopoietic, mesenchymal, and epithelial cells. J. Immunol., 112(1):137–144, Jan 1974. [PubMed:4130145].
- [234] K. Nachbaur, J. Troppmair, B. Kotlan, P. Konig, W. Aulitzky, P. Bieling, and C. Huber. Cytokines in the control of beta-2 microglobulin release. II. In vivo studies with recombinant interferons and antigens. *Immunobiology*, 177(1):66–75, Apr 1988. [PubMed:2454879].
- [235] T. Vraetz, T. H. Ittel, M. G. van Mackelenbergh, P. C. Heinrich, H. G. Sieberth, and L. Graeve. Regulation of beta2-microglobulin expression in different human cell lines by proinflammatory cytokines. *Nephrol. Dial. Transplant.*, 14(9):2137–2143, Sep 1999. [PubMed:10489222].
- [236] B. A. Imhof, M. A. Deugnier, J. M. Girault, S. Champion, C. Damais, T. Itoh, and J. P. Thiery. Thymotaxin: a thymic epithelial peptide chemotactic for T-cell precursors. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.*, 85(20):7699–7703, Oct 1988. [PubMed Central:PMC282260].
- [237] C. Dargemont, D. Dunon, M. A. Deugnier, M. Denoyelle, J. M. Girault, F. Lederer, K. H. Le, F. Godeau, J. P. Thiery, and B. A. Imhof. Thymotaxin, a chemotactic protein, is identical to beta 2-microglobulin. *Science*, 246(4931):803–806, Nov 1989. [PubMed:2683083].
- [238] J. Xie, Y. Wang, M. E. Freeman, B. Barlogie, and Q. Yi. Beta 2-microglobulin as a negative regulator of the immune system: high concentrations of the protein inhibit in vitro generation of functional dendritic cells. *Blood*, 101(10):4005–4012, May 2003. [PubMed:12531797].
- [239] E. Pamer and P. Cresswell. Mechanisms of MHC class I-restricted antigen processing. Annu. Rev. Immunol., 16:323–358, 1998. [PubMed:9597133].
- [240] L. Sever, N. T. Vo, N. C. Bols, and B. Dixon. Rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss) contain two calnexin genes which encode distinct proteins. *Dev. Comp. Immunol.*, Sep 2013. [PubMed:24060503].

- [241] A. N. Vallejo, N. W. Miller, and L. W. Clem. Phylogeny of immune recognition: processing and presentation of structurally defined proteins in channel catfish immune responses. *Dev. Immunol.*, 1(3):137–148, 1991. [PubMed:1668258].
- [242] A. P. Williams, C. A. Peh, A. W. Purcell, J. McCluskey, and T. Elliott. Optimization of the MHC class I peptide cargo is dependent on tapasin. *Immunity*, 16(4):509–520, Apr 2002. [PubMed:11970875].
- [243] K. Kulig, D. Nandi, I. Bacik, J. J. Monaco, and S. Vukmanovi? Physical and functional association of the major histocompatibility complex class I heavy chain alpha3 domain with the transporter associated with antigen processing. J. Exp. Med., 187(6):865–874, Mar 1998. [PubMed:9500789].
- [244] W. K. Suh, M. A. Derby, M. F. Cohen-Doyle, G. J. Schoenhals, K. Fruh, J. A. Berzofsky, and D. B. Williams. Interaction of murine MHC class I molecules with tapasin and TAP enhances peptide loading and involves the heavy chain alpha3 domain. J. Immunol., 162(3):1530–1540, Feb 1999. [PubMed:9973410].
- [245] N. Bangia, P. J. Lehner, E. A. Hughes, M. Surman, and P. Cresswell. The N-terminal region of tapasin is required to stabilize the MHC class I loading complex. *Eur. J. Immunol.*, 29(6):1858–1870, Jun 1999. [PubMed:10382748].
- [246] R. Greenwood, Y. Shimizu, G. S. Sekhon, and R. DeMars. Novel allele-specific, posttranslational reduction in HLA class I surface expression in a mutant human B cell line. J. Immunol., 153(12):5525–5536, Dec 1994. [PubMed:7989754].
- [247] J. Copeman, N. Bangia, J. C. Cross, and P. Cresswell. Elucidation of the genetic basis of the antigen presentation defects in the mutant cell line .220 reveals polymorphism and alternative splicing of the tapasin gene. *Eur. J. Immunol.*, 28(11):3783–3791, Nov 1998. [PubMed:9842921].
- [248] P. Tan, H. Kropshofer, O. Mandelboim, N. Bulbuc, G. J. Hammerling, and F. Momburg. Recruitment of MHC class I molecules by tapasin into the transporter associated with antigen processing-associated complex is essential for optimal peptide loading. J. Immunol., 168(4):1950–1960, Feb 2002. [PubMed:11823531].
- [249] J. L. Petersen, H. D. Hickman-Miller, M. M. McIlhaney, S. E. Vargas, A. W. Purcell, W. H. Hildebrand, and J. C. Solheim. A charged amino acid residue in the

transmembrane/cytoplasmic region of tapasin influences MHC class I assembly and maturation. J. Immunol., 174(2):962–969, Jan 2005. [PubMed:15634919].

- [250] A. Van Hateren, E. James, A. Bailey, A. Phillips, N. Dalchau, and T. Elliott. The cell biology of major histocompatibility complex class I assembly: towards a molecular understanding. *Tissue Antigens*, 76(4):259–275, Oct 2010. [PubMed:21050182].
- [251] M. Obeid. ERP57 membrane translocation dictates the immunogenicity of tumor cell death by controlling the membrane translocation of calreticulin. J. Immunol., 181(4):2533-2543, Aug 2008. [PubMed:18684944].
- [252] T. Panaretakis, N. Joza, N. Modjtahedi, A. Tesniere, I. Vitale, M. Durchschlag, G. M. Fimia, O. Kepp, M. Piacentini, K. U. Froehlich, P. van Endert, L. Zitvogel, F. Madeo, and G. Kroemer. The co-translocation of ERp57 and calreticulin determines the immunogenicity of cell death. *Cell Death Differ.*, 15(9):1499–1509, Sep 2008. [PubMed:18464797].
- [253] H. Ohtani, H. Wakui, T. Ishino, A. Komatsuda, and A. B. Miura. An isoform of protein disulfide isomerase is expressed in the developing acrosome of spermatids during rat spermiogenesis and is transported into the nucleus of mature spermatids and epididymal spermatozoa. *Histochemistry*, 100(6):423–429, Dec 1993. [PubMed:8163386].
- [254] M. Eufemi, S. Coppari, F. Altieri, C. Grillo, A. Ferraro, and C. Turano. ERp57 is present in STAT3-DNA complexes. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.*, 323(4):1306– 1312, Oct 2004. [PubMed:15451439].
- [255] S. Chichiarelli, E. Gaucci, A. Ferraro, C. Grillo, F. Altieri, R. Cocchiola, V. Arcangeli,
 C. Turano, and M. Eufemi. Role of ERp57 in the signaling and transcriptional activity of STAT3 in a melanoma cell line. Arch. Biochem. Biophys., 494(2):178–183, Feb 2010. [PubMed:19995546].
- [256] N. Hirano, F. Shibasaki, R. Sakai, T. Tanaka, J. Nishida, Y. Yazaki, T. Takenawa, and H. Hirai. Molecular cloning of the human glucose-regulated protein ERp57/GRP58, a thiol-dependent reductase. Identification of its secretory form and inducible expression by the oncogenic transformation. *Eur. J. Biochem.*, 234(1):336– 342, Nov 1995. [PubMed:8529662].
- [257] P. A. Wearsch and P. Cresswell. Selective loading of high-affinity peptides onto major

histocompatibility complex class I molecules by the tapasin-ERp57 heterodimer. *Nat. Immunol.*, 8(8):873–881, Aug 2007. [PubMed:17603487].

- [258] M. Chen and M. Bouvier. Analysis of interactions in a tapasin/class I complex provides a mechanism for peptide selection. *EMBO J.*, 26(6):1681–1690, Mar 2007. [PubMed:17332746].
- [259] N. Beutler, S. Hauka, A. Niepel, D. J. Kowalewski, J. Uhlmann, E. Ghanem, S. Erkelenz, C. Wiek, H. Hanenberg, H. Schaal, S. Stevanoviø, S. Springer, F. Momburg, H. Hengel, and A. Halenius. A natural tapasin isoform lacking exon 3 modifies peptide loading complex function. *Eur. J. Immunol.*, 43(6):1459–1469, Jun 2013. [PubMed:23519916].
- [260] J. Morfeldt-Manson, I. Julander, L. V. von Stedingk, J. Wasserman, and B. Nilsson. Elevated serum beta-2-microglobulin–a prognostic marker for development of AIDS among patients with persistent generalized lymphadenopathy. *Infection*, 16(2):109– 110, 1988. [PubMed:3286507].
- [261] J. P. Revillard, C. Vincent, J. Clot, and J. Sany. beta 2-Microglobulin and beta 2microglobulin-binding proteins in inflammatory diseases. *Eur J Rheumatol Inflamm*, 5(4):398–405, 1982. [PubMed:6185339].
- [262] Y. Nakao, H. Matsumoto, T. Miyazaki, S. Watanabe, T. Masaoka, K. Takatsuki, M. Kishihara, N. Kobayashi, M. Hattori, and T. Fujita. Genetic and clinical studies of serum beta 2-microglobulin levels in haematological malignancies. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.*, 46(1):134–141, Oct 1981. [PubMed:6175458].
- [263] M. A. Deugnier, B. A. Imhof, B. Bauvois, D. Dunon, M. Denoyelle, and J. P. Thiery. Characterization of rat T cell precursors sorted by chemotactic migration toward thymotaxin. *Cell*, 56(6):1073–1083, Mar 1989. [PubMed:2564314].
- [264] C. O'Farrell, N. Vaghefi, M. Cantonnet, B. Buteau, P. Boudinot, and A. Benmansour. Survey of transcript expression in rainbow trout leukocytes reveals a major contribution of interferon-responsive genes in the early response to a rhabdovirus infection. J. Virol., 76(16):8040–8049, Aug 2002. [PubMed:12134009].
- [265] W. Ahne, H. V. Bjorklund, S. Essbauer, N. Fijan, G. Kurath, and JR. Winton. Spring viremia of carp (SVC). *Dis. Aquat. Org.*, 52(3):261–272, Dec 2002. [PubMed:12553453].

- [266] J. F. Kaufman, C. Auffray, A. J. Korman, D. A. Shackelford, and J. Strominger. The class II molecules of the human and murine major histocompatibility complex. *Cell*, 36(1):1–13, Jan 1984. [PubMed:6198089].
- [267] L. Saveanu, O. Carroll, V. Lindo, M. Del Val, D. Lopez, Y. Lepelletier, F. Greer, L. Schomburg, D. Fruci, G. Niedermann, and P. M. van Endert. Concerted peptide trimming by human ERAP1 and ERAP2 aminopeptidase complexes in the endoplasmic reticulum. *Nat. Immunol.*, 6(7):689–697, Jul 2005. [PubMed:15908954].
- [268] G. M. van Bleek and S. G. Nathenson. The structure of the antigen-binding groove of major histocompatibility complex class I molecules determines specific selection of self-peptides. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.*, 88(24):11032–11036, Dec 1991. [PubMed:1763019].
- [269] F. E. Ware, A. Vassilakos, P. A. Peterson, M. R. Jackson, M. A. Lehrman, and D. B. Williams. The molecular chaperone calnexin binds Glc1Man9GlcNAc2 oligosaccharide as an initial step in recognizing unfolded glycoproteins. J. Biol. Chem., 270(9):4697–4704, Mar 1995. [PubMed:7876241].
- [270] K. Yamazaki, G. K. Beauchamp, D. Kupniewski, J. Bard, L. Thomas, and E. A. Boyse. Familial imprinting determines H-2 selective mating preferences. *Science*, 240(4857):1331–1332, Jun 1988. [PubMed:3375818].
- [271] W. K. Potts, C. J. Manning, and E. K. Wakeland. Mating patterns in seminatural populations of mice influenced by MHC genotype. *Nature*, 352(6336):619–621, Aug 1991. [PubMed:1865924].
- [272] T. B. Reusch, M. A. Haberli, P. B. Aeschlimann, and M. Milinski. Female sticklebacks count alleles in a strategy of sexual selection explaining MHC polymorphism. *Nature*, 414(6861):300–302, Nov 2001. [PubMed:11713527].
- [273] C. Wedekind, T. Seebeck, F. Bettens, and A. J. Paepke. MHC-dependent mate preferences in humans. Proc. Biol. Sci., 260(1359):245–249, Jun 1995. [PubMed:7630893].
- [274] M. Milinski, S. Griffiths, K. M. Wegner, T. B. Reusch, A. Haas-Assenbaum, and T. Boehm. Mate choice decisions of stickleback females predictably modified by MHC peptide ligands. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.*, 102(12):4414–4418, Mar 2005. [PubMed:15755811].

- [275] M. J. Doenhoff, A. J. Davies, E. Leuchars, and V. Wallis. The thymus and circulating lymphocytes of mice. *Proc. R. Soc. Lond.*, B, Biol. Sci., 176(42):69–85, Oct 1970.
 [PubMed:4394201].
- [276] J. M. Johnston and D. B. Wilson. Origin of immunoreactive lymphocytes in rats. *Cell. Immunol.*, 1(4):430–444, Oct 1970. [PubMed:4943360].
- [277] K. Utke, H. Kock, H. Schuetze, S. M. Bergmann, N. Lorenzen, K. Einer-Jensen, B. Kollner, R. A. Dalmo, T. Vesely, M. Ototake, and U. Fischer. Cell-mediated immune responses in rainbow trout after DNA immunization against the viral hemorrhagic septicemia virus. *Dev. Comp. Immunol.*, 32(3):239–252, 2008. [PubMed:17629943].
- [278] A. Nematollahi, A. Decostere, F. Pasmans, and F. Haesebrouck. Flavobacterium psychrophilum infections in salmonid fish. J. Fish Dis., 26(10):563–574, Oct 2003. [PubMed:14653314].
- [279] P. E. Vestergård Jørgensen. Egtved virus: Temperature-dependent immune response of trout to infection with low-virulence virus. J. Fish Dis., 5:47–55, 1982.
- [280] U. Fischer, K. Utke, T. Somamoto, B. Kollner, M. Ototake, and T. Nakanishi. Cytotoxic activities of fish leucocytes. *Fish Shellfish Immunol.*, 20(2):209–226, Feb 2006. [PubMed:15939625].
- [281] A. S. Lee. The accumulation of three specific proteins related to glucose-regulated proteins in a temperature-sensitive hamster mutant cell line K12. J. Cell. Physiol., 106(1):119–125, Jan 1981. [PubMed:7204505].
- [282] S. Kumar, K. Tamura, I. B. Jakobsen, and M. Nei. MEGA2: molecular evolutionary genetics analysis software. *Bioinformatics*, 17(12):1244–1245, Dec 2001. [PubMed:11751241].
- [283] G. Kozlov, P. Maattanen, J. D. Schrag, S. Pollock, M. Cygler, B. Nagar, D. Y. Thomas, and K. Gehring. Crystal structure of the bb' domains of the protein disulfide isomerase ERp57. *Structure*, 14(8):1331–1339, Aug 2006. [PubMed:16905107].
- [284] R. C. Su and R. G. Miller. Stability of surface H-2K(b), H-2D(b), and peptide-receptive H-2K(b) on splenocytes. J. Immunol., 167(9):4869–4877, Nov 2001.
 [PubMed:11673491].

- [285] E. R. Christinck, M. A. Luscher, B. H. Barber, and D. B. Williams. Peptide binding to class I MHC on living cells and quantitation of complexes required for CTL lysis. *Nature*, 352(6330):67–70, Jul 1991. [PubMed:2062379].
- [286] M. S. Atta, W. L. Irving, R. J. Powell, and I. Todd. Enhanced expression of MHC class I molecules on cultured human thyroid follicular cells infected with reovirus through induction of type 1 interferons. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.*, 101(1):121–126, Jul 1995. [PubMed:7621581].
- [287] I. L. Campbell, A. Cutri, D. Wilkinson, A. W. Boyd, and L. C. Harrison. Intercellular adhesion molecule 1 is induced on isolated endocrine islet cells by cytokines but not by reovirus infection. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.*, 86(11):4282–4286, Jun 1989. [PubMed:2498883].
- [288] B. K. Mookerjee, R. Chakrabarti, T. P. Lee, M. Michalak, and J. Ballard. Calcium uptake during mitogenic stimulation of human lymphocytes: characterization of intracellular calcium compartments and demonstration of the presence of immunoreactive calrecticulin. *Immunol. Invest.*, 22(6-7):415–429, 1993. [PubMed:8262565].
- [289] T. H. Hansen and M. Bouvier. MHC class I antigen presentation: learning from viral evasion strategies. Nat. Rev. Immunol., 9(7):503–513, Jul 2009. [PubMed:19498380].
- [290] C. Tafalla, E. Sanchez, N. Lorenzen, S. J. DeWitte-Orr, and N. C. Bols. Effects of viral hemorrhagic septicemia virus (VHSV) on the rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss) monocyte cell line RTS-11. *Mol. Immunol.*, 45(5):1439–1448, Mar 2008. [PubMed:17928055].
- [291] L. Alexopoulou, A. C. Holt, R. Medzhitov, and R. A. Flavell. Recognition of double-stranded RNA and activation of NF-kappaB by Toll-like receptor 3. *Nature*, 413(6857):732–738, Oct 2001. [PubMed:11607032].
- [292] L. W. Clem, E. Faulmann, N. W. Miller, C. Ellsaesser, C. J. Lobb, and M. A. Cuchens. Temperature-mediated processes in teleost immunity: differential effects of in vitro and in vivo temperatures on mitogenic responses of channel catfish lymphocytes. *Dev. Comp. Immunol.*, 8(2):313–322, 1984. [PubMed:6234190].
- [293] Clem L.W. BlyJ. E. Temperature and teleost immune functions. Vet. Immunol. Immunopathol., 28:365–377, 1992.

[294] F. Momburg and P. Tan. Tapasin-the keystone of the loading complex optimizing peptide binding by MHC class I molecules in the endoplasmic reticulum. *Mol. Immunol.*, 39(3-4):217–233, Oct 2002. [PubMed:12200052].